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☑ Check box if Amendment is material and investors must reconfirm within five business days. 
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Name of issuer 
Grove Biomedical LLC 
 
Legal status of issuer 
 
 Form 
 LLC 
 
 Jurisdiction of Incorporation/Organization 
 New York 
 
 Date of organization 
 April 24, 2020 
 
Physical address of issuer 
282 Katonah Avenue, #537 
Katonah NY 10546 
 
 Website of issuer 
https://www.onecanopy.com 
  
 
Name of intermediary through which the offering will be conducted 
OpenDeal Portal LLC dba “Republic” 
 
CIK number of intermediary 
0001751525  
 
SEC file number of intermediary 
007-00167 
 
CRD number, if applicable, of intermediary 
283874 
 
Name of qualified third party “Escrow Agent” which the Offering will utilize 
Prime Trust, LLC  
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Amount of compensation to be paid to the intermediary, whether as a dollar amount or a percentage of the offering 
amount, or a good faith estimate if the exact amount is not available at the time of the filing, for conducting the 
offering, including the amount of referral and any other fees associated with the offering 
The issuer shall pay to the Intermediary at the conclusion of the Offering a fee of six percent (6%) of the amount raised 
in the offering. 
 
Any other direct or indirect interest in the issuer held by the intermediary, or any arrangement for the intermediary 
to acquire such an interest 
The Intermediary will also receive compensation in the form of Securities equal to two percent (2%) of the total 
number of Securities sold in the Offering. 
 
Type of security offered 
Class CF Units 
 
Target number of Securities to be offered 
4,457 
 
Price (or method for determining price) 
$5.61 
 
Target offering amount 
$25,003.77 
 
Oversubscriptions accepted: 
☑ Yes 
☐ No 
 
Oversubscriptions will be allocated: 
☐ Pro-rata basis 
☐ First-come, first-served basis 
☑ Other: At the      Intermediary’s discretion 
 
Maximum offering amount (if different from target offering amount) 
$1,069,995.30 
 
Deadline to reach the target offering amount 
     June 30, 2021 
 
If the sum of the investment commitments does not equal or exceed the target offering amount at the deadline 
to reach the target offering amount, no Securities will be sold in the offering, investment commitments will be 
cancelled and committed funds will be returned. 
 
Current number of employees 
0 
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Most recent fiscal year-end 

(2020)  
Prior fiscal year-end 

(2019)  

Total Assets $289,694 $0 

Cash and Cash Equivalents $126,035 $0 

Accounts Receivable $0 $0 

Current Liabilities $190,813 $0 

Long-term Liabilities $296,566 $0 

Revenues/Sales $0 $0 

Cost of Goods Sold $0 $0 

Taxes Paid $0 $0 

Net Income (Loss) $(522,685) $0 

 
 
The jurisdictions in which the issuer intends to offer the Securities: 
Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, District Of Columbia, Florida, 
Georgia, Guam, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, 
Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New 
Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Puerto Rico, 
Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virgin Islands, U.S., Virginia, 
Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, Wyoming, American Samoa, and Northern Mariana Islands 
 
THIS OFFERING IS ONLY EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES 
AND ITS TERRITORIES. NO OFFER IS BEING MADE IN ANY JURISDICTION NOT LISTED ABOVE. 
PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS ARE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING THE PERMISSIBILITY OF 
THEIR PARTICIPATING IN THIS OFFERING, INCLUDING OBSERVING ANY OTHER REQUIRED LEGAL 
FORMALITIES AND SEEKING CONSENT FROM THEIR LOCAL REGULATOR, IF NECESSARY. THE 
INTERMEDIARY FACILITATING THIS OFFERING IS LICENSED AND REGISTERED SOLELY IN THE 
UNITED STATES AND HAS NOT SECURED, AND HAS NOT SOUGHT TO SECURE, A LICENSE OR WAIVER 
OF THE NEED FOR SUCH LICENSE IN ANY OTHER JURISDICTION. THE COMPANY, THE ESCROW 
AGENT AND THE INTERMEDIARY, EACH RESERVE THE RIGHT TO REJECT ANY INVESTMENT 
COMMITMENT MADE BY ANY PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR, WHETHER FOREIGN OR DOMESTIC. 
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SIGNATURE 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 4(a)(6) and 4A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Regulation 
Crowdfunding (§ 227.100 et seq.), the issuer certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the 
requirements for filing on Form C/A and has duly caused this Form to be signed on its behalf by the duly authorized 
undersigned. 
 
 

 /s/ Joseph Rosenberg 

 (Signature) 

  

 Joseph Rosenberg 

 (Name) 

  

 President 

 (Title) 

 
 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 4(a)(6) and 4A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Regulation 
Crowdfunding (§ 227.100 et seq.), this Form C/A has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on 
the dates indicated.  

 
 

 /s/Joseph Rosenberg 

 (Signature) 

  

 Joseph Rosenberg 

 (Name) 

  

 President 

 (Title) 

  

      April 28, 2021 

 (Date) 
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Instructions. 
 
1. The form shall be signed by the issuer, the President, or persons performing similar functions. 
 
2. The name of each person signing the form shall be typed or printed beneath the signature. 
 
Intentional misstatements or omissions of facts constitute federal criminal violations. See 18 U.S.C. 1001. 
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EXHIBITS 
 
EXHIBIT A: Offering Memorandum 
EXHIBIT B: Disclaimers 
EXHIBIT C: Financials 
EXHIBIT D: Offering Page 
EXHIBIT E: Subscription Agreement 
EXHIBIT F: Operating Agreement 
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Explanatory Note 
 

This Form C/A amends the prior Form C/A filed on December 23, 2020 to: (i) provide updated independent CPA 
reviewed financial statements for Grove Biomedical LLC, (ii) extend the Offering Deadline to June 30, 2021, (iii) 
replace the custodial interest purchase agreement with the Subscription Agreement and Omnibus Crowd SAFE, 
attached hereto as Exhibit E, (iv) update disclosures regarding intermediate closings and risk factors related to the 
Offering; (v) update the Capitalization Table of the Company; and (vi) authorize investment by non-U.S. Persons. 

April 28, 2021 
 

Grove Biomedical LLC 
 

  
 

Up to $1,069,995.30 of Class CF Units  
 

Grove Biomedical LLC (“Grove Biomedical”, the “Company,” “we,” “us”, or “our”), is offering up to 
$1,069,995.30 worth of Class CF Units (Simple Agreement for Future Equity) of the Company (the “Securities”). 
The minimum target offering amount is $25,003.77 (the “Target Offering Amount”). The Company intends to raise 
at least the Target Offering Amount and up to $1,069,995.30 (the “Maximum Offering Amount”) from Investors in 
the offering of Securities described in this Form C/A (this “Offering”). This Offering is being conducted on a best 
efforts basis and the Company must reach its Target Offering Amount by June 30, 2021 (“Offering Deadline”). 
Unless the Company raises at least the Target Offering Amount under this Offering by the Offering Deadline, no 
Securities will be sold in this Offering, investment commitments will be cancelled, and committed funds will be 
returned.  

The rights and obligations of the holders of Securities of the Company are set forth below in the section entitled “The 
Offering and the Securities—The Securities”. In order to purchase Securities, a prospective investor must complete 
the purchase process through the Intermediary’s portal. Purchases may be accepted or rejected by the Company, in its 
sole and absolute discretion. The Company has the right to cancel or rescind its offer to sell the Securities at any time 
and for any reason. The Intermediary has the ability to reject any investment commitment made by an Investor and 
may cancel or rescind the Company’s offer to sell the Securities at any time for any reason. 
 
Investment commitments will be represented by a pro rata beneficial interest (based on the amount invested) in  
Subscription Agreement for Class CF Units Beneficial Interest in Omnibus Class CF Instrument Representing 
Economic Interest in Class CF Units (the “Subscription Agreement”), attached hereto as Exhibit E. Under the 
Subscription Agreement , Securities sold in this Offering will be deposited into a custodial account with Prime Trust, 
LLC, who will serve as the trustee, custodian and legal record holder (the “Custodian”) for this Offering. Investors 
will be required to establish, or verify that they already have an account with the Custodian in order to receive 
Securities from this Offering.  
 
A crowdfunding investment involves risk. You should not invest any funds in this Offering unless you can 
afford to lose your entire investment. 

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the issuer and the terms of 
the Offering, including the merits and risks involved. These Securities have not been recommended or approved 
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by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority. Furthermore, these authorities have not 
passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this document. 

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) does not pass upon the merits of any Securities 
offered or the terms of the Offering, nor does it pass upon the accuracy or completeness of any Offering 
document or literature. 

These Securities are offered under an exemption from registration; however, the SEC has not made an 
independent determination that these Securities are exempt from registration. 

This disclosure document contains forward-looking statements and information relating to, among other 
things, the Company, its business plan and strategy, and its industry. These forward-looking statements are 
based on the beliefs of, assumptions made by, and information currently available to the Company’s 
management. When used in this disclosure document and the Company Offering materials, the words 
“estimate”, “project”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “expect”, and similar expressions are intended to 
identify forward-looking statements. These statements reflect management’s current views with respect to 
future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause the Company’s action results to differ 
materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements. Investors are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after such state or to reflect the 
occurrence of unanticipated events. 

The Company has certified that all of the following statements are TRUE for the Company in connection with this 
Offering: 
 

(1) Is organized under, and subject to, the laws of a State or territory of the United States or the District of 
Columbia; 

(2) Is not subject to the requirement to file reports pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); 

(3) Is not an investment company, as defined in section 3 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the 
“Investment Company Act”)(15 U.S.C. 80a-3), or excluded from the definition of investment company by 
section 3(b) or section 3(c) of that Investment Company Act (15 U.S.C. 80a-3(b) or 80a-3(c)); 

(4) Is not ineligible to offer or sell securities in reliance on section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the 
“Securities      Act”) (15 U.S.C. 77d(a)(6)) as a result of a disqualification as specified in § 227.503(a); 

(5) Has filed with the SEC and provided to investors, to the extent required, any ongoing annual reports required 
by law during the two years immediately preceding the filing of this Form C/A; and 

(6) Has a specific business plan, which is not to engage in a merger or acquisition with an unidentified company 
or companies. 

 
Bad Actor Disclosure 
The Company is not subject to any Bad Actor Disqualifications under any relevant U.S. securities laws. 
 
Ongoing Reporting 
Following the first sale of the Securities, the Company will file a report electronically with the Securities & Exchange 
Commission annually and post the report on its website, no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s fiscal 
year, which shall be December 31 of each year (the “Fiscal Year”). 
 
Once posted, the annual report may be found on the Company’s website at https://www.onecanopy.com 
 
The Company must continue to comply with the ongoing reporting requirements until: 

(1) the Company is required to file reports under Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; 
(2) the Company has filed at least three annual reports pursuant to Regulation CF and has total assets that do not 

exceed $10,000,000; 
(3) the Company has filed at least one annual report pursuant to Regulation CF and has fewer than 300 holders 

of record; 
(4) the Company or another party repurchases all of the Securities issued in reliance on Section 4(a)(6) of the      

Securities Act, including any payment in full of debt securities or any complete redemption of redeemable 
securities; or 

(5) the Company liquidates or dissolves its business in accordance with state law. 
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Neither the Company nor any of its predecessors (if any) previously failed to comply with the congoing reporting 
requirement of Regulation CF. 
 
Updates 
Updates on the status of this Offering may be found at: https://www.republic.co/canopy 
 
About this Form C 
You should rely only on the information contained in this Form C/A. We have not authorized anyone to provide you 
with information different from that contained in this Form C/A. We are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy the 
Securities only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. You should assume that the information contained 
in this Form C/A is accurate only as of the date of this Form C/A, regardless of the time of delivery of this Form C/A 
or of any sale of Securities. Our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may have changed 
since that date. 
 
Statements contained herein as to the content of any agreements or other documents are summaries and, therefore, are 
necessarily selective and incomplete and are qualified in their entirety by the actual agreements or other documents. 
The Company will provide the opportunity to ask questions of and receive answers from the Company’s management 
concerning terms and conditions of the Offering, the Company or any other relevant matters and any additional 
reasonable information to any prospective Investor prior to the consummation of the sale of the Securities. 
 
This Form C/A does not purport to contain all of the information that may be required to evaluate the Offering and 
any recipient hereof should conduct its own independent analysis. The statements of the Company contained herein 
are based on information believed to be reliable. No warranty can be made as to the accuracy of such information or 
that circumstances have not changed since the date of this Form C/A. The Company does not expect to update or 
otherwise revise this Form C/A or other materials supplied herewith. The delivery of this Form C/A at any time does 
not imply that the information contained herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date of this Form C/A. This 
Form C/A is submitted in connection with the Offering described herein and may not be reproduced or used for any 
other purpose. 
 
SUMMARY  
 
The Business  
The following summary is qualified in its entirety by more detailed information that may appear elsewhere in this 
Form C/A and the Exhibits hereto. Each prospective Investor is urged to read this Form C/A and the Exhibits hereto 
in their entirety.  
 
Grove Biomedical LLC is a New York LLC incorporated/formed on April 24, 2020  
 
The Company is located at 282 Katonah Avenue, #537, Katonah NY 10546, United States. 
  
The Company’s website is https://www.onecanopy.com 
  
The Company conducts business in all 50 U.S. states and globally wherever trade agreements allow.. 
 
A description of our products as well as our services, process, and business plan can be found on the Company’s 
profile page on the OpenDeal Portal LLC dba Republic website under https://republic.co/Grove-Biomedical and is 
attached as Exhibit D to the Form C/A of which this Offering Memorandum forms a part.  
 
The Offering  
 

Minimum amount of Class CF Units being offered 4,457 

Total Class CF Units (outstanding after Offering if 
Target Offering Amount met 4,457* 

Maximum amount of Class CF Units being offered 190,730 

Total Class CF Units outstanding after Offering if 
Maximum Offering Amount met 190,730* 
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Purchase price per Security $5.61 per Unit 

Minimum Individual Purchase Amount $100.98+ 

Offering deadline      June 30, 2021      

Use of proceeds See the description of the use of proceeds on page  
hereof. 

Voting Rights See the description of the voting rights on page .  

*The total number of Class CF Units outstanding is subject to increase in an amount equal to the 
Intermediary’s fee of 2% of the Securities issued in this Offering. 
+ The company reserves the right to amend the Minimum Individual Purchase Amount, in its sole discretion. 
In particular, the Company may elect to participate in one of the Intermediary's special investment programs, 
and may offer alternative Minimum Individual Purchase Amounts to participating Investors in such programs 
without notice.  

 
The Offering is being made through the Intermediary’s portal. At the conclusion of the Offering, the issuer will pay a 
fee of 6.0% of the amount raised in the Offering to the Intermediary. The Intermediary will also be entitled to receive 
2.0% of the Securities being issued in this Offering. 
 
 

 Price to Investors Service Fees and 
Commissions (1)(2) Net Proceeds 

Minimum Individual 
Purchase Amount (3) $100.98 $6.06 $94.92 

Aggregate Target 
Offering Amount $25,003.77 $1,500.23 $23,503.54 

Aggregate Maximum 
Offering Amount $1,069,995.30 $64,199.72 $1,005,795.58 

 
(1)  This excludes fees to Company’s advisors, such as attorneys and accountants.  
(2)  In addition to the six percent (6%) fee shown here, the Intermediary will also receive a securities 
commission equal to two percent (2%) of the Securities sold in this Offering.      
(3) The company reserves the right to amend the Minimum Individual Purchase Amount, in its sole 
discretion. In particular, the Company may elect to participate in one of the Intermediary's special investment 
programs, and may offer alternative Minimum Individual Purchase amounts to participating Investors in such 
programs without notice.  

 
RISK FACTORS  
 
The SEC requires the Company to identify risks that are specific to its business and financial condition. The 
Company is still subject to all the same risks that all companies in its business, and all companies in the economy, 
are exposed to. These include risks relating to economic downturns, political and economic events and 
technological developments (such as hacking and the ability to prevent hacking). Additionally, early-stage 
companies are inherently riskier than more developed companies. You should consider general risks as well as 
specific risks when deciding whether to invest. 
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Risks Related to the Company’s Business and Industry  
 
We have a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our performance, and accordingly, our prospects 
must be considered in light of the risks that any new company encounters. 
The Company is still in an early phase and is just beginning to implement its business plan. There can be no assurance 
that it will ever operate profitably. The likelihood of its success should be considered in light of the problems, 
expenses, difficulties, complications and delays usually encountered by companies in their early stages of 
development. The Company may not be successful in attaining the objectives necessary for it to overcome these risks 
and uncertainties. 
 
The amount of capital the Company is attempting to raise in this Offering may not be enough to sustain the 
Company’s current business plan. 
In order to achieve the Company’s near and long-term goals, the Company may need to procure funds in addition to 
the amount raised in the Offering. There is no guarantee the Company will be able to raise such funds on acceptable 
terms or at all. If we are not able to raise sufficient capital in the future, we may not be able to execute our business 
plan, our continued operations will be in jeopardy and we may be forced to cease operations and sell or otherwise 
transfer all or substantially all of our remaining assets, which could cause a Purchaser to lose all or a portion of his or 
her investment. 
 
In particular, we are dependent on Key Personnel (as defined below in “DIRECTORS AND KEY PERSONNEL”). 
The Company may also in the future enter into employment agreements with additional persons to perform roles with 
respect to the Company as determined by the Company (any such person, and “Employee”). However, there can be 
no assurance that any of the Key Personnel or any Employee will continue to be employed by the Company for a 
particular period of time. The loss of any Key Personnel or any Employee could harm the Company’s business, 
financial condition, cash flow and results of operations. 
 
Although dependent on certain Key Personnel, the Company does not have any key man life insurance policies on 
any such people. 
The Company is dependent on certain Key Personnel (as defined below in “DIRECTORS AND KEY PERSONNEL”) 
in order to conduct its operations and execute its business plan, however, the Company has not purchased any 
insurance policies with respect to those individuals in the event of their death or disability. Therefore, if any of these 
Key Personnel die or become disabled, the Company will not receive any compensation to assist with such person’s 
absence. The loss of such person could negatively affect the Company and its operations. We have no way to guarantee 
Key Personnel will stay with the Company, as many states do not enforce non-competition agreements, and therefore 
acquiring key man insurance will not ameliorate all of the risk of relying on Key Personnel.  
 
 
The Company is not subject to Sarbanes-Oxley regulations and may lack the financial controls and procedures of 
public companies. 
The Company may not have the internal control infrastructure that would meet the standards of a public company, 
including the requirements of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002. As a privately-held (non-public) Company, the 
Company is currently not subject to the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, and it's financial and disclosure controls and 
procedures reflect its status as a development stage, non-public company. There can be no guarantee that there are no 
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the quality of the Company's financial and disclosure controls and 
procedures. If it were necessary to implement such financial and disclosure controls and procedures, the cost to the 
Company of such compliance could be substantial and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results 
of operations. 
 
Changes in government regulation could adversely impact our business. 
The Company is subject to legislation and regulation at the federal and local levels and, in some instances, at the state 
level. The FCC and/or Congress may attempt to change the classification of or change the way that our online content 
platforms are regulated and/or change the framework under which Internet service providers are provided Safe Harbor 
for claims of copyright infringement, introduce changes to how digital advertising is regulated and consumer 
information is handled, changing rights and obligations of our competitors. We expect that court actions and regulatory 
proceedings will continue to refine our rights and obligations under applicable federal, state and local laws, which 
cannot be predicted. Modifications to existing requirements or imposition of new requirements or limitations could 
have an adverse impact on our business. 
 
We may implement new lines of business or offer new products and services within existing lines of business. 
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As an early-stage company, we may implement new lines of business at any time. There are substantial risks and 
uncertainties associated with these efforts, particularly in instances where the markets are not fully developed. In 
developing and marketing new lines of business and/or new products and services, we may invest significant time and 
resources. Initial timetables for the introduction and development of new lines of business and/or new products or 
services may not be achieved, and price and profitability targets may not prove feasible. We may not be successful in 
introducing new products and services in response to industry trends or developments in technology, or those new 
products may not achieve market acceptance. As a result, we could lose business, be forced to price products and 
services on less advantageous terms to retain or attract clients, or be subject to cost increases. As a result, our business, 
financial condition or results of operations may be adversely affected. 
 
Damage to our reputation could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
Our reputation and the quality of our brand are critical to our business and success in existing markets, and will be 
critical to our success as we enter new markets. Any incident that erodes consumer loyalty for our brand could 
significantly reduce its value and damage our business. We may be adversely affected by any negative publicity, 
regardless of its accuracy. Also, there has been a marked increase in the use of social media platforms and similar 
devices, including blogs, social media websites and other forms of internet-based communications that provide 
individuals with access to a broad audience of consumers and other interested persons. The availability of information 
on social media platforms is virtually immediate as is its impact. Information posted may be adverse to our interests 
or may be inaccurate, each of which may harm our performance, prospects or business. The harm may be immediate 
and may disseminate rapidly and broadly, without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction. 
 
In order for the Company to compete and grow, it must attract, recruit, retain and develop the necessary personnel 
who have the needed experience.  
Recruiting and retaining highly qualified personnel is critical to our success. These demands may require us to hire 
additional personnel and will require our existing management personnel to develop additional expertise. We face 
intense competition for personnel. The failure to attract and retain personnel or to develop such expertise could delay 
or halt the development and commercialization of our product candidates. If we experience difficulties in hiring and 
retaining personnel in key positions, we could suffer from delays in product development, loss of customers and sales 
and diversion of management resources, which could adversely affect operating results. Our consultants and advisors 
may be employed by third parties and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with third parties 
that may limit their availability to us.  
 
Changes in employment laws or regulation could harm our performance.  
Various federal and state labor laws govern our relationship with our employees and affect operating costs. These 
laws include minimum wage requirements, overtime pay, healthcare reform and the implementation of the Patient 
Protection and Affordable Care Act, unemployment tax rates, workers’ compensation rates, citizenship requirements, 
union membership and sales taxes. A number of factors could adversely affect our operating results, including 
additional government- imposed increases in minimum wages, overtime pay, paid leaves of absence and mandated 
health benefits, mandated training for employees, increased tax reporting and tax payment requirements for employees 
who receive tips, a reduction in the number of states that allow tips to be credited toward minimum wage requirements, 
changing regulations from the National Labor Relations Board and increased employee litigation including claims 
relating to the Fair Labor Standards Act.  
 
We are subject to income taxes as well as non-income based taxes, such as payroll, sales, use, value-added, net 
worth, property and goods and services taxes, in both the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions.  
Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. In the ordinary 
course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable: (i) there is no assurance that the final determination of tax 
audits or tax disputes will not be different from what is reflected in our income tax provisions, expense amounts for 
non- income based taxes and accruals and (ii) any material differences could have an adverse effect on our financial 
position and results of operations in the period or periods for which determination is made.  
 
We have not prepared any audited financial statements.  
Therefore, you have no audited financial information regarding the Company’s capitalization or assets or liabilities 
on which to make your investment decision. If you feel the information provided is insufficient, you should not invest 
in the Company.  
 
We need to rapidly and successfully develop and introduce new products in a competitive, demanding and rapidly 
changing environment. 
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To succeed in our intensely competitive industry, we must continually improve, refresh and expand our product and 
service offerings to include newer features, functionality or solutions, and keep pace with price-to-performance gains 
in the industry. Shortened product life cycles due to customer demands and competitive pressures impact the pace at 
which we must introduce and implement new technology. This requires a high level of innovation by both our software 
developers and the suppliers of the third-party software components included in our systems. In addition, bringing 
new solutions to the market entails a costly and lengthy process, and requires us to accurately anticipate customer 
needs and technology trends. We must continue to respond to market demands, develop leading technologies and 
maintain leadership in analytic data solutions performance and scalability, or our business operations may be adversely 
affected.  
We must also anticipate and respond to customer demands regarding the compatibility of our current and prior 
offerings. These demands could hinder the pace of introducing and implementing new technology. 
 
The development and commercialization of our products is highly competitive.  
We face competition with respect to any products that we may seek to develop or commercialize in the future. Our 
competitors include major companies worldwide. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, 
technical and human resources than we have and superior expertise in research and development and marketing 
approved products and thus may be better equipped than us to develop and commercialize products. These competitors 
also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified personnel and acquiring technologies. Smaller or early stage 
companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large 
and established companies. Accordingly, our competitors may commercialize products more rapidly or effectively 
than we are able to, which would adversely affect our competitive position, the likelihood that our products will 
achieve initial market acceptance, and our ability to generate meaningful additional revenues from our products.  
 
The Company could be negatively impacted if found to have infringed on intellectual property rights.  
Technology companies, including many of the Company’s competitors, frequently enter into litigation based on 
allegations of patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. In addition, patent holding 
companies seek to monetize patents they have purchased or otherwise obtained. As the Company grows, the 
intellectual property rights claims against it will likely increase. The Company intends to vigorously defend 
infringement actions in court and before the U.S. International Trade Commission. The plaintiffs in these actions 
frequently seek injunctions and substantial damages. Regardless of the scope or validity of such patents or other 
intellectual property rights, or the merits of any claims by potential or actual litigants, the Company may have to 
engage in protracted litigation. If the Company is found to infringe one or more patents or other intellectual property 
rights, regardless of whether it can develop non-infringing technology, it may be required to pay substantial damages 
or royalties to a third-party, or it may be subject to a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting the Company 
from marketing or selling certain products. In certain cases, the Company may consider the desirability of entering 
into licensing agreements, although no assurance can be given that such licenses can be obtained on acceptable terms 
or that litigation will not occur. These licenses may also significantly increase the Company’s operating expenses.  
Regardless of the merit of particular claims, litigation may be expensive, time-consuming, disruptive to the Company’s 
operations and distracting to management. In recognition of these considerations, the Company may enter into 
arrangements to settle litigation. If one or more legal matters were resolved against the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements for that reporting period could be materially adversely affected. Further, such an outcome could 
result in significant compensatory, punitive or trebled monetary damages, disgorgement of revenue or profits, remedial 
corporate measures or injunctive relief against the Company that could adversely affect its financial condition and 
results of operations.  
 
We rely on agreements with third parties to provide certain services, goods, technology, and intellectual property 
rights necessary to enable us to implement some of our applications.  
Our ability to implement and provide our applications and services to our clients depends, in part, on services, goods, 
technology, and intellectual property rights owned or controlled by third parties. These third parties may become 
unable to or refuse to continue to provide these services, goods, technology, or intellectual property rights on 
commercially reasonable terms consistent with our business practices, or otherwise discontinue a service important 
for us to continue to operate our applications. If we fail to replace these services, goods, technologies, or intellectual 
property rights in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms, our operating results and financial condition 
could be harmed. In addition, we exercise limited control over our third-party vendors, which increases our 
vulnerability to problems with technology and services those vendors provide. If the services, technology, or 
intellectual property of third parties were to fail to perform as expected, it could subject us to potential liability, 
adversely affect our renewal rates, and have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.  
 
Indemnity provisions in various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property 
infringement and other losses.  
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Our agreements with advertisers, advertising agencies, customers and other third parties may include indemnification 
provisions under which we agree to indemnify them for losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual 
property infringement, damages caused by us to property or persons, or other liabilities relating to or arising from our 
products, services or other contractual obligations. The term of these indemnity provisions generally survives 
termination or expiration of the applicable agreement. Large indemnity payments would harm our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. In addition, any type of intellectual property lawsuit, whether initiated by us or a 
third party, would likely be time consuming and expensive to resolve and would divert management’s time and 
attention.  
 
Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information and expose us to liability, which would 
cause our business and reputation to suffer.  
We collect and store sensitive data, including intellectual property, our proprietary business information and that of 
our customers, suppliers and business partners, and personally identifiable information of our customers and 
employees, in our data centers and on our networks. The secure processing, maintenance and transmission of this 
information is critical to our operations and business strategy. Despite our security measures, our information 
technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance 
or other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise our networks and the information stored there could be 
accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in 
legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, and regulatory 
penalties, disrupt our operations and the services we provide to customers, and damage our reputation, and cause a 
loss of confidence in our products and services, which could adversely affect our business/operating margins, revenues 
and competitive position.  
 
The Company intends to use the proceeds from the Offering for unspecified working capital.  
This means that the Company has ultimate discretion to use the proceeds as it sees fit and has chosen not to set forth 
any specific uses for you to evaluate. The net proceeds from this Offering will be used for the purposes, which our 
management deems to be in our best interests in order to address changed circumstances or opportunities. As a result 
of the foregoing, our success will be substantially dependent upon our discretion and judgment with respect to 
application and allocation of the net proceeds of this Offering. The Company may choose to use the proceeds in a 
manner that you do not agree with and you will have no recourse. A use of proceeds that does not further the 
Company’s business and goals could harm the Company and its operations and ultimately cause an Investor to lose 
all or a portion of his or her investment.  
 
Industry consolidation may result in increased competition, which could result in a loss of customers or a reduction 
in revenue.  
Some of our competitors have made or may make acquisitions or may enter into partnerships or other strategic 
relationships to offer more comprehensive services than they individually had offered or achieve greater economies 
of scale. In addition, new entrants not currently considered to be competitors may enter our market through 
acquisitions, partnerships or strategic relationships. We expect these trends to continue as companies attempt to 
strengthen or maintain their market positions. The potential entrants may have competitive advantages over us, such 
as greater name recognition, longer operating histories, more varied services and larger marketing budgets, as well as 
greater financial, technical and other resources. The companies resulting from combinations or that expand or 
vertically integrate their business to include the market that we address may create more compelling service offerings 
and may offer greater pricing flexibility than we can or may engage in business practices that make it more difficult 
for us to compete effectively, including on the basis of price, sales and marketing programs, technology or service 
functionality. These pressures could result in a substantial loss of our customers or a reduction in our revenue.  
 
Our business, results of operations, and financial condition may be impacted by the recent coronavirus (COVID-
19) outbreak.  
The ongoing and evolving coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak, which was designated as a pandemic by the World 
Health Organization on March 11, 2020, has caused substantial disruption in international and U.S. economies and 
markets. If repercussions of the outbreak are prolonged, they could have a materially significant adverse impact on 
our business. The Company’s management cannot at this point estimate the impact of the outbreak on its business, 
and no provision for this outbreak is reflected in the accompanying financial statements.  
 
Affiliates of the Company, including officers, directors and existing shareholders of the Company, may invest in 
this Offering and their funds will be counted toward the Company achieving the Minimum Amount.  
There is no restriction on affiliates of the Company, including its officers, directors and existing shareholders, 
investing in the Offering. As a result, it is possible that if the Company has raised some funds, but not reached the 
Minimum Amount, affiliates can contribute the balance so that there will be a closing. The Minimum Amount is 
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typically intended to be a protection for investors and gives investors confidence that other investors, along with them, 
are sufficiently interested in the Offering and the Company and its prospects to make an investment of at least the 
Minimum Amount. By permitting affiliates to invest in the offering and make up any shortfall between what non-
affiliate investors have invested and the Minimum Amount, this protection is largely eliminated. Investors should be 
aware that no funds other than their own and those of affiliates investing along with them may be invested in this 
Offering.  
 
Risks Related to the Offering 
 
Investors will be required to purchase beneficial interests in the Securities in this offering using custodial accounts 
managed by Prime Trust, which may reduce an Investor’s ability to trade or otherwise liquidate their position 
without incurring a fee. 
      
In order to better manage its cap table, the Company has elected to exclusively accept investment commitments in the 
offering through custodial accounts managed by the escrow agent, Prime Trust.  Therefore, to make an investment 
commitment, a prospective Investor must make a custodial account, and maintain its good standing, with Prime Trust 
pursuant to a valid and binding custody account agreement and subscribe to the offering in a manner that appoints 
Prime Trust as their custodian and legal record holder of the Securities. While Investors will be able to receive a full 
refund if their consideration if they cancel their investment commitment, if the Investor wishes to transfer the 
Company common stock purchased in this offering out of the Prime Trust custodial account, they may incur a fee.  
 
The Company's management may have broad discretion in how the Company uses the net proceeds of an offering. 
Unless the Company has agreed to a specific use of the proceeds from an offering, the Company's management will 
have considerable discretion over the use of proceeds from their offering. You may not have the opportunity, as part 
of your investment decision, to assess whether the proceeds are being used appropriately. 
 
The Company has the right to limit individual Investors commitment amount based on the Company’s 
determination of an Investor’s sophistication. 
The Company may prevent Investors from committing more than a certain amount to this Offering based on the 
Company’s belief of the Investor’s sophistication and ability to assume the risk of the investment. This means that 
your desired investment amount may be limited or lowered based solely on the Company’s determination and not in 
line with relevant investment limits set forth by the Regulation Crowdfunding rules. This also means that other 
Investors may receive larger allocations of the Offering based solely on the Company’s determination. 
 
The Company has the right to extend the Offering deadline. The Company has the right to end the Offering early. 
The Company may extend the Offering deadline beyond what is currently stated herein. This means that your 
investment may continue to be held in escrow while the Company attempts to raise the Target Offering Amount even 
after the Offering deadline stated herein is reached. While you have the right to cancel your investment in the event 
the Company extends the Offering, if you choose to reconfirm your investment, your investment will not be accruing 
interest during this time and will simply be held until such time as the new Offering deadline is reached without the 
Company receiving the Target Offering Amount, at which time it will be returned to you without interest or deduction, 
or the Company receives the Target Offering Amount, at which time it will be released to the Company to be used as 
set forth herein. Upon or shortly after release of such funds to the Company, the Securities will be issued and 
distributed to you. The Company may also end the Offering early; if the Offering reaches its target Offering amount 
after 21-calendary days but before the deadline, the Company can end the Offering with 5 business days’ notice. This 
means your failure to participate in the Offering in a timely manner, may prevent you from being able to participate – 
it also means the Company may limit the amount of capital it can raise during the Offering by ending it early. 
 
Our business could be negatively impacted by cyber security threats, attacks and other disruptions. 
Like others in our industry, we continue to face advanced and persistent attacks on our information infrastructure 
where we manage and store various proprietary information and sensitive/confidential data relating to our operations. 
These attacks may include sophisticated malware (viruses, worms, and other malicious software programs) and 
phishing emails that attack our products or otherwise exploit any security vulnerabilities. These intrusions sometimes 
may be zero-day malware that are difficult to identify because they are not included in the signature set of 
commercially available antivirus scanning programs. Experienced computer programmers and hackers may be able to 
penetrate our network security and misappropriate or compromise our confidential information or that of our 
customers or other third-parties, create system disruptions, or cause shutdowns. Additionally, sophisticated software 
and applications that we produce or procure from third-parties may contain defects in design or manufacture, including 
“bugs” and other problems that could unexpectedly interfere with the operation of the information infrastructure. A 
disruption, infiltration or failure of our information infrastructure systems or any of our data centers as a result of 
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software or hardware malfunctions, computer viruses, cyber-attacks, employee theft or misuse, power disruptions, 
natural disasters or accidents could cause breaches of data security, loss of critical data and performance delays, which 
in turn could adversely affect our business.  
 
If the Company is found to have violated state and federal securities laws in a prior offering of securities, it may 
face penalties from state and federal regulators and prior investors may have a right to a return of their investment 
amounts. 
If a court or regulatory body with the required jurisdiction ever accused or concluded that the Company may have 
violated state or federal securities laws, any such violation could result in the Company being required to offer 
rescission rights to investors in such offering. If such investors exercised their rescission rights, the Company would 
have to pay to such investors an amount of funds equal to the purchase price paid by such investors plus interest from 
the date of any such purchase. No assurances can be given the Company will, if it is required to offer such investors 
a rescission right, have sufficient funds to pay the prior investors the amount required or that proceeds from this 
Offering would not be used to pay such amounts. In addition, if the Company violated federal or state securities laws 
in connection with a prior offering and/or sale of its securities, federal or state regulators could bring an enforcement, 
regulatory and/or other legal action against the Company which, among other things, could result in the Company 
having to pay substantial fines and be prohibited from selling securities in the future. 
 
The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission does not pass upon the merits of any securities offered or the terms 
of the offering, nor does it pass upon the accuracy or completeness of any offering document or literature. 
You should not rely on the fact that our Form C/A is accessible through the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission’s EDGAR filing system as an approval, endorsement or guarantee of compliance as it related to this 
Offering. 
 
Neither the Offering nor the Securities have been registered under federal or state securities laws, leading to an 
absence of certain regulation applicable to the Company. 
No governmental agency has reviewed or passed upon this Offering, the Company or any Securities of the Company. 
The Company also has relied on exemptions from securities registration requirements under applicable state securities 
laws. Investors in the Company, therefore, will not receive any of the benefits that such registration would otherwise 
provide. Prospective Investors must therefore assess the adequacy of disclosure and the fairness of the terms of this 
Offering on their own or in conjunction with their personal advisors. 
 
Compliance with the criteria for securing exemptions under federal securities laws and the securities laws of the 
various states is extremely complex, especially in respect of those exemptions affording flexibility and the elimination 
of trading restrictions in respect of securities received in exempt transactions and subsequently disposed of without 
registration under the Securities Act or state securities laws. 
 
The Company has the right to conduct multiple closings during the Offering.  
If the Company meets certain terms and conditions an intermediate close of the Offering can occur, which will allow 
the Company to draw down on half of the proceeds of the offering committed and captured during the relevant period. 
The Company may choose to continue the Offering thereafter. Investors should be mindful that this means they can 
make multiple investment commitments in the offering, which may be subject to different cancellation rights. For 
example, if an intermediate close occurs and later a material change occurs as the Offering continues, Investors 
previously closed upon will not have the right to re-confirm their investment as it will be deemed completed. 
 
Risks Related to the Securities  
  
The Class CF Units (and the Investor’s Beneficial Interest therein) will not be freely tradable until one year from 
the initial purchase date. Although the Class CF Units may be tradable under federal securities law, state securities 
regulations may apply, and each Investor should consult with his or her attorney. Additionally, investors will only 
have a beneficial interest in the securities, not legal ownership, which may make their resale more difficult. 
You should be aware of the long-term nature of this investment. There is not now and likely will not be a public 
market for the Class CF Units. Because the Class CF Units have not been registered under the Securities Act or under 
the securities laws of any state or non-United States jurisdiction, the Class CF Units have transfer restrictions and 
cannot be resold in the United States except pursuant to Rule 501 of Regulation CF. It is not currently contemplated 
that registration under the Securities Act or other securities laws will be      effected. Limitations on the transfer of the 
Class CF Units may also adversely affect the price that you might be able to obtain for the Class CF Units in a private 
sale. Investors should be aware of the long-term nature of their investment in the Company. Each Investor in this 
Offering will be required to represent that it is purchasing the Securities for its own account, for investment purposes 
and not with a view to resale or distribution thereof. Additionally, investors will only have a beneficial interest in the 
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securities, not legal ownership, which may make their resale more difficult as it will require coordination with the 
Custodian. 
           
In exchange for each individual Investor’s commitment, Investors will receive a beneficial interest in the Omnibus 
Class CF Instrument, not our Class CF Units. 
Upon acceptance of an individual Investor’s subscription, such Investor will receive the right to an indirect economic 
interest in Class CF Units, to be represented by a pro rata beneficial interest in an Omnibus Class CF Instrument issued 
by the Company to the trustee and custodian designated therein, presently being Prime Trust, with Prime Trust, in its 
capacity as Trustee and Custodian as legal record owner of the Class CF Units. The beneficial interest in the Omnibus 
Class CF Instrument does not entitle Investors, excluding Prime Trust as the custodian, trustee and legal record holder, 
to any voting, information or inspection rights with respect to the Company, aside from any disclosure the Company 
is required to make under relevant securities regulations, nor are Investors entitled to exchange the beneficial interest 
for Class CF. Prime Trust as the custodian and trustee shall vote, execute consents, and otherwise make elections 
pursuant to the terms of the Omnibus Class CF Instrument, in each instance to the exclusion of each Investor. Investors 
should carefully review the Subscription Agreement for the Omnibus Class CF Instrument to understand the risks 
inherent in this investment vehicle. 
 
Investors Purchasing the Securities will have limited rights.  
Upon executing the Subscription Agreement for Beneficial Interest in Omnibus Class CF Instrument Representing 
Economic Interest in the Securities (the “Subscription Agreement”), the Investor, as a holder of a beneficial interest 
in Omnibus Class CF Instrument Representing Economic Interest in the Securities Beneficial Interest shall have no 
(i) voting, information or inspection, or dividend rights not explicitly provided by the Omnibus Class CF Instrument 
(or the Investor’s Beneficial Interest therein), and such rights shall be limited exclusively to those provided for in the 
Omnibus Class CF Instrument, or (ii) right to be deemed the legal record owner of the Securities for any purpose, nor 
will anything in such subscription agreement be construed to confer on the Investor any of the rights of a stockholder 
of the Company or any right to vote for the election of directors or upon any matter submitted to stockholders at any 
meeting thereof, or to give or withhold consent to any corporate action or to receive notice of meetings, or to receive 
subscription rights or otherwise, unless provided explicitly herein or in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument. 
 
Each Investor must purchase the Securities in the Offering for Investor’s own account for investment.  
     Each Investor must purchase its Beneficial Interest and the economic interest in the securities represented thereby 
for its own account for investment, not as a nominee or agent, and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, 
the distribution thereof, and each Investor must represent it has no present intention of selling, granting any 
participation in, or otherwise distributing the same. Each Investor must acknowledge and agree that the Omnibus Class 
CF Instrument (and the Investor’s Beneficial Interest therein) and the underlying securities have not been, and will 
not be, registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws, by reason of specific exemptions under the 
provisions thereof which depend upon, among other things, the bona fide nature of the investment intent and the 
accuracy of the Investor representations. 
 
Investors will not have voting rights. 
Investors will not have the right to vote upon matters of the Company. Investors will never be able to freely vote upon 
any manager or other matters of the Company. Where a statutory right to vote is provided by state law, the Custodian 
will vote the Class CF Units with the Class A Member. 
 
Investors will not be entitled to any inspection or information rights other than those required by Regulation CF. 
Investors will not have the right to inspect the books and records of the Company or to receive financial or other 
information from the Company, other than as required by Regulation CF. Other security holders of the Company may 
have such rights. Regulation CF requires only the provision of an annual report on Form C/A and no additional 
information – there are numerous methods by which the Company can terminate annual report obligations, resulting 
in no information rights, contractual, statutory or otherwise, owed to Investors. This lack of information could put 
Investors at a disadvantage in general and with respect to other security holders, including certain security holders 
who have rights to periodic financial statements and updates from the Company such as quarterly unaudited financials, 
annual projections and budgets, and monthly progress reports, among other things. 
      
      
The Company will determine the valuation of the Class CF Units. 
Prior to a future equity financing, sale, or IPO of the Company, the Company will in good faith determine the value 
of the Company in consultation with its accountants, and such valuation will form the basis of the value of the Class 
CF Units. The Company, in consultation with its accountants, may determine a value of the Company that would 
differ from a third-party’s determination of the value of the Company. 
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Investors have no right to exchange their Beneficial Interest in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument for Class CF 
Units in certificated form. 
The Company reserves its sole discretion to exchange the Investor’s Beneficial Interests in the Omnibus Class CF 
Instrument for Series Seed Preferred Stock in certificated form. 
 
Investors will be unable to declare the Security in “default” and demand repayment. 
Unlike convertible notes and some other securities, the Securities do not have any “default” provisions upon which 
the Investors will be able to demand repayment of their investment. The Company has ultimate discretion as to whether 
or not to convert the Securities upon a future equity financing and Investors have no right to demand such conversion. 
Only in limited circumstances, such as a liquidity event, may the Investors demand payment and even then, such 
payments will be limited to the amount of cash available to the Company. 
 
The Company may never undergo a liquidity event. 
The Company may never receive a future equity financing. In addition, the Company may never undergo a liquidity 
event such as a sale of the Company or an IPO. If a liquidity event never occurs, the Investors could be left holding 
the Securities in perpetuity. The Securities have numerous transfer restrictions and will likely be highly illiquid, with 
no secondary market on which to sell them.  
 
In addition to the risks listed above, businesses are often subject to risks not foreseen or fully appreciated by the 
management. It is not possible to foresee all risks that may affect us. Moreover, the Company cannot predict whether 
the Company will successfully effectuate the Company’s current business plan. Each prospective Investor is 
encouraged to carefully analyze the risks and merits of an investment in the Securities and should take into 
consideration when making such analysis, among other, the Risk Factors discussed above. 
 
Investors purchasing the Securities      in this Offering may be significantly diluted as a consequence of subsequent 
financings. 
Company equity securities will be subject to dilution. Company intends to issue additional equity to employees and 
third-party financing sources in amounts that are uncertain at this time. Such dilution may reduce the purchaser’s 
control and economic interests in the Company. 
 
The amount of additional financing needed by Company will depend upon several contingencies not foreseen at the 
time of this offering. Each such round of financing (whether from the Company or other investors) is typically intended 
to provide the Company with enough capital to reach the next major corporate milestone. If the funds are not sufficient, 
Company may have to raise additional capital at a price unfavorable to the existing investors, including the purchaser. 
The availability of capital is at least partially a function of capital market conditions that are beyond the control of the 
Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to predict accurately the future capital 
requirements necessary for success or that additional funds will be available from any source. Failure to obtain such 
financing on favorable terms could dilute or otherwise severely impair the value of the purchaser’s Company 
securities.  
 
There is no present market for the Securities, and we have arbitrarily set the price. 
The offering price was not established in a competitive market. We have arbitrarily set the price of the Securities with 
reference to the general status of the securities market and other relevant factors. The Offering price for the Securities 
should not be considered an indication of the actual value of the Securities and is not based on our net worth or prior 
earnings. We cannot assure you that the Securities could be resold by you at the Offering price or at any other price. 
 
There is no guarantee of a return on an Investor’s investment. 
There is no assurance that an Investor will realize a return on its investment or that it will not lose its entire investment. 
For this reason, each Investor should read this Form C/A and all Exhibits carefully and should consult with its own 
attorney and business advisor prior to making any investment decision. 
 
Legal Matters 
Any prospective Investor should consult with its own counsel and advisors in evaluating an investment in the Offering. 
 
Additional Information 
The summaries of, and references to, various documents in this Form C/A do not purport to be complete and in each 
instance reference should be made to the copy of such document which is either an appendix to this Form C/A or 
which will be made available to Investors and their professional advisors upon request. 
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Delayed Schedules K-1 and Tax Information 
The Company shall provide the Class CF Members with tax information (including Schedules K-1) as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the close of each Fiscal Year, as well as any other tax-related information regarding the 
Fund reasonably requested by Class CF Member and at such Class CF Member’s expense.  
Schedules K-1 may not be available prior to April 15 and Class CF Members may need to obtain extensions for 
the filing of their own individual tax returns. 
 
IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING, INVESTORS, INCLUDING INVESTORS WHO ARE NOT U.S. 
PERSONS, SHOULD ALSO CAREFULLY REVIEW THE TAX DISCLOSURES PROVIDED BELOW 
UNDER “TAX MATTERS.” 
 
Prior to making an investment decision regarding the Securities described herein, prospective Investors should 
carefully review and consider this entire Form C/A. The Company is prepared to furnish, upon request, a copy of the 
forms of any documents referenced in this Form C/A. The Company’s representatives will be available to discuss with 
prospective Investors and their representatives and advisors, if any, any matter set forth in this Form C/A or any other 
matter relating to the Securities described in this Form C/A, so that prospective Investors and their representatives and 
advisors, if any, may have available to them all information, financial and otherwise, necessary to formulate a well-
informed investment decision. Additional information and materials concerning the Company will be made available 
to prospective Investors and their representatives and advisors, if any, at a mutually convenient location upon 
reasonable request. 

THE SECURITIES OFFERED INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND MAY RESULT IN THE LOSS 
OF YOUR ENTIRE INVESTMENT. ANY PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR CONSIDERING THE PURCHASE 
OF THESE SECURITIES SHOULD BE AWARE OF THESE AND OTHER FACTORS SET FORTH IN 
THIS FORM C/A AND SHOULD CONSULT WITH HIS OR HER LEGAL, TAX AND FINANCIAL 
ADVISORS PRIOR TO MAKING AN INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES. THE SECURITIES SHOULD 
ONLY BE PURCHASED BY PERSONS WHO CAN AFFORD TO LOSE ALL OF THEIR INVESTMENT. 
 
BUSINESS  
 
Description of the Business  
Canopy is a biomedical innovation company focused on developing high performance, sustainable products. Our first 
product will be the world's first transparent NIOSH-certified N95 respirator. It offers superior performance and 
comfort while costing less per day than a disposable N95. Every day, healthcare professionals and frontline workers 
have to deal with Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) that gets in the way of their comfort, their breathing, and their 
communication. Not to mention, disposable N95 respirators create over 100,000 tons of landfill waste annually and 
can cost hospitals well over $1,000 per employee each year. We knew there had to be a better way, so we assembled 
a team of scientists, industrial designers, and healthcare professionals from leading innovation centers to engineer a 
respirator that truly takes care of the people who take care of us. Canopy is that next generation N95 respirator, but 
it’s also so much more. It’s a pledge we can each make to the well-being of the people and places we love. Future 
products include “filterless” filtration technology and virus-detecting filters. 
 
Business Plan  
The Company generates revenue through large B2B contracts, as well through online sales D2C. 
 
The Company’s Products and/or Services  
 

Product / Service Description Current Market 

Canopy respirator Novel, patent pending reusable N95 
respirator 

U.S. healthcare facilities as well as 
foodservice, hospitality, 
transportation and defense. The 2021 
US market for N95 respirators is 
estimated at over $18B. 

Canopy Shield Novel, integrated face shield upgrade 
for Canopy respirator. Canopy Shield 
is currently in development, and 

U.S. healthcare facilities as well as 
foodservice, hospitality, 
transportation and defense. 
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expect to fulfill pre-orders starting in 
Q1 2021. 

Canopy filter subscription Novel ultra-performance replacement 
filter program 

U.S. healthcare facilities as well as 
foodservice, hospitality, 
transportation and defense. 

 
Competition  
 We categorize our competition into incumbent and challenger brands, and specific competitive products into the 
disposable or reusable category. Incumbent brands include 3M, Honeywell and Moldex. They manufacture both 
disposable and reusable respirators for use in healthcare and other occupational settings. These offerings are plagued 
by both extreme global shortages and major user dissatisfaction, with disposable N95 respirators having an average 
net promoter score (NPS) of between -49 and -33. Challenger brands include Envomask (by Sleepnet), Castle Grade 
and Octo. To date, Envo has developed the strongest following among healthcare workers, as it is the only competitor 
to have obtained NIOSH “N95” approval. Envo has two critical flaws. First, it relies on daily replacement filters at 
$2.50 each, for an annual cost of >$500. Second, it features an unfiltered exhalation valve which has been condemned 
by the CDC and has begun to be banned by hospitals. We feel that all competitive devices possess similar flaws either 
related to high annual cost, poor seal, or after-thought level consideration given to critical components such as 
headstrap or filter. 
 
Customer Base  
We expect the healthcare market to represent our largest vertical, and we plan to establish an electronic data integration 
with GHX, the industry standard hospital procurement system. Additionally, we have industry-specific sales, 
marketing and distribution plans for other frontline industries including foodservice, hospitality, transportation and 
defense. Retail: Canopy is available for sale direct-to-consumers via onecanopy.com. Customers can purchase 
respirators and sign up for recurrent filter subscription service. We expect the clinician self-purchase market to 
represent our largest vertical. 
 
Supply Chain 
 
We obtain our materials from multiple sources, none of which we are dependent upon. We have spent much time 
researching our supply chain and are prepared for any shortages or forcible changes should any provider become 
unavailable. 
 
Intellectual Property  
 
Patents and Provisional Patent Applications 

Patent/Publica
tion Number/ 

Patent # 
Type Title File/Grant Date Country 

10,945,469 Utility Respirator Granted 
03/16/2021 

USA 

29/751,731 Design Respirator Filed 09/23/2020 USA 

 
Trademarks 

Application or 
Registration # 

Goods / Services Mark File Date Grant Date Country 

88946805 IC 009. US 021 023 026 036 
038. G & S: Protection masks; 
protecting masks; protection 
face masks not for medical 
purposes; respiratory masks for 
non-medical purposes 
 

CANOPY 06/03/2020 Published for 
Opposition 
10/13/2020 

USA 
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88946798 IC 010. US 026 039 044. G & S: 
Sanitary masks for germ 
isolation; sanitary masks for 
medical purposes; sanitary 
masks for dust isolation for 
medical purposes; sanitary 
masks for dust prevention for 
medical purposes; sanitary 
masks for virus isolation 
purposes; face masks for use by 
health care providers; 
respiratory masks for medical 
purposes; surgical masks; masks 
for use by medical personnel 

CANOPY 06/03/2020 Published for 
Opposition 
10/13/2020 

USA 

 
Governmental/Regulatory Approval and Compliance  
 
The Company is subject to and affected by laws and regulations of U.S. federal, state and local governmental 
authorities. These laws and regulations are subject to change.  
 
Litigation  
The Company is unaware of any threatened or actual litigation against it. 
 
USE OF PROCEEDS  
We will adjust roles and tasks based on the net proceeds of the Offering. We plan to use these proceeds as described 
below.  
 
 
The proceeds remaining after meeting offering expenses will be used as follows: 
 

Use of Proceeds 
(See Description 

Below) 

% of Target 
Proceeds Raised 

Amount if Target 
Raised 

% of Maximum 
Proceeds Raised 

Amount if 
Maximum Raised 

Intermediary Fee 6% $1,500 6% $64,200 

Inventory 94% $23,503.77 30% $321,000 

Sales and marketing 0% 0 34% $363,795.30 

Staffing 0% 0 30% $321,000 

Total 100.00% $25,003.77 100.00% $1,069,995.30 

 
The Use of Proceeds table is not inclusive of payments to financial and legal service providers and escrow related 
fees, all of which were incurred in preparation of the campaign and are due in advance of the closing of the campaign.  
 
Intermediary Fee 
This fee will be paid directly to the intermediary for assisting in conducting this Offering. 
 
Inventory 
These proceeds will be used for the production of inventory that can be used for sales, marketing, PR and order 
fulfillment. The amount of funds listed would fund the production and shipment of a sample Canopy respirator to 
every hospital in the United States. 
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Sales and marketing 
These proceeds will be used for paid media (advertising) as well as additional staff to support our owned, earned and 
paid media. Example expenditures include $55,000 / year for a SEO and Public Relations firm, $100,000 / year for 
paid advertising on the Amazon platform, and $120,000 per year for Access Strategy Partners. 
 
Staffing 
These proceeds will be used for the hiring of additional associates for sales and support roles. The primary objective 
of these staff are to pursue enterprise and SMB sales in the non-hospital sector. Up to four associates will be hired 
with approximate annual compensation of $50,000. 
 
The Company has discretion to alter the use of proceeds set forth above to adhere to the Company’s business plan and 
liquidity requirements. For example, economic conditions may alter the Company’s general marketing or general 
working capital requirements. 
 
DIRECTORS AND KEY PERSONNEL 
 
The President of the Company is listed below along with all positions and offices held at the Company and their 
principal occupation and employment responsibilities for the past three (3) years. 
 

Name Positions and Offices Held at 
the Company 

Principal Occupation and 
Employment 

Responsibilities for the 
Last Three (3) Years 

Education 

Joseph Rosenberg President Founder, Grove North 
Ventures LLC 
Founder and CEO, Grove 
Biomedical LLC 

BA with Honors, NYU 
Gallatin School 

 
Joseph Rosenberg 
A long-time leader on Google's Emerging Business Development team, Joe Rosenberg (in such capacity, the 
“President”) is an expert in cross-functional innovation, strategic partnerships, retail e-commerce, and enterprise 
sales. 
 
In addition to the President, the following persons listed below hold managerial, operational, and/or advisory roles 
with respect to the Company (the “Key Personnel”): 
 

Name Positions and Offices Held at 
the Company 

Principal Occupation and 
Employment 

Responsibilities for the 
Last Three (3) Years 

Education 

Douglas Clift Head of Operations Grove Biomedical - Head of 
Operations. 2020 - Present 
DaVita Kidney Care - 
Manager of Operations. 2016 
- 2020 

BS Biomedical 
Engineering - 
University of Rochester. 
Class of 2012  

Qing Xiang “QX” 
Yee 

Head of Product Development / 
Chief Engineer 

Senior Engineer, DSO Labs 
(Singapore National Defense 
Agency) 
Founder and CEO, Ascent 
Bikes 

BS/MS Bioengineering, 
Johns Hopkins Center 
for Bioengineering 
Innovation and Design 

Kim Rosenberg Advisory Board Chair Senior Vice President, Head 
of Pension Risk Transfer, 
Athene 
Vice President, Head of 
Distribution and Retirement 
Solutions, Legal and General 
Retirement American 

BBA, Accounting, Pace 
University 
MBA, Marist College 



 

25  

Narissa Joyner, 
MD 

Lead Medical Advisor North Shore LIJ Health 
System - Attending 
Physician. 2014 - Present 

M.D. - New York 
Medical College. Class 
of 2011 Bachelors in 
Sociology, Pre-
Medicine - NYU. Class 
of 2005 

 
Douglas Clift 
A biomedical engineer turned operations leader, Doug drives product innovation and supply chain development for 
Canopy. Previously, Doug managed Operations Innovation for DaVita, a Fortune 200 global kidney dialysis service. 
 
Qing Xiang “QX” Yee 
QX holds an MS from Johns Hopkins University's Center for Bioengineering Innovation and Design. He's an expert 
in human-factors engineering, and prior to Canopy spent six years as a senior engineer at Singapore’s national defense 
research agency.  
 
Kim Rosenberg 
While leading a $12B institutional retirement business, Kim brings her expertise building new business lines and 
providing bespoke financial solutions to Fortune 500 companies to Canopy's strategic growth, distribution, and 
organizational planning. 
 
Narissa Joyner, MD 
Experienced Emergency Medicine Attending Physician with a demonstrated history of working in the hospital & 
health care industry. Skilled in Research, Hospitals, Emergency Medicine, and Healthcare. Strong healthcare services 
professional graduated from New York Medical College. 
 
 
Indemnification 
Indemnification is authorized by the Company to managers, officers or controlling persons acting in their professional 
capacity pursuant to New York law. Indemnification includes expenses such as attorney’s fees and, in certain 
circumstances, judgments, fines and settlement amounts actually paid or incurred in connection with actual or 
threatened actions, suits or proceedings involving such person, except in certain circumstances where a person is 
adjudged to be guilty of gross negligence or willful misconduct, unless a court of competent jurisdiction determines 
that such indemnification is fair and reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Employees  
The Company currently employs 0 employees.  
 
CAPITALIZATION AND OWNERSHIP  
 
Capitalization  
 
The Company has issued the following classes of Securities: 
 
 

Type/Class of security Class A Units 

Amount Authorized 1,051,912 

Amount outstanding/Face Value 794,084 

Par Value (if applicable) N/A 

Voting Rights Yes 

How this security may limit, dilute or qualify the 
Security issued pursuant to Regulation CF 

The Company may authorize additional Class A Units 
which may dilute the Security 
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Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 95.99% 
Fully Diluted: 80.23% 

 
 
 

Type/Class of security Class B Units 

Amount Authorized 229,224 

Amount outstanding/Face Value 69,809      

Par Value (if applicable) N/A 

Voting Rights No 

How this security may limit, dilute or qualify the 
Security issued pursuant to Regulation CF 

The Company may authorize additional Class B Units 
which may dilute the Security 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 4.77% 
Fully Diluted: 15.57%      

 

Type/Class of security Class CF Units 

Amount Authorized 190,730 

Amount outstanding/Face Value 0 

Par Value (if applicable) N/A 

Voting Rights No 

How this security may limit, dilute or qualify the 
Security issued pursuant to Regulation CF 

The Company may authorize additional Class CF Units 
which may dilute the Security 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 0% 
Fully Diluted: 12.96% 
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Type/Class of security Warrant – Noteholder 1 

Amount Authorized $75,000 

Units required upon conversion      19,509 

Other material terms Warrant info: Exercisable until 12/10/22. Ability to 
purchase 19,412 additional units at $3.86 per unit 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 1.93%      
Fully diluted: 1.33% 

 
 

Type/Class of security Convertible Note – Noteholder 1 

Amount Authorized $150,000 

Units required upon conversion 39,018      

Other material terms 

24 month maturity; $4.25MM fixed conversion 
valuation; 15% discount. 5% interest, 10% interest 

upon default. Accelerated conversion upon liquidity 
event. 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 3.87% 
Fully diluted: 2.65%      

Conversion Terms Mandatory conversion upon $2.5MM equity financing; 
optional conversion upon any equity financing  

 
 

Type/Class of security Warrant – Noteholder 2 

Amount Authorized $50,000 

Units required upon conversion 13,006 

Other material terms Warrant info: Exercisable until 12/31/22. Ability to 
purchase 19,412 additional units at $3.86 per unit 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 1.29% 
Fully diluted: 0.88% 
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Type/Class of security Convertible Note – Noteholder 2 

Amount Authorized $250,000 

Units required upon conversion 65,029 

Other material terms 

24 month maturity; $4.25MM fixed conversion 
valuation; 15% discount. 5% interest, 10% interest 

upon default. Accelerated conversion upon liquidity 
event. 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 6.44% 
Fully diluted: 4.42% 

Conversion Terms Mandatory conversion upon $2.5MM equity financing; 
optional conversion upon any equity financing  

 
 
 

Type/Class of security Convertible Note – Noteholder 3 

Amount Authorized $50,000 

Units required upon conversion 13,006 

Other material terms 

24 month maturity; $4.25MM fixed conversion 
valuation; 15% discount. 5% interest, 10% interest 

upon default. Accelerated conversion upon liquidity 
event. 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 1.29% 
Fully diluted: 0.88% 

Conversion Terms Mandatory conversion upon $2.5MM equity financing; 
optional conversion upon any equity financing  

 
 

Type/Class of security Convertible Note – Noteholder 4 

Amount Authorized $50,000 

Units required upon conversion 13,006 
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Other material terms 

24 month maturity; $4.25MM fixed conversion 
valuation; 15% discount. 5% interest, 10% interest 

upon default. Accelerated conversion upon liquidity 
event. 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 1.29% 
Fully diluted: 0.88% 

Conversion Terms Mandatory conversion upon $2.5MM equity financing; 
optional conversion upon any equity financing  

 

Type/Class of security Convertible Note – Noteholder 5 

Amount Authorized $50,000 

Units required upon conversion 13,006 

Other material terms 

24 month maturity; $4.25MM fixed conversion 
valuation; 15% discount. 5% interest, 10% interest 

upon default. Accelerated conversion upon liquidity 
event. 

Percentage ownership of the Company by the 
holders of such security (assuming conversion prior 

to the Offering if convertible securities). 

Outstanding: 1.29% 
Fully diluted: 0.88% 

Conversion Terms Mandatory conversion upon $2.5MM equity financing; 
optional conversion upon any equity financing  

 
 
The Company has the following debt outstanding:  
 
 

Creditor Kimberlee Rosenberg 

Amount outstanding $182,348.64 

Interest Rate and Amortization Schedule 8.55%  

Other Material Terms Related Person Transaction 

Maturity Date 09/03/2023 
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Creditor Kimberlee Rosenberg 

Amount outstanding $127,761 

Interest Rate and Amortization Schedule 7%; balance payable on demand 

Other Material Terms Related Person Transaction 

Maturity Date 12/06/2021 

 
 
Ownership  
Below the beneficial owners of 20% percent or more of the Company’s outstanding voting equity securities, calculated 
on the basis of voting power, are listed along with the amount they own. 
 
 

Name Number and type/class of security 
held 

Percentage ownership 

Grove North Ventures LLC (a 
company 100% owned and 
controlled by Joseph Rosenberg and 
Kimberlee Rosenberg) 

794,084/Class A Units 97% 
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 
Please see the financial information listed on the cover page of this Form C/A and attached hereto in addition 
to the following information. Financial statements are attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
 
Operations  
Grove Biomedical LLC (“the Company”) was incorporated on April 24, 2020 under the laws of the State of New 
York, and is headquartered at 282 Katonah Avenue #537, Katonah NY 10536, United States. Canopy is a biomedical 
innovation company focused on developing high performance, sustainable products. Our first product will be the 
world's first transparent NIOSH-certified N95 respirator. It offers superior performance and comfort while costing 
less per day than a disposable N95. Every day, healthcare professionals and frontline workers have to deal with 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) that gets in the way of their comfort, their breathing, and their communication. 
Not to mention, disposable N95 respirators create over 100,000 tons of landfill waste annually and can cost hospitals 
well over $1,000 per employee each year. We knew there had to be a better way, so we assembled a team of scientists, 
industrial designers, and healthcare professionals from leading innovation centers to engineer a respirator that truly 
takes care of the people who take care of us. Canopy is that next generation N95 respirator, but it’s also so much more. 
It’s a pledge we can each make to the well-being of the people and places we love. Future products include “filterless” 
filtration technology and virus-detecting filters. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash 
equivalents.  
 
The Company had $130,556.31 in cash as of 04/28/2021. The Company has a burn rate of $17,275/month, leaving it 
with 8 months of runway. 
 
The Company has $550,000 in convertible notes outstanding. 
 
The Company has authorized 1,051,912 Class A Units, 794,084 of which are issued and outstanding. The Company 
has authorized 229,224 shares of Class B Units, 39,809 of which are issued and outstanding.  The Company has 
authorized 190,730 shares of Class CF Units, 0 of which are issued and outstanding.  
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
The proceeds from the Offering are essential to our operations. We plan to use the proceeds as set forth above under 
“Use of Proceeds”, which is an indispensable element of our business strategy.  
 
The Company currently does not have any additional outside sources of capital other than the proceeds from the 
Offering. 
 
Capital Expenditures and Other Obligations  
The Company does not intend to make any material capital expenditures in the future. 
 
Valuation 
The Company has ascribed a $6,500,000 pre-Offering valuation to the Company but has not obtained a 409A 
valuation.  
 
Material Changes and Other Information  
 
Trends and Uncertainties  
 
After reviewing the above discussion of the steps the Company intends to take, potential Investors should consider 
whether achievement of each step within the estimated time frame is realistic in their judgment. Potential Investors 
should also assess the consequences to the Company of any delays in taking these steps and whether the Company 
will need additional financing to accomplish them. 
 
Previous Offerings of Securities 
We have made no issuances of securities within the last three years. 
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THE OFFERING AND THE SECURITIES  
 
The Offering  
 
The Company is offering up to $1,069,995.30 of the Securities under this Offering for a total of the Maximum Offering 
Amount. The Company is attempting to raise a minimum amount of the Target Offering Amount in this Offering with 
oversubscriptions to be allocated at the Company’s discretion. The Company must receive commitments from 
investors in an amount totaling the Target Offering Amount by the Offering Deadline in order to receive any funds. If 
the sum of the investment commitments does not equal or exceed the Target Offering Amount by the Offering 
Deadline, no Securities will be sold in the Offering, investment commitments will be cancelled and committed funds 
will be returned to potential investors without interest or deductions. The Company has the right to extend the Offering 
Deadline at its discretion. The price of the Securities does not necessarily bear any relationship to the Company’s asset 
value, net worth, revenues or other established criteria of value, and should not be considered indicative of the actual 
value of the Securities. 
 
The Company is offering the Securities to both U.S. persons and non-U.S. Persons, as defined under the income tax 
regulations promulgated under the Code, as such regulations may be amended hereafter from time to time (the 
“Treasury Regulations”).  For purposes of this summary, an Investor is a “U.S. Person” if, for U.S. federal income 
tax purposes, that Investor is (i) an individual citizen or resident of the United States; (ii) a corporation created or 
organized in or under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia; (iii) an estate the 
income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or (iv) a trust if (a) a U.S. court can 
exercise primary supervision over the trust’s administration and one or more U.S. persons are authorized to control 
all substantial decisions of the trust or (b) the trust has in effect a valid election under applicable Treasury Regulations 
to be treated as a U.S. Person. Non-U.S. persons should carefully read the risks set forth below under “RISKS 
RELATING TO NON-U.S. PERSONS.” 
 
The Offering is being made through OpenDeal Portal LLC dba Republic, the Intermediary. In order to purchase the 
Securities, you must make a commitment to purchase by completing the subscription process hosted by the 
Intermediary, including complying with the Intermediary’s know your customer (KYC) and anti-money laundering 
(AML) policies. If an investor makes an investment commitment under a name that is not their legal name, they 
may be unable to redeem their Security, indefinitely and neither the Intermediary nor the Company are 
required to correct any errors or omissions made by the Investor. Investor funds will be held in escrow with Prime 
Trust, LLC until the Target Offering Amount of investments is reached. Investors may cancel an investment 
commitment until 48 hours prior to the Offering Deadline or the Closing, whichever comes first using the cancellation 
mechanism provided by the Intermediary. Any investor using a credit card to invest must represent and warrant 
to not claim fraud or claw back their committed funds to cancel their investment commitment, any cancelled 
investment commitments must be requested through the Intermediary 48 hours prior to the Offering Deadline 
or Closing.       
 
The Company will notify Investors when the Target Offering Amount has been reached through the Intermediary. If 
the Company reaches the Target Offering Amount prior to the Offering Deadline, it may close the Offering early 
provided (i) the expedited Offering Deadline must be twenty-one (21) days from the time the Offering opened and the 
Company, (ii) the Intermediary must provide at least five (5) business days’ notice prior to the expedited Offering 
Deadline to the Investors and (iii) the Company continues to meet or exceed the Target Offering amount on the date 
of the expedited Offering Deadline. 
 
Material Changes 
 
If any material change occurs related to the Offering prior to the current Offering Deadline the Company will provide 
notice to Investors and receive reconfirmations from Investors who have already made commitments. If an Investor 
does not reconfirm their investment commitment after a material change is made to the terms of the Offering within 
five (5) business days of receiving notice, the Investor’s investment commitment will be cancelled and the committed 
funds will be returned without interest or deductions. If an Investor does not cancel an investment commitment before 
the Target Offering Amount is reached, the funds will be released to the Company upon the closing of the Offering 
and the Investor will receive the Securities in exchange for their investment.  
 
Intermediate Closings 
 
In the event an amount equal to two (2) times the Target Offering Amount is committed and meets all required terms 
of the Offering prior to the Offering Deadline on such date or such later time the Company designates pursuant to 
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Rule 304(b) of Regulation CF, the Company may conduct the first of multiple closings of the Offering early, provided 
(i) the new Offering Deadline must be twenty-one (21) days from the time the Offering opened and the Company and 
(ii)that all Investors will receive notice of the new offering deadline at least five (5) business days prior to such new 
offering deadline (absent a material change that would require an extension of the Offering and reconfirmation of all 
investment commitments). Investors who committed on the date such notice is provided or prior to the issuance of 
such notice will be able to cancel their investment commitment until 48 hours before the new offering deadline.  
If the Company conducts an initial closing (the “Initial Closing”), the Company agrees to only withdraw half of the 
proceeds that are in escrow and will only conduct such Initial Closing if there are more than twenty-one (21) days 
remaining before the Offering Deadline as of the date of the Initial Closing. The Company may only conduct another 
close (a “Subsequent Closing”) before the Offering Deadline if the amount of investment commitments made on the 
date of such Subsequent Closing exceeds two times the amount committed on the date of the Initial Closing and there 
are more than twenty-one (21) days remaining before the Offering Deadline as of the date of such Subsequent Closing.  
 
Any investment commitments received after an intermediate closing will be released to the Company upon a 
subsequent closing and the Investor will receive evidence of the Securities via electronic certificate/PDF in exchange 
for their investment commitment as soon as practicable thereafter. 
                
 
The Company has agreed to return all funds to Investors in the event a Form C-W is ultimately filed in relation to this 
Offering, regardless of any subsequent closes. 
 
Subscription Agreements for Omnibus Class CF Instrument are not binding on the Company until accepted by the 
Company, which reserves the right to reject, in whole or in part, in its sole and absolute discretion, any subscription. 
If the Company rejects all or a portion of any subscription, the applicable prospective Investor’s funds will be returned 
without interest or deduction. 
 
All investment commitments made in this Offering will be represented by a pro rata beneficial interest (based on the 
amount invested) in an Omnibus Class CF Instrument, as described in Exhibit E. Under the Omnibus Class CF 
Instrument, Securities sold in this Offering will be deposited into each Investors’ custodial account with the Escrow 
Agent. In order to receive Securities from this Offering, Investors will be required to establish, or verify that they 
already have, an account with the Escrow Agent. 
 
The price of the Securities was determined arbitrarily. The minimum amount that an Investor may invest in the 
Offering is $100.98. 
 
PRIME TRUST, THE ESCROW AGENT SERVICING THE OFFERING, HAS NOT INVESTIGATED THE 
DESIRABILITY OR ADVISABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT IN THIS OFFERING OR THE SECURITIES 
OFFERED HEREIN. THE ESCROW AGENT MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, 
ENDORSEMENTS, OR JUDGEMENT ON THE MERITS OF THE OFFERING OR THE SECURITIES 
OFFERED HEREIN. THE ESCROW AGENT’S CONNECTION TO THE OFFERING IS SOLELY FOR 
THE LIMITED PURPOSES OF ACTING AS A SERVICE PROVIDER. 
 
Commission/Fees 
 
6.0% of the amount raised 
 
Stock, Warrants and Other Compensation 
 
2.0% of the Securities being issued in this Offering. 
 
Transfer Agent and Registrar 
 
The Company will act as transfer agent and registrar for the Securities. 
 
The Securities  
 
We request that you please review this Form C/A, IPA instrument attached as Exhibit E, as well as the Operating 
Agreement attached as Exhibit F in conjunction with the following summary information. All capitalized terms that 
are not defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to the in the Operating Agreement. 
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Authorized Capitalization 
 
The Company has authorized three classes of securities. Class A, Class B and Class CF. Please refer to Capitalization 
and Ownership above for information on the capitalization of the Company. 
 
Rights and Duties of the Manager 
 
The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by the Manager. All decisions concerning the business and 
affairs of the Company shall be made by the Manager. The Manager may not be removed by the Members unless and 
until the Manager resigns or sells, transfers or otherwise disposes of all of its Interest in accordance with the terms 
of the operating agreement. The Manager is hereby authorized to make all management decisions of the Company on 
behalf of the Members. 
 
Fees Paid to the Manager 
 
The Manager may designate and receive compensation for itself acting as the Manager of the Company or designate 
and pay such compensation to any other Person to whom the duties of the Manager may be delegated. All costs and 
expenses actually incurred in connection with the organization of the Company and the ongoing operation or 
management of the business of the Company shall be borne by the Company. The Company shall reimburse the 
Manager for all out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Manager in connection with the organization and 
business of the Company. 
 
Dissolution & Termination 
 
The Company shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of any of the following events: (a) the determination of the a 
Majority-in-Interest of the Class A Members; (b) the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution under the Act; or(c) upon 
the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the 
contrary, the bankruptcy, death, dissolution, expulsion, incapacity or withdrawal of a Member shall not result in the 
dissolution of the Company. 
 
In settling accounts after dissolution, the liabilities of the Company shall be entitled to payment in the following order: 
(i)      first, to the payment of the expenses of liquidation; (ii     ) then, to the setting up of any reserves which the 
Manager deems necessary or desirable for any contingent or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Company; and 
(iii     ) thereafter, to the Members. 
 
Voting and Control  
 
Only the Company’s Class A unitholders may vote on Company matters as outlined in the Operating Agreement.      
 
Distributions 
 
Any net cash flow from the Company, as defined in the operating agreement, will be distributed to the Members in 
the following order of priority at such times and in such amounts as the Manager shall determine: (i) to creditors of 
the Company, including Members who are creditors, to the extent permitted by law, in satisfaction of the liabilities of 
the Company (whether by payment or the making of reasonable provision for payment thereof); (ii) to the Class A 
Members, in proportion to their unrecovered capital contributions, if any, until the unrecovered capital contributions 
of the Class A Members have been reduced to zero; and (iii) the balance, if any, to the Members in accordance with 
their respective percentage interests. 
 
Anti-Dilution Rights  
 
The Securities do not have anti-dilution rights, which means that future equity financings will dilute the ownership 
percentage that the Investor may eventually have in the Company. Only Class A Members may vote to authorize 
additional units which may dilute the Company’s securities. 
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Drag Along Rights 
 
A Majority-in-Interest of the Class A Members may require all other Members to transfer their Membership Units in 
a transaction which constitutes a bona fide sale and assignment of all of the Membership Units of the Company to any 
third party that is not a Permitted Transferee. 
 
To exercise such right, the Dragging Members shall send (or shall cause the Manager to send) a written notice  to each 
Drag-Along Member, setting forth the consideration to be paid by the third party purchaser and the other terms and 
conditions of such transaction. Each Drag-Along Member shall be required to consummate the Drag-Along Sale for 
the amount of consideration and under the terms and conditions set forth in the Drag-Along Notice, as adjusted for 
pre-existing differences in the rights and privileges among the classes of Membership Units. At the consummation of 
the purchase of such Membership Units by the third party purchaser, the Drag-Along Members shall deliver to the 
Manager duly executed instruments of transfer for their Membership Units. If one or more of the Drag-Along Members 
fails to deliver such instrument of transfer to the Manager, the Manager shall cause the books and records of the 
Company to show that such Membership Units are bound by the provisions of the operating agreement and that such 
Membership Units shall be transferred only to the third party purchaser. In the event one or more of the Drag-Along 
Members fails to deliver the duly executed instruments of transfer to the Manager as required herein, then the Manager 
may execute any documents as shall be required for the purpose of transferring any Membership Units on the books 
and records of the Company, including but not limited to, an instrument of transfer as required by the operating 
agreement and the Manager is hereby deemed appointed an attorney-in-fact of each such Drag-Along Member for the 
purpose of effectuating the transfer. 
 
Right of First Refusal 
 
Except in connection with a permitted transfer as set out in the operating agreement, in the event that any member 
receives a bona fide offer from any person, including another member, to acquire all or any portion of the selling 
member’     s membership units, which offer the selling member is willing to accept, the selling member may not sell, 
transfer, exchange or assign the offered Units without first giving the Class A Members a right of first refusal to 
acquire the offered Units. Each Class A Member may assign its right of first refusal for all or any portion of the offered 
Units to any third party.  
 
In the event any Class A Member and/or its Designee does not exercise its right to acquire their pro rata share of the 
Offered Units, then those Class A Members that exercised their right shall have the second right to acquire their pro 
rata share of any remaining Offered Units. This process shall continue expeditiously so long as any Class A Member 
desires to purchase any remaining Offered Units until all Offered Units are acquired or until the Class A Members 
elect not to purchase any further Offered Units. In the event that any Offered Units remain (i.e. not acquired by a Class 
A Member) after the operation of the foregoing process, the Selling Member shall be free to sell the remaining Offered 
Units to the third party purchaser set forth in the Offer upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Offer within the 
time period set forth in the Offer. 
 
Restrictions on Transfer  
 
No Member may Transfer all or any part of such Member’s Membership Units without the consent of the Company’s 
Manager, which consent may be given or withheld in the sole discretion of the Manager, and any attempt to do so 
shall be null and void. Further, unless otherwise provided in the operating agreement, any transfer shall not give the 
transferee the right to be admitted as a substitute member. No transfer of any Membership Units shall relieve the 
transferring Member of any liability to the Company or the other Member that arose prior to the transfer. Any permitted 
transfer will not become effective until the transferee is admitted by the manager, with all accompanying paperwork. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Securities sold pursuant to Regulation CF being offered may not be transferred 
by any Investor of such Securities during the one-year holding period beginning when the Securities were issued, 
unless such Securities are transferred: 1) to the Company, 2) to an accredited investor, as defined by Rule 501(d) of 
Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act, 3) as part of an IPO or 4) to a member of the family of the Investor 
or the equivalent, to a trust controlled by the Investor, to a trust created for the benefit of a member of the family of 
the Investor or the equivalent, or in connection with the death or divorce of the Investor or other similar circumstances. 
“Member of the family” as used herein means a child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse 
or spousal equivalent, sibling, mother/father/daughter/son/sister/brother-in-law, and includes adoptive relationships. 
Remember that although you may legally be able to transfer the Securities, you may not be able to find another party 
willing to purchase them. 
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In addition to the foregoing restrictions, prior to making any transfer of the Securities or any Securities into which 
they are convertible, such transferring Investor must either make such transfer pursuant to an effective registration 
statement filed with the SEC or provide the Company with an opinion of counsel stating that a registration statement 
is not necessary to effect such transfer. 
 
In addition, the Investor may not transfer the Securities or any Securities into which they are convertible to any of the 
Company’s competitors, as determined by the Company in good faith. 
 
Furthermore, upon the event of an IPO, the capital stock into which the Securities are converted will be subject to a 
lock-up period and may not be lent, offered, pledged, or sold for up to 180 days following such IPO. 
  



 

37  

 
TAX MATTERS  
 
EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT WITH HIS OR HER OWN TAX AND ERISA 
ADVISOR AS TO THE PARTICULAR CONSEQUENCES TO THE INVESTOR OF THE PURCHASE, 
OWNERSHIP AND SALE OF THE INVESTOR’S SECURITIES, AS WELL AS POSSIBLE CHANGES IN 
THE TAX LAWS.  

TO INSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED BY THE INTERNAL REVENUE 
SERVICE, WE INFORM YOU THAT ANY TAX STATEMENT IN THIS FORM C/A CONCERNING 
UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAXES IS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT 
BE USED, BY ANY TAXPAYER FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING ANY TAX-RELATED PENALTIES 
UNDER THE UNITED STATES INTERNAL REVENUE CODE. ANY TAX STATEMENT HEREIN 
CONCERNING UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAXES WAS WRITTEN IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
MARKETING OR PROMOTION OF THE TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS TO WHICH THE 
STATEMENT RELATES. EACH TAXPAYER SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THE TAXPAYER’S 
PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR. 

This summary does not discuss U.S. federal income tax considerations that may be relevant to a potential investor that 
is not a U.S. person.  
 
Potential Investors who are not U.S. Persons are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the United States 
federal income tax implications of any investment in the Company, as well as the taxation of such investment 
by their country of residence. Furthermore, it should be anticipated that distributions from the Company to 
such foreign investors may be subject to UNITED STATES withholding tax. 
 
The General Partner shall provide the Class CF Members with tax information (including Schedules K-1) as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the close of each Fiscal Year, as well as any other tax-related information regarding the 
Fund reasonably requested by a Class CF Member and at such Class CF Member’s expense.  
Schedules K-1 may not be available prior to April 15 and Limited Partners may need to obtain extensions for 
the filing of their own individual tax returns. 
 

EACH POTENTIAL INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT HIS OR HER OWN TAX ADVISOR CONCERNING 
THE POSSIBLE IMPACT OF STATE TAXES. 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
From time to time the Company may engage in transactions with related persons. Related persons are defined as any 
director or officer of the Company; any person who is the beneficial owner of twenty (20%) percent or more of the 
Company’s outstanding voting equity securities, calculated on the basis of voting power; any promoter of the 
Company; any immediate family member of any of the foregoing persons or an entity controlled by any such person 
or persons. Additionally, the Company will disclose here any transaction, whether historical or contemplated, where 
the Company was or is to be a party and the amount involved exceeds five percent (5%) of the aggregate amount of 
capital raised by the issuer in reliance on section 4(a)(6) and the counter party is either (i) Any director or officer of 
the issuer; (ii) Any person who is, as of the most recent practicable date but no earlier than 120 days prior to the date 
the offering statement or report is filed, the beneficial owner of 20 percent or more of the issuer's outstanding voting 
equity securities, calculated on the basis of voting power; (iii) If the issuer was incorporated or organized within the 
past three years, any promoter of the issuer; or (iv) Any member of the family of any of the foregoing persons, which 
includes a child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse or spousal equivalent, sibling, mother-
in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, and shall include adoptive 
relationships. The term spousal equivalent means a cohabitant occupying a relationship generally equivalent to that 
of a spouse. 
  
The Company has conducted the following transactions with related persons: 
The founder Kimberlee Rosenberg has loaned the Company $354,550.  
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EXHIBIT B 
Disclaimers 

 
THERE ARE SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES ASSOCIATED WITH AN 
INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY AND THE SECURITIES. THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY 
ARE NOT PUBLICLY TRADED AND ARE SUBJECT TO TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS. THERE IS 
NO PUBLIC MARKET FOR THE SECURITIES AND ONE MAY NEVER DEVELOP. AN 
INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY IS HIGHLY SPECULATIVE. THE SECURITIES SHOULD NOT 
BE PURCHASED BY ANYONE WHO CANNOT BEAR THE FINANCIAL RISK OF THIS 
INVESTMENT FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME AND WHO CANNOT AFFORD THE LOSS 
OF THEIR ENTIRE INVESTMENT. SEE THE SECTION OF THIS FORM C/A ENTITLED “RISK 
FACTORS.” 
 
THESE SECURITIES INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK THAT MAY NOT BE APPROPRIATE 
FOR ALL INVESTORS. 

THIS FORM C/A DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER IN ANY JURISDICTION IN WHICH AN 
OFFER IS NOT PERMITTED. 

PRIOR TO CONSUMMATION OF THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF ANY SECURITY THE 
COMPANY WILL AFFORD PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS AN OPPORTUNITY TO ASK QUESTIONS 
OF AND RECEIVE ANSWERS FROM THE COMPANY AND ITS MANAGEMENT CONCERNING 
THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS OFFERING AND THE COMPANY. NO SOURCE OTHER 
THAN THE INTERMEDIARY HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR 
MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OTHER THAN THOSE CONTAINED IN THIS FORM C/A, AND 
IF GIVEN OR MADE BY ANY OTHER SUCH PERSON OR ENTITY, SUCH INFORMATION MUST 
NOT BE RELIED ON AS HAVING BEEN AUTHORIZED BY THE COMPANY.  

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS ARE NOT TO CONSTRUE THE CONTENTS OF THIS FORM C/A AS 
LEGAL, ACCOUNTING OR TAX ADVICE OR AS INFORMATION NECESSARILY APPLICABLE 
TO EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR’S PARTICULAR FINANCIAL SITUATION. EACH 
INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT HIS OR HER OWN FINANCIAL ADVISER, COUNSEL AND 
ACCOUNTANT AS TO LEGAL, TAX AND RELATED MATTERS CONCERNING HIS OR HER 
INVESTMENT. 

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY WILL HAVE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS. NO 
SECURITIES MAY BE PLEDGED, TRANSFERRED, RESOLD OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF BY 
ANY INVESTOR EXCEPT PURSUANT TO RULE 501 OF REGULATION CF. INVESTORS SHOULD 
BE AWARE THAT THEY WILL BE REQUIRED TO BEAR THE FINANCIAL RISKS OF THIS 
INVESTMENT FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME. 

NASAA UNIFORM LEGEND 
 
IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN 
EXAMINATION OF THE PERSON OR ENTITY CREATING THE SECURITIES AND THE TERMS 
OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED. 
  
THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE 
SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE 
FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE 
ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A 
CRIMINAL OFFENSE. 
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SPECIAL NOTICE TO FOREIGN INVESTORS 
 
IF THE INVESTOR LIVES OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES, IT IS THE INVESTOR’S 
RESPONSIBILITY TO FULLY OBSERVE THE LAWS OF ANY RELEVANT TERRITORY OR 
JURISDICTION OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN CONNECTION WITH ANY PURCHASE OF 
THE SECURITIES, INCLUDING OBTAINING REQUIRED GOVERNMENTAL OR OTHER 
CONSENTS OR OBSERVING ANY OTHER REQUIRED LEGAL OR OTHER FORMALITIES. THE 
COMPANY RESERVES THE RIGHT TO DENY THE PURCHASE OF THE SECURITIES BY ANY 
FOREIGN INVESTOR. 
 

NOTICE REGARDING THE ESCROW AGENT 
 

PRIME TRUST LLC (THE “ESCROW AGENT”) SERVICING THE OFFERING, HAS NOT 
INVESTIGATED THE DESIRABILITY OR ADVISABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT IN THIS 
OFFERING OR THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREIN. THE ESCROW AGENT MAKES NO 
REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, ENDORSEMENTS, OR JUDGEMENT ON THE MERITS OF 
THE OFFERING OR THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREIN. THE ESCROW AGENT’S 
CONNECTION TO THE OFFERING IS SOLELY FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSES OF ACTING AS A 
SERVICE PROVIDER. 

 
Forward Looking Statement Disclosure 

 
This Form C/A and any documents incorporated by reference herein or therein contain forward-looking 
statements and are subject to risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical fact 
or relating to present facts or current conditions included in this Form C/A are forward-looking statements. 
Forward-looking statements give the Company’s current reasonable expectations and projections relating 
to its financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance and business. You can 
identify forward-looking statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. 
These statements may include words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “plan,” “intend,” 
“believe,” “may,” “should,” “can have,” “likely” and other words and terms of similar meaning in 
connection with any discussion of the timing or nature of future operating or financial performance or other 
events. 

 
The forward-looking statements contained in this Form C/A and any documents incorporated by reference 
herein or therein are based on reasonable assumptions the Company has made in light of its industry 
experience, perceptions of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other 
factors it believes are appropriate under the circumstances. As you read and consider this Form C/A, you 
should understand that these statements are not guarantees of performance or results. They involve risks, 
uncertainties (many of which are beyond the Company’s control) and assumptions. Although the Company 
believes that these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, you should be aware 
that many factors could affect its actual operating and financial performance and cause its performance to 
differ materially from the performance anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Should one or more 
of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of these assumptions prove incorrect or change, 
the Company’s actual operating and financial performance may vary in material respects from the 
performance projected in these forward-looking statements. 

 
Any forward-looking statement made by the Company in this Form C/A or any documents incorporated by 
reference herein or therein speaks only as of the date of this Form C/A. Factors or events that could cause 
the Company’s actual operating and financial performance to differ may emerge from time to time, and it 
is not possible for the Company to predict all of them. The Company undertakes no obligation to update 
any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, 
except as may be required by law. 
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Disclaimer of Television, Radio, Podcast and Streaming Presentation 
 

The Company’s officers may participate in the filming or recording of a various media and in the course of 
the filming, may present certain business information to the investor panel appearing on the show (the 
“Presentation”). The Company will not pass upon the merits of, certify, approve, or otherwise authorize 
the statements made in the Presentation. The Presentation commentary being made should not be viewed 
as superior or a substitute for the disclosures made in this Form-C. Accordingly, the statements made in the 
Presentation, unless reiterated in the Offering materials provided herein, should not be applied to the 
Company’s business and operations as of the date of this offering. Moreover, the Presentation may involve 
several statements constituting puffery, that is, exaggerations not to be taken literally or otherwise as 
indication of factual data or historical or future performance.  
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EXHIBIT C 
Financials 

  



 

Unaudited Financial Statements 



Financial Statements 

 



INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REVIEW REPORT 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Accountant’s Responsibility 



Accountant’s Conclusion 

Going Concern 
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GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 
BALANCE SHEET 

As of December 31, 2020 
(Unaudited) 

2020 
ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents  $      126,035 
Inventory   34,079 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS       160,114 

FIXED ASSETS 
Property and equipment       129,580 
Accumulated depreciation  -  

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS       129,580 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS       129,580 

TOTAL ASSETS  $           289,694 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Deferred Revenue 254 
Accrued Expenses   46,079 
Accounts Payable   14,306 
Accrued Interest  625 
Loans from members       129,550 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES       190,813 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Discount on Convertible Notes  (50,000) 
Convertible Notes       150,000 
Loans from members       196,566 

TOTAL LONG TERM LIABILITIES       296,566 

TOTAL LIABILITIES       487,379 

MEMBERS' CAPITAL 
Class A units       275,000 
Class B Units 
Additional Paid in Capital - Warrants   50,000 
Accumulated deficit      (522,685) 

TOTAL MEMBERS' CAPITAL      (197,685) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' CAPITAL  $           289,694 
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GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020 
(Unaudited) 

2020 
SALES 
   Sales    - 
      TOTAL SALES  $      -  

COST OF SALES  -  

GROSS PROFIT (LOSS)  $      -  

OPERATING EXPENSES 
General & administrative   93,901 
Contractors and Payroll       249,272 
Research & development   39,550 
Sales & marketing   33,286 
Professional fees       106,052 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES       522,060 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS      (522,060) 

Interest Expense      (625) 

NET INCOME (LOSS)  $          (522,685) 
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GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For Year Ending December 31, 2020 
(Unaudited) 

2020 
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
Net income (loss) ($522,685) 
Add back: Interest expense 625 

Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash provided by operations: 
 (Increase) / decrease in inventory (34,079) 
 (Increase) / decrease in property & equipment (129,580) 
 Increase / (decrease) in deferred revenue 254 
 Increase / (decrease) in accrued expenses 46,079 
 Increase / (decrease) in accounts payable 14,306 

Net cash used in operating activities (625,081) 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities 
 Increase in convertible notes payable 150,000 
 Increase in discount on convertible notes payable (50,000) 
 Increase in loans from members 326,116 

Net change in cash from investing activities 426,116 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities 
 Warrants Issued 50,000 

   Members' contributions 275,000 
Net change in cash from financing activities 325,000 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 126,035 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 0 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $126,035 
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GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 

NOTE 1 – NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Grove Biomedical LLC (which may be referred to as the “Company”, “we,” “us,” or “our”) was registered in New 
York on April 24, 2020. The Company provides reusable N95-style respirators. The Company’s headquarters are in 
Waccabuc, New York. The company began operations in 2020. 

Since inception, the Company has relied on the issuance of notes to related parties (see Note 5), the issuance of 
convertible notes (see Note 6), and the issuance of membership units (see Note 8). The Company has a limited 
operating history. These matters raise substantial concern about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern (see Note 10). During the next twelve months, the Company intends to fund its operations with funding 
from a crowdfunding campaign (see Note 11), the issuance of convertible notes (see Note 11), and funds from 
revenue producing activities, if and when such can be realized. If the Company cannot secure additional short-term 
capital, it may cease operations. These financial statements and related notes thereto do not include any adjustments 
that might result from these uncertainties. 

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Presentation 

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America ("US GAAP"). The accompanying unaudited financial statements do not include all the 
information and notes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all 
adjustments considered necessary for the fair presentation of the unaudited financial statements for the years 
presented have been included.  

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements and footnotes thereto. Actual results could materially differ from these estimates. It is 
reasonably possible that changes in estimates will occur in the near term. 

Significant estimates inherent in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements include valuation of 
provision for refunds and chargebacks, equity transactions and contingencies. 

Risks and Uncertainties 

The Company has a limited operating history. The Company's business and operations are sensitive to general 
business and economic conditions in the United States. A host of factors beyond the Company's control could cause 
fluctuations in these conditions. Adverse conditions may include recession, downturn or otherwise, local 
competition or changes in consumer taste. These adverse conditions could affect the Company's financial condition 
and the results of its operations. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company maintains its cash with a major financial institution located in the United States of America, which it 
believes to be credit worthy. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insures balances up to $250,000. At times, 
the Company may maintain balances in excess of the federally insured limits. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The Company considers short-term, highly liquid investment with original maturities of three months or less at the 
time of purchase to be cash equivalents.  Cash consists of funds held in the Company’s checking account. As of 
December 31, 2020, the Company had $126,035 of cash on hand. 
 
Fixed Assets 
 
Fixed assets are recorded at cost. Expenditures for renewals and improvements that significantly add to the 
productive capacity or extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are 
charged to expense. When equipment is retired or sold, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated 
from the accounts and the resultant gain or loss is reflected in income. 
 
Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method, based on useful lives of the assets which is 5 years for the 
molding tools. 
 
The Company reviews the carrying value of property and equipment for impairment whenever events and 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable from the estimated future cash 
flows expected to result from its use and eventual disposition. In cases where undiscounted expected future cash 
flows are less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount by which the carrying 
value exceeds the fair value of assets. The factors considered by management in performing this assessment include 
current operating results, trends and prospects, the manner in which the property is used, and the effects of 
obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors. Based on this assessment there was no impairment 
for December 31, 2020. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
Generally accepted accounting principles define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or be 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit price) 
and such principles also establish a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value using 
the following definitions (from highest to lowest priority): 

 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for 
identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.  

 Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, including quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or 
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other 
means. 

 Level 3 – Prices or valuation techniques requiring inputs that are both significant to the fair value 
measurement and unobservable. 

 
Stock-Based Compensation 
 
The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation awards in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation-Stock 
Compensation (“ASC 718”). ASC 718 requires all stock-based payments to employees and directors, including 
grants of restricted stock units and stock option awards, to be recognized as expense in the statements of operations 
based on their grant date fair values. Grants of restricted stock units and stock option awards to other service 
providers, referred to as non-employees, are measured based on the grant-date fair value of the award and expensed 
in the Company’s statement of operations over the vesting period.  
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Income Taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company. Accordingly, under the Internal Revenue Code, all taxable income or 
loss flows through to its members. Therefore, no provision for income tax has been recorded in the statements. 
Income from the Company is reported and taxed to members on their individual tax returns.  

The Company complies with FASB ASC 740 for accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a 
company’s financial statements, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for financial 
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those 
benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing 
authorities. FASB ASC 740 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, 
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. Based on the Company’s evaluation, it has been concluded 
that there are no significant uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the Company’s financial statements.  
The Company believes that its income tax positions would be sustained on audit and does not anticipate any 
adjustments that would result in a material change to its financial position. 

Revenue Recognition 

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers ("ASC 606"). Revenue is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of the contracts 
with our customers are satisfied. Prior to the adoption of ASC 606, we recognized revenue when persuasive 
evidence of an arrangement existed, delivery of products had occurred, the sales price was fixed or determinable and 
collectability was reasonably assured. The Company generates revenues by selling reusable N-95-style respirators. 
The Company’s payments are generally collected upfront. For the period ending December 31, 2020 the Company 
recognized $254 in revenue.    

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable due from customers are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms 
requiring payment within 30 days from the invoice date. Accounts receivable are stated at the amount billed to the 
customer. Payments of accounts receivable are allocated to the specific invoices identified on the customer's 
remittance advice or, if unspecified, are applied to the earliest unpaid invoices. As of December 31, 2020, the 
company had no accounts receivable. 

The Company estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon an evaluation of the current status of 
receivables, historical experience, and other factors as necessary. It is reasonably possible that the Company’s 
estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts will change. 

Advertising 

The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In February 2016, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases, that requires 
organizations that lease assets, referred to as "lessees", to recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities for 
the rights and obligations created by those leases with lease terms of more than 12 months. ASU 2016-02 will also 
require disclosures to help investors and other financial statement users better understand the amount, timing, and 
uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases and will include qualitative and quantitative requirements. The new 
standard for nonpublic entities will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years, and early application is permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that the 
updated standard will have on the financial statements and related disclosures. 
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In August 2018, amendments to existing accounting guidance were issued through Accounting Standards Update 
2018-15 to clarify the accounting for implementation costs for cloud computing arrangements.  The amendments 
specify that existing guidance for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use 
software also applies to implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract. The 
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2022, and early application is permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that 
the updated standard will have on the financial statements and related disclosures. 
  
The FASB issues ASUs to amend the authoritative literature in ASC. There have been a number of ASUs to date, 
including those above, that amend the original text of ASC. Management believes that those issued to date either (i) 
provide supplemental guidance, (ii) are technical corrections, (iii) are not applicable to us or (iv) are not expected to 
have a significant impact our financial statements. 
 
NOTE 3 – INVENTORY 
 
Inventory consisted of the following as of December 31:  
 

  2020 
Inventory, net  $                 34,079 

 
 
NOTE 4 – FIXED ASSETS 
 
Fixed assets consist of molding tools. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $129,580 in fixed assets. The 
fixed assets were comprised of molding and tooling equipment that had not yet been placed into service as of 
December 31, 2020, and thus has not yet met the requirements for depreciation.  
 
 
NOTE 5 – NOTES FROM RELATED PARTIES 
 
In September 2020, the Company issued a promissory note totaling $225,000 to a member. The note has an interest 
rate of 8.55% and a maturity date of September 3, 2023. The note is unsecured. The balance of the note is $196,566 
as of December 31, 2020. 
 
In December 2020, the Company issued a promissory note totaling $129,550 to a member. The note has an interest 
rate of 7% and a maturity date of December 6, 2021. The note is unsecured.  
 
The following table shows the future maturities of the notes: 
 

Year Ending December 31,  
2021 $        129,550  
2022 0  
2023 196,566  

Total $        326,116  
 
NOTE 6 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES 
 
In December 2020, the Company issued $150,000 of 5% unsecured convertible notes (the “2020 Notes”) due 
December 10, 2022. The 2020 Notes are unsecured. The 2020 Notes are due on the Maturity Date with accrued 
interest if the 2020 Notes do not convert prior to the maturity date. 
 
The 2020 Notes are automatically convertible into common stock on the completion of an equity offering of 
$2,500,000 or more (“Qualified Financing”). The conversion price is the lesser of 85% of the price per unit of equity 
received by the Company in a Qualified Financing or the price per share equal to the quotient of $4,250,000 divided 



FS - 13 
 

by the fully-diluted capitalization of the Company assuming conversion or exercise of all of the Company’s 
outstanding convertible or exercisable securities, but excluding convertible notes.  
 
The 2020 Notes came with an attached warrant for future right to purchase up to 19,430 units. The warrant has not 
been exercised and expires on December 10, 2022. At the time of issuance, the Company’s fair value per unit was 
approximately $3.86 per unit. The discount on convertible notes payable of $50,000 as of December 31, 2020 will 
be amortized over the life of the convertible note through the maturity date.  
 
NOTE 7 – INCOME TAXES 
 
The Company intends to file its income tax return for the year ending December 31, 2020 by the due date set by the 
Internal Revenue Service. The return will remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service under the 
statute of limitations for a period of three years from the date it is filed. 
 
NOTE 8 – MEMBERS’ CAPITAL  
 
The Company has the following types of membership units: 
 
Class A Units 
 
The Company has Class A membership units (“Class A Units”) that are responsible for appointing the manager of 
the Company. The manager is authorized to make all management decisions on behalf of the members. As of 
December 31, 2020, the Company had issued 794,084 Class A Units.   
 
Class B Units 
 
The Company has Class B membership units (“Class B Units”) that are intended to represent profit interests. The 
Class B Units are issued as compensation for services provided, or to be provided to the Company by employees, 
managers, consultants, independent contractors, and/or advisors. Members holding Class B Units receive a share of 
the profits, but do not assume a share of the management of the Company. Class B Units vest over a period agreed 
to at the time of the grant. When the Company issues Class B Units the number of units issued is taken out of the 
outstanding Class A Units. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had issued 211,416 Class B Units, 6,208 of 
which had vested as of December 31, 2020. The Class B Units vest either on a time-based schedule, or an activity-
based schedule, 131,218 based on time, and 85,000 based on activities. The following table shows the vesting of the 
time-based units of the following years.  
 

Year Ended December 31,  Units Vested 
2021        61,208  
2022        45,041  
2023           9,167  
2024           4,792  

 
NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Litigation 
 
The Company is not currently involved with and does not know of any pending or threatening litigation against the 
Company. 
 
COVID-19 
 
In January 2020, the World Health Organization has declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19) as a 
“Public Health Emergency of International Concern,” which continues to spread throughout the world and has 
adversely impacted global commercial activity and contributed to significant declines and volatility in financial 
markets. The coronavirus outbreak and government responses are creating disruption in global supply chains and 
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adversely impacting many industries. The outbreak could have a continued material adverse impact on economic 
and market conditions and trigger a period of global economic slowdown. The rapid development and fluidity of this 
situation precludes any prediction as to the ultimate material adverse impact of the coronavirus outbreak. 
Nevertheless, the outbreak presents uncertainty and risk with respect to the Company, its performance, and its 
financial results. 
 
NOTE 10 – GOING CONCERN 
 
These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. The Company began operation in 2020. The 
Company’s ability to continue is dependent upon management’s plan to raise additional funds and achieve profitable 
operations. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is not 
able to continue as a going concern.  
 
NOTE 11 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Issuance of Membership Units 
 
In January 2021, the Company issued 4,802 Class B Units to advisors and consultants. The Class B Units vest on 
issuance.  
 
Issuance of Convertible Notes 
 
In February 2021, the Company issued $350,000 of 5% unsecured convertible notes (the “2021 Notes”) due 
December 31, 2022. The 2021 Notes are unsecured. The 2021 Notes are due on the Maturity Date with accrued 
interest if the 2021 Notes do not convert prior to the maturity date. 
 
The 2021 Notes are automatically convertible into common stock on the completion of a Qualified Financing. The 
conversion price is the lesser of 85% of the price per unit of equity received by the Company in a Qualified 
Financing or the price per share equal to the quotient of $4,250,000 divided by the fully-diluted capitalization of the 
Company assuming conversion or exercise of all of the Company’s outstanding convertible or exercisable securities, 
but excluding convertible notes.  
 
The purchaser of the Note of $250,000 was entitled to receive a warrant for future purchase of 13,020 units of the 
Company. No warrants to date have been exercised.  
 
Crowdfunded Offering 
 
The Company is offering (the “Crowdfunded Offering”) up to $1,070,000 in Simple Agreements for Future Equity 
(“SAFEs”). The Company is attempting to raise a minimum amount of $25,000 in this offering and up to $1,070,000 
maximum. The Company must receive commitments from investors totaling the minimum amount by the offering 
deadline listed in the Form C, as amended in order to receive any funds.   
 
The Crowdfunded Offering is being made through OpenDeal Portal LLC (the “Intermediary” aka “Republic” or 
“Republic.co”). The Intermediary will be entitled to receive a 6% commission fee and 2% of the securities issued in 
this offering. 
 
Management’s Evaluation 
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through April 9, 2021, the date the financial statements were available 
to be issued. Based on this evaluation, no additional material events were identified which require adjustment or 
disclosure in the financial statements. 
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EXHIBIT D 
Offering Page found on Intermediary’s Portal. 
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$321,110
1284% of minimum goal raised

744
Investors

3 days
Left to invest

Highlights

Patent-pending, transparent respirator system solves N95 flaws

Shipping in Q1 '21. Saves hospitals >50% on PPE; quickly pays for itself

Canopy
The next generation, reusable respirator — for the world’s well-being
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$100.98 minimum investment · Deal terms
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Problem

Catastrophic global shortage of the N95 respirator:
an expensive, uncomfortable and wasteful half-
century-old design

Every day, healthcare professionals and frontline workers have to deal with Personal Protective Equipment
(PPE) that gets in the way of their comfort, their breathing, and their communication. Disposable N95
respirators currently on the market date back to the 1960's, irritate skin, fog up glasses, force re-breathing of

Led by Google, Johns Hopkins, DaVita, Boston Scientific & Pall alumni

Strong unit economics, razor / blade model & lean cost structure

>$1B annual enterprise pipeline managed by med-device sales veterans

Upcoming pilot with Northwell, New York's largest health system

Little true competition despite high demand for a reusable N95 replacement

Invest in Canopy

$100.98 minimum investment · Deal terms

Republic uses cookies
Learn how we use cookies to improve your experience by reviewing our Terms of Service and Privacy Policy.
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toxic carbon dioxide and create barriers between essential workers and their patients and customers. Not to
mention, these devices create over 100,000 tons of landfill waste per year and can cost hospitals over $1,000
per employee annually.

We deserve better. 

Solution

Meet Canopy: The supremely comfortable,
transparent, reusable, and affordable N95
alternative

Since late March 2020 a team of entrepreneurs, material scientists, biomedical engineers, industrial
designers, clinicians, hospital administrators, and former FDA officials has been quietly working to develop
and commercialize Canopy, the next-generation reusable respirator. Canopy is led by alumni from top
research institutions and innovation hubs including:

Invest in Canopy

$100.98 minimum investment · Deal terms

Since late March 2020 a team of entrepreneurs, material scientists, biomedical engineers, industrial
designers clinicians hospital administrators and former FDA officials has been quietly working to develop
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(Canopy is not affiliated with, nor endorsed by, the above institutions)

Shipping in Q1 2021, every aspect of Canopy was developed based on direct feedback from healthcare
professionals and frontline workers. Over the past seven months our team of Johns-Hopkins-trained
biomedical engineers and… Read more

Product

Clinician-designed, hospital-grade respirator with
proprietary replacement filter
             

Invest in Canopy

$100.98 minimum investment · Deal terms
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Shipping in Q1 2021, every aspect of Canopy was developed based on direct feedback from healthcare
professionals and frontline workers. Over the past seven months our team of Johns-Hopkins-trained
biomedical engineers and former Nike industrial designers brought the concept to life. Finally, Canopy built a
supply chain of some of the world's largest, most sophisticated medical device and filtration contract
manufacturers and logistics providers to rapidly deploy Canopy on a mass-scale.

Invest in Canopy

$100.98 minimum investment · Deal terms
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Patent-pending filter: Designed by a… Read more

Traction

Fulfilling initial shipments and launching hospital
pilots in Q1 2021
While operating in stealth mode, Canopy has completed tooling and validation testing, has signed multi-
year agreements with some of the world's largest OEM medical device and filtration manufacturers. Our
supply chain and global fulfillment infrastructure is ready to begin fulfilling orders in January. Canopy can
fulfill $50MM in 2021 order volume without making additional capital investment in production or fulfillment
infrastructure.

Northwell Health, New York’s largest health system, will lead an evaluation comparing Canopy against
incumbent disposable N95s to demonstrate key benefits such as comfort, breathability, patient experience
and economic value.… Read more Invest in Canopy

$100.98 minimum investment · Deal terms
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Customers

Taking care of the people who take care of us
Canopy was created in response to a mass shortage of N95 respirators at the onset of COVID-19. Relying on
the expertise of healthcare professionals, we designed Canopy so that anyone on the front lines can do their
job without the fear of putting themselves or their loved ones at risk.

For those of us who don’t work on the front lines, we too have seen the benefits of having a comfortable and
reusable mask to protect ourselves, and the people we love, from fast-spreading illness, wildfire smoke, and
poor air quality.

Business model

Hybrid B2B & B2C strategy with recurring
subscription 
The Canopy team has developed a highly capital-efficient operating model that ensures product and
operational excellence through strategic partnerships with best-in-class sales, mass-scale contract
manufacturing, third-party logistics and back-office service providers. These partnerships are structured
primarily on a variable cost or commission basis, allowing Canopy to remain lean while ensuring supply
chain stability and that the resources to support rapid growth are available on demand.

As a company founded in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, Canopy is not saddled with traditional
overhead such as office leases or large travel budgets. Our profitable… Read more

Invest in Canopy
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Market

A $17B+ market
With the mass shortage of N95 respirators, we stand to capture a meaningful share of a >$17B market.
Beyond the immediate pandemic-related need, institutional buyers are in the market to convert away from
disposable respirators to reusable solutions.

While incumbent disposable supply has been steadily increasing to meet demand, a desire to convert away
from disposables, matched with few reusable alternatives, creates a major opportunity for Canopy.

Canopy's novel filter design doesn't use globally-scarce meltblown textiles. Every other attempt to design a
new mask still calls for the same, unavailable raw material already used in traditional N95s.

Canopy expects to be the first NIOSH-certified reusable… Read more
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Competition

Desire to abandon disposable N95s met with few
reusable alternatives

The team at Canopy worked with healthcare professionals to create a respirator that solves for all the pain
points of current N95 respirators.

According to recent news reports, Canopy's closest competitor, Envo Mask, introduced their device in Q4
2019 and is selling 1600-2000 units per day. At MSRP, that represents a $46MM - $58MM annual run
rate. Canopy's design solves for all of the Envo Mask shortcomings. And ClearMask, a transparent
disposable non-N95 surgical mask, is on track to hit $40MM of sales in 2020.

Vision

Creating sustainable products that increase
comfort, safety, and performance
Canopy is the next generation respirator, but it’s also so much more. It’s a pledge we can each make to the

Invest in Canopy
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disposable non N95 surgical mask, is on track to hit $40MM of sales in 2020.
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py g p , p g
well-being of the people and places we love.

Beyond the initial respirator, Canopy’s mission is to protect the world’s well-being by creating sustainable
products that increase comfort, safety, and performance. We are exploring additional opportunities to
replace single-use products in the clinical setting with superior-performance, more economically efficient
alternatives while simultaneously reducing waste.

We’re proud to be a certified B Corporation pending, the highest rating a company our age (less than 12
months) can achieve, and Canopy sales … Read more

Investors

Capital raise of $1M
To date, we’ve built Canopy exclusively with founder capital from Grove North Ventures, our founder and
CEO's investment vehicle.

To supplement our investment, Canopy is raising up to $1.07M to:

Accelerate sales and marketing initiatives

Build inventory for rapid fulfillment

Launch multi-channel paid media campaign

Pursue product roadmap

Expand sales and marketing team to support demand

Invest in Canopy
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Build inventory for rapid fulfillment
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With the current raise, we’ll be able to achieve positive cash flow and set in-motion a substantial inventory
build, enabling us to quickly fulfill orders and get Canopy into the hands of those frontline workers who need
it most.

Founders

Meet our founder & CEO Joe Rosenberg
Canopy was created by scientists, industrial designers and healthcare professionals who have studied and
worked at leading research institutions and innovation centers.

Invest in Canopy
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From 2010-2018, Joe was intimately involved in Google’s efforts to revolutionize retail e-commerce, leading
the partnership development and management strategy for projects including Google Express and
Purchases on Google. He’s partnered with the country’s largest retailers to build innovative business growth
strategies.

Joe has created first-of-their-kind partnership deals between Google and organizations in both the retail and
financial services industries, including negotiating agreements impacting more than $1B of Google e-
commerce… Read more

Deal terms

Minimum investment

$100.98

The smallest investment amount that Canopy is accepting

Invest in Canopy

$100.98 minimum investment · Deal terms
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Bonus perks
In addition to your Crowd IPA, you'll receive perks for investing in Canopy.

Invest

$100
Receive

Invest

$250
Receive

The smallest investment amount that Canopy is accepting. 

Type of security

Crowd IPA 

Crowd IPA (Interests Purchase Agreement) is a simple agreement to acquire membership units of a

limited liability company.

Valuation

$6,500,000

The stated valuation of the company before any subscriptions are taken in to account. Each dollar

invested in Canopy will increase the valuation by that same amount, assuming the offering is

successful.  

Price per security

$5.61

The price of each membership unit.  

Funding goal

$25,003.77 – $1,069,995.30

Canopy needs to raise $25K before the deadline. The maximum amount Canopy is willing to raise is

$1.07M.  

Deadline

May 1, 2021

Canopy needs to reach their minimum funding goal before the deadline (May 1, 2021 at 2:59 AM EDT).

If they don’t, all investments will be refunded.

$100 Crowd IPA

10% OFF Canopy "Starter Kit"

$250 Crowd IPA

25% OFF Canopy "Starter Kit"

Invest in Canopy

$100.98 minimum investment · Deal terms
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72

investors
Invest

$500
Receive

46

investors
Invest

$1,000
Receive

19

investors
Invest

$2,000
Receive

5

investors
Invest

$5,000
Receive

1

investor
Invest

$10,000
Receive

I t R i

$500 Crowd IPA

50% OFF Canopy "Starter Kit"

Limited (178 left of 250)

$1,000 Crowd IPA

1 Canopy "Starter Kit" (to be sent to you or donated to a frontline

worker/organization of your choice)

Limited (79 left of 125)

$2,000 Crowd IPA

2 Canopy "Starter Kits" (to be sent to you or donated to frontline

workers/an organization of your choice)

Limited (56 left of 75)

$5,000 Crowd IPA

3 Canopy "Starter Kits" (to be sent to you or donated to frontline

workers/an organization of your choice)

Canopy "Swag Bag"

Invitation to participate in Town Hall with Canopy founders

Limited (20 left of 25)

$10,000 Crowd IPA

4 Canopy "Starter Kits" (to be sent to you or donated to frontline

workers/an organization of your choice)

Canopy "Swag Bag" with handwritten thank you letter

30 min 1:1 call with Canopy founders

Receive monthly investor update emails

Limited (9 left of 10)
Invest in Canopy
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Invest

$25,000
Receive

Invest

$50,000
Receive

$25,000 Crowd IPA

5 Canopy "Starter Kits" (to be sent to you or donated to frontline workers/an

organization of your choice)

Canopy "Swag Bag" with handwritten thank you letter

1 hour 1:1 call with Canopy founders

Receive monthly investor update emails

Limited (5 left of 5)

$50,000 Crowd IPA

6 Canopy "Starter Kits" (to be sent to you or donated to frontline workers/an

organization of your choice)

Canopy "Swag Bag" with handwritten thank you letter

1 hour 1:1 call with Canopy founders

Receive monthly investor update emails

Invitation to tour our manufacturing operations in 2021 pending COVID travel

restrictions

Limited (2 left of 2)

Why others invested See all (115)

Canopy is a transparent respirator

solving N95 flaws. It saves hospital

over 50% on PPE. Led by Google,

Johns Hopkins &amp; Boston

Scientific alumni, this investment

comes with a $1B / yr enterprise

pipeline.

Kathryn Cartini
ACTIVE INVESTOR

3 months ago

I think the business idea and

problem-solving capability of the

product are valuable. This investment

is also a hedge in the portfolio against

the possibility of the pandemic being

much longer than we hoped.

Marvill Martin
ACTIVE INVESTOR

3 months ago

I work in hea

or not, this p

revolutionar

would be su

is so needed

Da
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About Canopy

Legal Name Grove Biomedical LLC

Founded Apr 2020

Form New York LLC

Employees 0

Website onecanopy.com

Social Media   

Headquarters 282 Katonah Avenue, Katonah, NY, United States

Canopy Team
Everyone helping build Canopy, not limited to employees

Edward Normandin,
JD, MBA
Legal Counsel

Joe Rosenberg
Founder & CEO

Howard Hoff, CPA,
CGMA
Accounting and Advisory

Doug Clift
Head of Operations

Jennifer
McManamey
Medical Device Risk
Management &
Insurance

Jim Walker
Head of Sales and
Marketing

Qing Xiang Yee
Head of Product

Blair Roth
Commercialization
Manager

Andrew McAleavey
Patent Agent

Jacqueline Terry
Head of Fulfillment &
Logistics

Narissa Joyner, MD
Lead Clinical Advisor

Paloma Aelyon
Storyteller

Kirby Smith
User Experience
Researcher

John Strong
Healthcare Strategy

Joshua Boggs
Product Designer

Kwame Ulmer
Regulatory Affairs
Advisor

Debbie Prenatt
Sustainability Advisor

Tom Gsell, PhD
Lead Filtration Advisor

Victoria Lee, PhD
Material Science Advisor

Armin Cline
Enterprise Healthcare
Sales

John Connolly, EdD
Physician Engagement
Advisor

Kim Rosenberg
Advisory Board Chair

David Narrow
Life Sciences Advisor

Amanda Gordon
Customer Experience
Advisor
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Researcher
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Joshua Boggs
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KwK ame Ulmer
Regulatory Affairs
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James McGrath,
PhD
Nanoscale Filtration
Advisor

Adam Pozdro
Industrial & Graphic
Design

Noelle Cassier
Digital Marketing &
Community Engagement

Spencer Joynt
Creative Advisor

Garrett DeRossett
Creative Advisor

FAQ

What is the regulatory path for Canopy?
Canopy is regulated by NIOSH (the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health)--a CDC division--subject
to a memorandum of understanding with the FDA. We anticipate NIOSH certification in Q1 2021. The Canopy
team has worked in close collaboration with a 12-year FDA veteran to ensure compliance with applicable
regulations.

When will Canopy be available for distribution/fulfillment of orders?
Our Canopy respirators will be available for shipping in the first quarter of 2021.

What happens to the market for Canopy when widespread access to a COVID vaccine
becomes available?
We at Canopy are hopeful for a fast, effective and safe COVID vaccine rollout. That said, it will take months or
potentially years for widespread distribution and herd immunity. We do not anticipate a major drop off in respirator
demand for quite some time. We also anticipate large purchases from customers looking to stockpile a solution
for future preparedness. Finally, there's always been and will continue to be need for N95 respirators across many
industries including manufacturing, science, defense, and more. We anticipate those markets will continue to
grow.

What is your intellectual property strategy?

What is the regulatory path for Canopy?

When will Canopy be available for distribution/fulfillment of orders?

What happens to the market for Canopy when widespread access to a COVID vaccine becomes
available?

What is your intellectual property strategy?Invest in Canopy
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Canopy has both utility and design patents pending with the USPTO which have been fast tracked as part of the
COVID TrackOne innovation program. We anticipate patents will be granted in 2021.

How will you utilize funds?
To date we have funded the company privately with founder capital and do not need dilutive capital to bring a
federally certified product to market. We are raising a modest round to build up inventory, roll out an aggressive
sampling and advertising advertising program, have the liquidity to quickly fulfill large orders and invest in larger
production capacity if necessary, while continuing our new product development.

Show all FAQ

How will you utilize funds?
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EXHIBIT E 
 

Subscription Agreement for Class CF Units 
Beneficial Interest in Omnibus Class CF Instrument 

Representing Economic Interest in 
Class CF Units 

  



 

 

THIS INSTRUMENT HAS BEEN ISSUED PURSUANT TO SECTION 4(A)(6) OF THE SECURITIES 
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND NEITHER IT NOR ANY SECURITIES 
ISSUABLE PURSUANT HERETO HAVE BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR 
THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE.  THESE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR 
OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED EXCEPT AS PERMITTED BY RULE 
501 OF REGULATION CROWDFUNDING UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE 
STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR 
EXEMPTION THEREFROM.   
 
IF THE SUBSCRIBER LIVES OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES, IT IS THE SUBSCRIBER’S 
RESPONSIBILITY TO FULLY OBSERVE THE LAWS OF ANY RELEVANT TERRITORY OR 
JURISDICTION OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN CONNECTION WITH ANY SUBSCRIPTION 
AND PURCHASE OF THE SECURITIES, INCLUDING OBTAINING REQUIRED GOVERNMENTAL 
OR OTHER CONSENTS OR OBSERVING ANY OTHER REQUIRED LEGAL OR OTHER 
FORMALITIES. THE COMPANY RESERVES THE RIGHT TO DENY THE PURCHASE OF THE 
SECURITIES BY ANY SUBSCRIBER, WHETHER FOREIGN OR DOMESTIC. 
   

GROVE BIOMEDICAL, LLC 
 

Subscription Agreement for Class CF Units 
Beneficial Interest in Omnibus Class CF Instrument 

Representing Economic Interest in 
Class CF Units 

 
Series 20[XX] 

 
This Subscription Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between the undersigned (the 

“Subscriber”) and Grove Biomedical, LLC, a New York limited liability company (the “Company”), 
effective as of [Date of Subscription Agreement]. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the 
respective meanings ascribed thereto in the Form of Omnibus Class CF Instrument attached hereto as 
Exhibit A (the “Omnibus Class CF Instrument”). In consideration of the mutual covenants set forth in this 
Agreement and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Subscriber and the Company hereby agree as follows. 

 
1. Subscription. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Subscriber hereby 

subscribes $[________] (the “Subscription Amount”) for the right to an indirect economic interest 
in the Company’s Class CF Units (the “Subscription”), to be represented by a pro rata beneficial 
interest in an Omnibus Class CF Instrument issued by the Company to the trustee and custodian 
designated in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument, Prime Trust, LLC (“Trustee and Custodian”), with 
Trustee and Custodian as legal record owner of the Class CF Unit (the “Beneficial Interest”, as 
defined and calculated in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument provided below as Exhibit A). 

 
2. General Terms and Conditions.  

 
(a) Acceptance and Conditions. The Company reserves the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, 

to accept or reject the Subscription in whole or in part. The valid execution of this Agreement 
shall be conditioned upon the following terms being met: (i) Subscriber’s completion of the 
investment commitment process on the Portal hosting the Company’s offering; (ii) Subscriber’s 
delivery of the Subscription Amount to an escrow account held for the benefit of the Company’s 
offering, in the manner and method provided in the Company’s offering disclosures; (iii) 
Subscriber’s execution of the Omnibus Class CF Instrument; (iv) Subscriber’s execution of a 
separate custody account agreement by the Subscriber directly with the Trustee and Custodian in 



 

 

the form attached hereto as Exhibit B; and (v) the Company counter-signing this Agreement and 
the Omnibus Class CF Instrument.  
 

(b) Nature of Interest in Omnibus Class CF Instrument; Limitation on Participation in Company 
Affairs. The Company has entered into, or expects to enter into, separate subscription agreements 
substantially similar in all material respects to this Agreement with other subscribers, and such 
subscribers shall also hold pro rata beneficial interests (based on their respective subscription 
amounts) in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to 
provide the Subscriber, or any other subscribers, as a holder of a Beneficial Interest, (i) with any 
voting, information or inspection, or dividend rights not explicitly provided by the Omnibus Class 
CF Instrument (or the Subscriber’s Beneficial Interest therein), and such rights shall be limited 
exclusively to those provided for in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument, or (ii) any right to be 
deemed the legal record owner of the Class CF Units for any purpose, nor will anything in this 
Agreement be construed to confer on the Subscriber any of the rights of a Class CF Member of 
the Company or any right to vote for the election of managers or directors or upon any matter 
submitted to Members of the Company at any meeting thereof, or to give or withhold consent to 
any corporate action or to receive notice of meetings, or to receive subscription rights or 
otherwise, unless provided explicitly herein or in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument. 

 
3. Subscriber Representations. By executing this Agreement and the Omnibus Class CF Instrument, 

the Subscriber hereby represents and warrants to the Company and to the Trustee and Custodian as 
follows: 
 
(a) The Subscriber has full legal capacity, power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement 

and the Omnibus Class CF Instrument to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder.  Each 
of this Agreement and the Omnibus Class CF Instrument constitutes a legal, valid and binding 
obligation of the Subscriber, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as limited by 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws of general application relating to or affecting the 
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and general principles of equity.  
 

(b) The Subscriber has been advised that the Omnibus Class CF Instrument (and the Subscriber’s 
Beneficial Interest therein) and the underlying securities have not been registered under the 
Securities Act or any state securities laws and are offered and sold hereby pursuant to Section 
4(a)(6) of the Securities Act (“Regulation CF”).  The Subscriber understands that neither the 
Omnibus Class CF Instrument (nor the Subscriber’s Beneficial Interest therein) nor the underlying 
securities may be resold or otherwise transferred unless they are registered or exempt from 
registration under the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws or pursuant to Rule 501 
of Regulation CF, in which case certain state transfer restrictions may apply. Subscriber further 
understands and agrees that its Beneficial Interest and the securities to be acquired by the 
Subscriber thereunder shall be subject to further the terms and conditions set forth in the Omnibus 
Class CF Instrument, including without limitation the transfer restrictions set forth in Section 5 
of the Omnibus Class CF Instrument. 

 
(c) The Subscriber is purchasing its Beneficial Interest and the economic interest in the securities 

represented thereby for its own account for investment, not as a nominee or agent, and not with a 
view to, or for resale in connection with, the distribution thereof, and the Subscriber has no present 
intention of selling, granting any participation in, or otherwise distributing the same. The 
Subscriber understands that the Omnibus Class CF Instrument (and the Subscriber’s Beneficial 
Interest therein) and the underlying securities have not been, and will not be, registered under the 
Securities Act or any state securities laws, by reason of specific exemptions under the provisions 
thereof which depend upon, among other things, the bona fide nature of the investment intent and 
the accuracy of the Subscriber’s representations as expressed herein. 



 

 

 
(d) The Subscriber agrees to become a beneficial owner of a Class CF Interest and acknowledges that 

Trustee and Custodian shall be the legal record owner of the Class CF Interest.  The Subscriber 
grants the Trustee and Custodian the authority to take all actions necessary on Subscriber’s with 
respect to the Class CF Interest, including without limitation executing a Joinder to the Company 
Agreement as legal record owner of the Class CF Interest. 

 
 
(e) The Subscriber has, and at all times under this Agreement will maintain, a custody account in 

good standing with the Trustee and Custodian pursuant to a valid and binding custody account 
agreement. 
 

(f) The Subscriber acknowledges, and is making the Subscription and purchasing its Beneficial 
Interest in compliance with, the investment limitations set forth in Rule 100(a)(2) of 
Regulation CF. 

 
(g) The Subscriber acknowledges that (i) the Subscriber has received all the information the 

Subscriber has requested from the Company and (ii) such information is necessary or appropriate 
for deciding whether to make the Subscription and acquire its Beneficial Interest and the 
underlying securities.  
 

(h) The Subscriber has had an opportunity to (i) ask questions and receive answers from the Company 
regarding the terms and conditions of the Omnibus Class CF Instrument (and the Subscriber’s 
Beneficial Interest) and the underlying securities, and (ii) to obtain any additional information 
necessary to verify the accuracy of the information given to the Subscriber.  In deciding to make 
the Subscription and purchase its Beneficial Interest, the Subscriber is not relying on the advice 
or recommendations of the Company, the Portal or any other third-party, and the Subscriber has 
made its own independent decision that an investment in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument and 
the underlying securities is suitable and appropriate for the Subscriber.  The Subscriber 
understands that no federal, state or other agency has passed upon the merits or risks of an 
investment in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument and the underlying securities or made any finding 
or determination concerning the fairness or advisability of such investment. 
 

(i) The Subscriber understands and acknowledges that as the holder of a Beneficial Interest, the 
Subscriber shall have no voting, information or inspection rights with respect to the Company, 
aside from any disclosure requirements the Company is required to make under relevant securities 
regulations, or as provided in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument. 

(j) The Subscriber understands and acknowledges that the Company has entered into, or expects to 
enter into, separate subscription agreements substantially similar in all material respects to this 
Agreement with other subscribers, and that such subscribers shall also hold pro rata Beneficial 
Interests (based on their respective subscription amounts) in the Omnibus Class CF Instrument. 
 

(k) The Subscriber understands that no public market now exists for any of the securities issued by 
the Company, and that the Company has made no assurances that a public market will ever exist 
for the Omnibus Class CF Instrument, the underlying securities or any other class of the 
Company’s securities. 
 

(l) Subscriber is not (i) a citizen or resident of a geographic area in which the purchase or holding of 
the Omnibus Class CF Instrument and the underlying securities is prohibited by applicable law, 
decree, regulation, treaty, or administrative act, (ii) a citizen or resident of, or located in, a 
geographic area that is subject to U.S. or other applicable sanctions or embargoes, or (iii) an 
individual, or an individual employed by or associated with an entity, identified on the U.S. 



 

 

Department of Commerce’s Denied Persons or Entity List, the U.S. Department of Treasury’s 
Specially Designated Nationals List, the U.S. Department of State’s Debarred Parties List or other 
applicable sanctions lists. Subscriber hereby represents and agrees that if Subscriber’s country of 
residence or other circumstances change such that the above representations are no longer 
accurate, Subscriber will immediately notify Company. Subscriber further represents and 
warrants that it will not knowingly sell or otherwise transfer any interest in the Omnibus Class 
CF Instrument or the underlying securities to a party subject to U.S. or other applicable sanctions. 
 

(m) The Subscriber further acknowledges that it has read, understood, and had ample opportunity to 
ask Company questions about its business plans, “Risk Factors,” and all other information 
presented in the Company’s Form C and the offering documentation filed with the SEC.  

 
(n) The Subscriber understands the substantial likelihood that the Subscriber will suffer a TOTAL 

LOSS of all capital invested, and that Subscriber is prepared to bear the risk of such total loss. 
 

(o) The Subscriber understands and agrees that its Beneficial Interest does not entitle the Subscriber, 
as a holder of such interest, to vote, execute consents, or to otherwise represent the interests 
thereunder. The Subscriber acknowledges and agrees that the Trustee and Custodian shall vote, 
execute consents, and otherwise make elections pursuant to the terms of the Omnibus Class CF 
Instrument. 
 

(p) The Subscriber understands and agrees that, except as otherwise agreed by the Company in its 
sole discretion, the Subscriber will not be entitled to exchange its Beneficial Interest for a Class 
CF Instrument in registered form or other form of security instrument not otherwise contemplated 
by this Agreement. 

 
(q) If the Subscriber is not a United States person (as defined by Section 7701(a)(30) of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), the Subscriber hereby represents that it has satisfied itself 
as to the full observance of the laws of its jurisdiction in connection with any invitation, 
subscription and payment for, and continued ownership of, its Beneficial Interest and the 
underlying securities will not violate any applicable securities or other laws of the Subscriber’s 
jurisdiction, including (i) the legal requirements within its jurisdiction for the Subscription and 
the purchase of its Beneficial Interest; (ii) any foreign exchange restrictions applicable to such 
Subscription and purchase; (iii) any governmental or other consents that may need to be obtained; 
and (iv) the income tax and other tax consequences, if any, that may be relevant to the purchase, 
holding, conversion, redemption, sale, or transfer of its Beneficial Interest and the underlying 
securities. The Subscriber acknowledges that the Company has taken no action in foreign 
jurisdictions with respect to the Omnibus Class CF Instrument (and the Subscriber’s Beneficial 
Interest therein) and the underlying securities. 
 

(r) If the Subscriber is an entity: (i) such entity is duly formed, validly existing and in good standing 
under the laws of the state of its formation, and has the power and authority to enter into this 
Agreement; (ii) the execution, delivery and performance by the Subscriber of the Agreement is 
within the power of the Subscriber and has been duly authorized by all necessary actions on the 
part of the Subscriber; (iii) to the knowledge of the Subscriber, it is not in violation of its current 
organizational documents, any material statute, rule or regulation applicable to the Subscriber; 
and (iv) the performance the Agreement does not and will not violate any material judgment, 
statute, rule or regulation applicable to the Subscriber; result in the acceleration of any material 
indenture or contract to which the Subscriber is a party or by which it is bound, or otherwise result 
in the creation or imposition of any lien upon the Subscription Amount. 

 



 

 

4. Dispute Resolution; Arbitration. 
 
(a) THE SUBSCRIBER AND THE COMPANY (I) WAIVE THE SUBSCRIBER’S AND THE 

COMPANY’S RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO HAVE ANY AND ALL DISPUTES, 
CONTROVERSIES OR CLAIMS ARISING OUT OF, RELATING TO OR IN CONNECTION 
WITH THIS AGREEMENT RESOLVED IN A COURT, AND (II) WAIVE THE 
SUBSCRIBER’S AND THE COMPANY’S RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL. 
Instead, any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of, relating to or in connection with this 
Agreement, including the breach or validity thereof, shall be determined by final and binding 
arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association (the “AAA”) under its 
Commercial Rules.  The award rendered by the arbitrator shall be final, non-appealable and 
binding on the parties and may be entered and enforced in any court having jurisdiction.  There 
shall be one arbitrator agreed to by the parties within twenty (20) days of receipt by respondent 
of the request for arbitration or, in default thereof, appointed by the AAA in accordance with its 
Commercial Rules.  The place of arbitration shall be Westchester County, New York.  Except as 
may be required by law or to protect a legal right, neither a party nor the arbitrator may disclose 
the existence, content or results of any arbitration without the prior written consent of the other 
parties. 
 

(b) No Class Arbitrations, Class Actions or Representative Actions. Any dispute, controversy or 
claim arising out of, relating to or in connection with this Agreement is personal to the Subscriber 
and the Company and will be resolved solely through individual arbitration and will not be 
brought as a class arbitration, class action or any other type of representative proceeding. There 
will be no class arbitration or arbitration in which the Subscriber attempts to resolve a dispute, 
controversy or claim as a representative of another subscriber or group of subscribers. Further, a 
dispute, controversy or claim cannot be brought as a class or other type of representative action, 
whether within or outside of arbitration, or on behalf of any other subscriber or group of 
subscribers. 
 

5. Miscellaneous. 
 

(a) Any provision of this Agreement may be amended, waived or modified only upon the written 
consent of the Company and the Subscriber. 

 
(b) Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement will be deemed sufficient when delivered 

personally or by overnight courier or sent by email to the relevant address listed on the signature 
page or otherwise provided, or 48 hours after being deposited in the U.S. mail as certified or 
registered mail with postage prepaid, addressed to the party to be notified at such party’s address 
listed on the signature page, as subsequently modified by written notice. 

 
(c) Neither this Agreement nor the rights contained herein may be assigned, by operation of law or 

otherwise, by either party without the prior written consent of the other; provided, however, that 
this Agreement and/or the rights contained herein may be assigned without the Company’s 
consent by the Subscriber to (i) to a member of the family of the Subscriber or the equivalent, to 
a trust controlled by the Subscriber, to a trust created for the benefit of a member of the family of 
the Subscriber or the equivalent, or in connection with the death or divorce of the Subscriber or 
other similar circumstance, (ii) any other entity who directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled 
by or is under common control with the Subscriber, including, without limitation, any general 
partner, managing member, officer or director of the Subscriber, or any venture capital fund now 
or hereafter existing which is controlled by one or more general partners or managing members 
of, or shares the same management company with, the Subscriber and that any such assignment 
shall require such transferee to assume the rights and obligations of the Subscriber’s custody 



 

 

account agreement with the Trustee and Custodian  in accordance with the assignment provision 
thereof, or otherwise execute a custody account agreement with the designated Trustee and 
Custodian ; and provided, further, that the Company may assign this Agreement in whole, without 
the consent of the Subscriber, in connection with a reincorporation to change the Company’s 
domicile. 

 
(d) In the event any one or more of the terms or provisions of this Agreement is for any reason held 

to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, in whole or in part or in any respect, or in the event that 
any one or more of the terms or provisions of this Agreement operate or would prospectively 
operate to invalidate this Agreement, then such term(s) or provision(s) only will be deemed null 
and void and will not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement and the remaining 
terms and provisions of this Agreement will remain operative and in full force and effect and will 
not be affected, prejudiced, or disturbed thereby. 
 

(e) This Agreement does not create any form of partnership, joint venture or any other similar 
relationship between the Subscriber and the Company. 

 
(f) All rights and obligations hereunder will be governed by the laws of the State of New York, 

without regard to the conflicts of law provisions of such jurisdiction. 
 

(g) This Agreement and the Omnibus Class CF Instrument constitute the entire agreement between 
the Subscriber and the Company relating to the Omnibus Class CF Instrument (and the 
Subscriber’s Beneficial Interest therein) and the underlying securities; provided further, that 
Subscriber agrees to be bound by the terms of the Omnibus Class CF Instrument applicable to 
Holders. 

 
(Signature page follows) 



 

 

 
  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Subscription Agreement to be duly 
executed and delivered 
 
 
SUBSCRIBER: 
 
  
Print Name 
  
  
  
Signature 
 
  
Print Name of Additional Signatory 
  
  
  
 
Additional Signature 
(If joint tenants or tenants in common) 
 
Address: 
Email: 
 
 
Accepted and Agreed: 
 

COMPANY: 
 
GROVE BIOMEDICAL, LLC 
 

 
 

TRUSTEE AND CUSTODIAN: 
 
PRIME TRUST, LLC,  
 

 
By:                           By: 
Name: Joseph Rosenberg  Name: 
Title: Managing Member  Title: 
    
Date:    Date: 
 Address: 282 Katonah Avenue #537,
Katonah, NY 10536 
Email: joe@onecanopy.com 

 Address: 
Email: 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF OMNIBUS CLASS CF INSTRUMENT  
 
 

THIS INSTRUMENT HAS BEEN ISSUED PURSUANT TO SECTION 4(A)(6) OF THE SECURITIES 
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND NEITHER IT NOR ANY SECURITIES 
ISSUABLE PURSUANT HERETO HAVE BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR 
THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE.  THESE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR 
OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED EXCEPT AS PERMITTED BY RULE 
501 OF REGULATION CROWDFUNDING UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE 
STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR 
EXEMPTION THEREFROM.   
 
 

GROVE BIOMEDICAL, LLC 
 

OMNIBUS CLASS CF INSTRUMENT 
Series 2021  

 
THIS CERTIFIES THAT in exchange for the payment by the subscribers for beneficial interests 

herein (the “Subscribers”) of an aggregate subscription amount of $[________] (the “Omnibus Class CF 
Instrument Amount”), Grove Biomedical, LLC, a New York limited liability company (the “Company”), 
hereby issues to Prime Trust, LLC, as custodian and trustee (“Prime Trust”), ________ of the Company’s 
Class CF Units (defined below), to be held by Prime Trust subject to the terms set forth below.  
 
See Section 2 for certain additional defined terms. 
 
1. Instrument 
 
This Omnibus Class CF Instrument initially shall entitle each Subscriber to a beneficial ownership interest 
herein that represents a number of Class CF Units equal to the quotient of such Subscriber’s Subscription 
Amount divided by $5.61 (the “Beneficial Interest”). The number of Class CF Units under this instrument 
shall be subject to adjustment by the Company in the event of any share subdivision, split, dividend, 
reclassification, combination, consolidation or similar transaction affecting the Membership Interests or the 
Company. 
 
2. Definitions 

 
“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
 
“Holder” means the holder of a Beneficial Interest in this Omnibus Class CF Instrument, whether as 

a Subscriber or as a permitted transferee thereof. 
 
“IPO” means: (A) the completion of an underwritten initial public offering of Membership Interests 

by the Company pursuant to: (I) a final prospectus for which a receipt is issued by a securities commission of 
the United States or of a province of Canada, or (II) a registration statement which has been filed with the 
United States Securities and Exchange Commission and is declared effective to enable the sale of Membership 
Interests by the Company to the public, which in each case results in such equity securities being listed and 
posted for trading or quoted on a recognized exchange; or (B) the completion of a reverse merger or take-over 
whereby an entity (I) whose securities are listed and posted for trading or quoted on a recognized exchange, 
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or (II) is a reporting issuer in the United States or the equivalent in any foreign jurisdiction, acquires all of the 
issued and outstanding Membership Interests of the Company     . 
 

“Lock-up Period” means the period commencing on the date of the final prospectus relating to the 
Company’s IPO, and ending on the date specified by the Company and the managing underwriter(s). Such 
period shall not exceed one hundred eighty (180) days, or such other period as may be requested by the 
Company or an underwriter to accommodate regulatory restrictions on (i) the publication or other distribution 
of research reports, and (ii) analyst recommendations and opinions. 

 
 “Membership Interests” means the Membership Interests of the Company, including, without 
limitation, Class CF Interests to which the Class CF Units relate. 

 
“Portal” means OpenDeal Portal LLC, a registered securities crowdfunding portal CRD#283874, or 

a qualified successor. 
 

“Regulation CF” means Regulation Crowdfunding promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933. 
 
3. Company Representations 
 

(a) The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under 
the laws of the state of its incorporation, and has the power and authority to own, lease and operate its 
properties and carry on its business as now conducted. 
 

(b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Omnibus Class CF 
Instrument is within the power of the Company and, other than with respect to the actions to be taken when 
equity is to be issued to Prime Trust, has been duly authorized by all necessary actions on the part of the 
Company.  This Omnibus Class CF Instrument constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the 
Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as limited by bankruptcy, 
insolvency or other laws of general application relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights 
generally and general principles of equity.  To the knowledge of the Company, it is not in violation of (i) its 
current charter or bylaws; (ii) any material statute, rule or regulation applicable to the Company; or (iii) any 
material indenture or contract to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound, where, in each case, 
such violation or default, individually, or together with all such violations or defaults, could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company. 
 

(c) The performance and consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Omnibus Class 
CF Instrument do not and will not: (i) violate any material judgment, statute, rule or regulation applicable to 
the Company; (ii) result in the acceleration of any material indenture or contract to which the Company is a 
party or by which it is bound; or (iii) result in the creation or imposition of any lien upon any property, asset 
or revenue of the Company or the suspension, forfeiture, or nonrenewal of any material permit, license or 
authorization applicable to the Company, its business or operations. 
 

(d) No consents or approvals are required in connection with the performance of this Class CF 
Instrument, other than: (i) the Company’s corporate approvals; (ii) any qualifications or filings under 
applicable securities laws; and (iii) necessary corporate approvals for the authorization of the issuable 
Membership Interests pursuant to Section 1. 
 

(e) The Company is (i) not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the 
Exchange Act, (ii) not an investment company as defined in Section 3 of the Investment Company Act of 
1940 (the “Investment Company Act”), and is not excluded from the definition of investment company by 
Section 3(b) or Section 3(c) of the Investment Company Act, (iii) not disqualified from selling securities under 
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Rule 503(a) of Regulation CF, (iv) not barred from selling securities under Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities 
Act due to a failure to make timely annual report filings, (vi) not planning to engage in a merger or acquisition 
with an unidentified company or companies, and (vii) organized under, and subject to, the laws of a state or 
territory of the United States or the District of Columbia. 

 
(f) The Company has engaged, or shortly after the issuance of this Omnibus Class CF Instrument, 

will engage a transfer agent registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission to act as the sole 
registrar and transfer agent for the Company with respect to the Omnibus Class CF Instrument and the Class 
CF Units. 
 
4. Prime Trust Representations 
 
 (a) Prime Trust has full legal capacity, power and authority to execute and deliver this Omnibus 
Class CF Instrument and to perform its obligations hereunder. This Omnibus Class CF Instrument constitutes 
a legal, valid and binding obligation of Prime Trust, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as limited 
by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws of general application relating to or affecting the enforcement of 
creditors’ rights generally and general principles of equity. 
 
5. Transfer Restrictions 
 

(a) During the Lock-up Period, neither Prime Trust nor any Holder shall, without the prior written 
consent of the managing underwriter: (A) lend; offer; pledge; sell; contract to sell; sell any option or contract 
to purchase; purchase any option or contract to sell; grant any option, right, or warrant to purchase; or 
otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any Class CF Units or any securities convertible into 
or exercisable or exchangeable (directly or indirectly) for Membership Interests (whether such Membership 
Interests or any such securities are then owned or are thereafter acquired); or (B) enter into any swap or other 
arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of 
such securities; whether any such transaction described in clause (A) or (B) above is to be settled by delivery 
Membership Interests or other securities, in cash, or otherwise.  
 

(b) The foregoing provisions of Section 5(a) will: (x) apply only to the IPO and will not apply to 
the sale of any Membership Interests to an underwriter pursuant to an underwriting agreement; (y) not apply 
to the transfer of any Membership Interests to any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the applicable party 
or the immediate family of such party, provided that the trustee of the trust agrees to be bound in writing by 
the restrictions set forth herein, and provided further that any such transfer will not involve a disposition for 
value; and (z) be applicable to Prime Trust and the Holders only if all officers and directors of the Company 
are subject to the same restrictions and the Company uses commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a similar 
agreement from all Members of the Company individually owning more than 5% of the outstanding 
Membership Interests or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable (directly or indirectly) 
for Membership Interests.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the underwriters in connection 
with the IPO are intended third-party beneficiaries of Section 5(a) and will have the right, power and authority 
to enforce the provisions hereof as though they were a party hereto.  Prime Trust and each Holder shall execute 
such agreements as may be reasonably requested by the underwriters in connection with the IPO that are 
consistent with Section 5(a) or that are necessary to give further effect thereto. 
  

(c) In order to enforce the foregoing covenant, the Company may impose stop transfer 
instructions with respect to the registrable securities of the Company held by Prime Trust and the Holders 
(and the Company securities of every other person subject to the foregoing restriction) until the end of the 
Lock-up Period. A legend reading substantially as follows will be placed on all certificates representing all of 
the registrable securities of the Company held by Prime Trust and the Holders (and the securities of the 
Company held by every other person subject to the restriction contained in Section 5(a)): 
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THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO A 
LOCK-UP PERIOD BEGINNING ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE COMPANY’S 
REGISTRATION STATEMENT FILED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS 
AMENDED, AS SET FORTH IN AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND 
THE ORIGINAL HOLDER OF THESE SECURITIES, A COPY OF WHICH MAY BE 
OBTAINED AT THE COMPANY’S PRINCIPAL OFFICE.  SUCH LOCK-UP PERIOD IS 
BINDING ON TRANSFEREES OF THESE SECURITIES. 
 
(d) No portion of this Omnibus Class CF Instrument (or any Beneficial Interest) or the underlying 

securities may be disposed of unless and until the transferee has agreed in writing for the benefit of the 
Company to make representations and warranties substantially similar to those made by the Subscribers and: 
 

(i) There is then in effect a registration statement under the Securities Act covering such 
proposed disposition and such disposition is made in accordance with such registration statement; or 
 
(ii) The applicable transferor shall have notified the Company of the proposed disposition and 
shall have furnished the Company with a detailed statement of the circumstances surrounding the 
proposed disposition and, if reasonably requested by the Company, an opinion of counsel reasonably 
satisfactory to the Company that such disposition will not require registration of such securities under 
the Securities Act.   

 
(e) No disposition of this instrument (or any Beneficial Interest) or any underlying securities may 

be made to any of the Company’s competitors, as determined by the Company in good faith. 
 

(f) The Company will place the legend set forth below or a similar legend on any book entry or 
other forms of notation evidencing this Omnibus Class CF Instrument (or any Beneficial Interest) and any 
certificates evidencing the underlying securities, together with any other legends that may be required by state 
or federal securities laws, the Company’s charter or bylaws or otherwise:  

 
THIS INSTRUMENT HAS BEEN ISSUED PURSUANT TO SECTION 4(A)(6) OF THE 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND 
NEITHER IT NOR ANY SECURITIES ISSUABLE PURSUANT HERETO HAVE BEEN 
REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY 
STATE.  THESE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE 
TRANSFERRED, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED EXCEPT AS PERMITTED BY 
RULE 501 OF REGULATION CROWDFUNDING UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND 
APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE 
REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM. 

  
6. Dividends, Distributions, Voting Rights 
 

(a) Whenever Prime Trust shall receive any cash dividend or other cash distribution on the 
Class CF Units, Prime Trust shall distribute to the Holders such amounts of such sum as are, as nearly as 
practicable, in proportion to each Holder’s Beneficial Interest; provided, however, that in case the Company 
or Prime Trust shall be required to and shall withhold from any cash dividend or other cash distribution in 
respect of the Class CF Membership Interests represented by the Beneficial Interest held by any Holder an 
amount on account of taxes, the amount made available for distribution or distributed in respect of Class CF 
Membership Interests subject to such withholding shall be reduced accordingly. Prime Trust shall distribute 
or make available for distribution, as the case may be, only such amount, however, as can be distributed 
without attributing to any Holder of Beneficial Interests a fraction of one cent, and any balance not so 
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distributable shall be held by Prime Trust (without liability for interest thereon) and shall be added to and be 
treated as part of the next sum received by Prime Trust for distribution to Holders of Beneficial Interests then 
outstanding.  
 

(b) Whenever Prime Trust shall receive any distribution other than cash on the Class CF Units, 
Prime Trust shall distribute to the Holders of Beneficial Interests such amounts of the securities or property 
received by it as are, as nearly as practicable, in proportion to the respective Beneficial Interests held by such 
Holder, in any manner that Prime Trust and the Company may deem equitable and practicable for 
accomplishing such distribution. If, in the opinion of Prime Trust after consultation with the Company, such 
distribution cannot be made proportionately among all Holders, or if for any other reason (including any 
requirement that the Company or Prime Trust withhold an amount on account of taxes), Prime Trust deems, 
after consultation with the Company, such distribution not to be feasible, Prime Trust may, with the approval 
of the Company, adopt such method as it deems equitable and practicable for the purpose of effecting such 
distribution, including the sale (at public or private sale) of the securities or property thus received or any part 
thereof, at such place or places and upon such terms as it may deem proper. The net proceeds of any such sale 
shall be distributed or made available for distribution, as the case may be, by Prime Trust to the Holders of 
Beneficial Interests as provided by Section 6(a) in the case of a distribution received in cash. The Company 
shall not make any distribution of such securities or property to the Holders of Beneficial Interests unless the 
Company shall have provided to Prime Trust an opinion of counsel stating that such securities or property 
have been registered under the Securities Act or do not need to be registered. 
  

(c) Upon any change in par or stated value, split-up, combination or any other reclassification of 
the Class CF Units, or upon any recapitalization, reorganization, merger, amalgamation or consolidation 
affecting the Company or to which it is a party or sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets, Prime 
Trust shall, upon the instructions of the Company: (i) make such adjustments in the Class CF Units as may be 
required by, or as is consistent with, the provisions of the articles of incorporation of the Company to fully 
reflect the effects of such split-up, combination or other reclassification of the Class CF Units, or of such 
recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation or sale and (ii) treat any shares or other securities or 
property (including cash) that shall be received by Prime Trust in exchange for or upon conversion of or in 
respect of the Class CF Units as new securities held under this Agreement, and Beneficial Interests then 
outstanding shall thenceforth represent the proportionate interests of Holders thereof or the new securities so 
received in exchange for or upon conversion of or in respect of such Class CF Units. The Company shall cause 
effective provision to be made in the charter of the resulting or surviving corporation (if other than the 
Company) for protection of such rights as may be applicable upon exchange of the      Class CF Units for 
securities or property or cash of the surviving corporation in connection with the transactions set forth above. 
The Company shall cause any such surviving corporation (if other than the Company) expressly to assume 
the obligations of the Company hereunder. 

 
(d) Upon receipt of notice of any meeting, or other form of consent in lieu of meeting, at which 

the holders of the Class CF Units are entitled to vote, Prime Trust shall, as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter, mail or provide electronically to the Holders of Beneficial Interests a notice, which shall be 
provided by the Company and which shall contain such information as is contained in such notice of meeting 
or other form of consent in lieu of a meeting. Holder acknowledges that notwithstanding its receipt of such 
materials, all voting rights with respect to the Class CF Units shall be exercised by Prime Trust, and that Prime 
Trust intends to exercise such voting rights by voting the securities held by it in accordance with the vote of 
the majority of the Class A Membership Interests held by persons other than Prime Trust that are voted on 
any matter, and Prime Trust will not exercise any discretion in voting any of the Class CF Membership 
Interests represented by the Beneficial Interests.  
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7. Miscellaneous 
 

(a) Except as otherwise agreed by the Company in its sole discretion, Holders will not be entitled 
to exchange their Beneficial Interests in this Omnibus Class CF Instrument for Class CF Units      in certificated 
form. 

 
(b) Prime Trust agrees to take any and all actions determined in good faith by the Company’s 

managers or board of directors (if applicable) to be advisable to reorganize this Omnibus Class CF Instrument 
and any Class CF Units issued pursuant to the terms of this Omnibus Class CF Instrument into a special 
purpose vehicle or other entity designed to aggregate the interests of the Holders. 

 
(c) Any provision of this Omnibus Class CF Instrument may be amended, waived or modified 

only upon the written consent of the Company and the majority of the Holders (calculated based on the 
Beneficial Interests of the Holders). 

 
(d) Any notice required or permitted by this Omnibus Class CF Instrument will be deemed 

sufficient when delivered personally or by overnight courier or sent by email to the relevant address listed on 
the signature page, or 48 hours after being deposited in the U.S. mail as certified or registered mail with 
postage prepaid, addressed to the party to be notified at such party’s address listed on the signature page, as 
subsequently modified by written notice. 

 
(e) Prime Trust through this Omnibus Class CF instrument shall be considered legal record 

holder of the Class CF Common Units. 
 
(f) Neither this Omnibus Class CF Instrument nor the rights contained herein may be assigned, 

by operation of law or otherwise, by either party without the prior written consent of the other; provided, 
however, that this Omnibus Class CF Instrument and/or the rights contained herein may be assigned without 
the Company’s consent by Prime Trust to any other entity who directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled 
by or is under common control with Prime Trust, including, without limitation, any general partner, managing 
member, officer or director of Prime Trust; and provided, further, that the Company may assign this Omnibus 
Class CF Instrument in whole, without the consent of Prime Trust, in connection with a reincorporation to 
change the Company’s domicile. 
 

(g) In the event any one or more of the terms or provisions of this Omnibus Class CF Instrument 
is for any reason held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, in whole or in part or in any respect, or in the 
event that any one or more of the terms or provisions of this Omnibus Class CF Instrument operate or would 
prospectively operate to invalidate this Omnibus Class CF Instrument, then such term(s) or provision(s) only 
will be deemed null and void and will not affect any other term or provision of this Omnibus Class CF 
Instrument and the remaining terms and provisions of this Omnibus Class CF Instrument will remain operative 
and in full force and effect and will not be affected, prejudiced, or disturbed thereby. 
 

(h) All securities issued under this Omnibus Class CF Instrument may be issued in whole or 
fractional parts. 

 
(i) All rights and obligations hereunder will be governed by the laws of the State of New York, 

without regard to the conflicts of law provisions of such jurisdiction. 
 
(j) Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of, relating to or in connection with this 

Omnibus Class CF Instrument, including the breach or validity thereof, shall be determined by final and 
binding arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association (the “AAA”) under its Commercial 
Arbitration Rules and Mediation Procedures (“Commercial Rules”).  The award rendered by the arbitrator 
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shall be final, non-appealable and binding on the parties and may be entered and enforced in any court having 
jurisdiction.  There shall be one arbitrator agreed to by the parties within twenty (20) days of receipt by 
respondent of the request for arbitration or, in default thereof, appointed by the AAA in accordance with its 
Commercial Rules.  The place of arbitration shall be in Westchester County, New York.  Except as may be 
required by law or to protect a legal right, neither a party nor the arbitrator may disclose the existence, content 
or results of any arbitration without the prior written consent of the other parties. 

 
(k) Each Holder has, and at all times under this Omnibus Class CF Instrument will maintain, a 

custody account in good standing with Prime Trust pursuant to a valid and binding custody account agreement. 
To the extent any of the provisions of such custody account agreement shall conflict with the terms of this 
Omnibus Class CF Instrument, the terms of this Omnibus Class CF Instrument will control. 
 

(Signature page follows)   
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Class CF Instrument to be duly 
executed and delivered. 
 
GROVE BIOMEDICAL, LLC 
 
 
 
By:              
 Name: Joseph Rosenberg      
 Title: Managing Member 
 Address: 282 Katonah Avenue PMB 58352, Katonah, NY 10536 
 Email: joe@onecanopy.com 
 
 
PRIME TRUST, LLC,  
As Trustee and Custodian  
 
 
By:              
 Name:       
 Title:  
 Address: 
 Email: 
 
 
SUBSCRIBER/HOLDER: 
 
  
Print Name 
  
  
  
By: 
Signature 
 
  
Print Name of Additional Signatory 
  
  
  
 
By: 
Additional Signature 
(If joint tenants or tenants in common) 
 
Address: 
Email: 
 



 

Custodial Instrument – Grove Biomedical, LLC 

Exhibit B 
 

 
Prime Trust New Account Agreement  

  
___________________________ (“Account Holder”, “Customer”, “you”, “your”) hereby requests and 
directs that Prime Trust, LLC (“Prime Trust”, “Custodian”, “we”, “our”, “us”), a Nevada chartered trust 
company, establish a  Prime Asset Custody Account (“Account”) for and in the name of Account Holder, 
and to hold as custodian all assets deposited to, or collected with respect to such Account, upon the 
following terms and conditions: 
 
1. APPOINTMENT OF CUSTODIAN: 
Account Holder hereby appoints Prime Trust to be custodian of and to hold or process as directed all 
securities, currency, cryptocurrency, and other assets of Account Holder (hereinafter referred to as 
“Custodial Property”) that are delivered to Custodian by Account Holder or Account Holder’s Agent(s) (as 
defined below) to the Account in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
2. SELF-DIRECTED INVESTMENTS: 
a. This Account is a self-directed Account that is managed by Account Holder and/or Account Holder’s 

Agents. Prime Trust will act solely as custodian of the Custodial Property and will not exercise any 
investment or tax planning discretion regarding your Account, as this is solely your responsibility 
and/or the responsibility of advisors, brokers and others you designate and appoint as your agent for 
your Account (“Agents”), if any. Prime Trust undertakes to perform only such duties as are expressly 
set forth herein, all of which are ministerial in nature. 

b. As a self-directed Account, you acknowledge and agree that: 
i. The value of your Account will be solely dependent upon the performance of any asset(s) chosen 

by you and/or your Agents.  
ii. Prime Trust shall have no duty or responsibility to review or perform due diligence on any 

investments or other Custodial Property and will make absolutely no recommendation of 
investments, nor to supervise any such investments. You will perform your own due diligence on 
all investments and take sole responsibility for all decisions made for your Account. 

iii. Prime Trust does not provide any valuation or appraisals of Custodial Property, nor does it hire or 
seek valuations or appraisals on any Custodial Property, provided, however, it may, at its option 
and with no obligation or liability, to the extent available for any particular asset, include recent 
price quotes or value estimates from various third-party sources, including but not limited to SEC-
registered exchanges and alternative trading systems, digital asset exchanges, and real estate 
websites on your statement for any such Custodial Property. Prime Trust will not be expected or 
obligated to attempt to verify the validity, accuracy or reliability of any such third-party valuation, 
valuation estimates or prices and you agree that Prime Trust shall in no way be held liable for any 
such valuation estimates or price quotations. Prime Trust shall simply act in a passive, pass-through 
capacity in providing such information (if any) on your Account statements and that such valuation 
estimates or price quotations are neither verified, substantiated nor to be relied upon in any way, 
for any purpose, including, without limitation, tax reporting purposes. You agree  to engage a 
professional, independent advisor for any valuation opinion(s) you want on any Custodial Property. 

 
c. Account Holder will not direct or permit its Agents to direct the purchase, sale or transfer of any 

Custodial Property which is not permissible under the laws of Account Holder’s place of residence or 
illegal under US federal, state or local law. Account Holder hereby warrants that neither you nor your 
Agents will enter into a transaction or series of transactions, or cause a transaction to be entered into, 
which is prohibited under Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code. Pursuant to the directions of the 
Account Holder or Agent(s), Prime Trust shall process the investment and reinvestment of Custodial 
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Property as directed by Account Holder or its Agents only so long as, in the sole judgment of Prime 
Trust, such requested investments will not impose an unreasonable administrative burden on Prime 
Trust (which such determination by Prime Trust shall not to be construed in any respect as a judgment 
concerning the prudence or advisability of such investment). Custodian may rely upon any notice, 
instruction, request or other instrument believed by it to have been delivered from the Account Holder 
or its Agents, not only as to its due execution, validity and effectiveness, but also as to the truth and 
accuracy of any information contained therein. 

d. Buy and sell orders may, at Custodians discretion, be accepted verbally, including via telephone, or 
electronically, including email and internet-enabled devices and systems, provided, however, that 
Custodian may, but is not required to, require Account Holder or its Agents to promptly provide email, 
text or other confirmation to verify such instructions and any such instructions will not be deemed as 
received until verified in accordance with the Custodians then-in-effect policies and procedures. 
Account Holder acknowledges that any request to waive or change any policies or procedures for asset 
disbursements is done so at Account Holders risk. Prime Trust may decline to accept verbal asset 
transfer or trade instructions in its sole discretion and require written instructions, or instructions 
triggered from Account Holder or its Agents using tools while logged onto your account (either directly 
at www.primetrust.com or on any website or application that integrates into Prime Trust systems via 
API’s (“Application Programming Interfaces”), which may or may not bear the Prime Trust brand. 
Account Holder bears complete and absolute responsibility for all buy, sell, transfer, and disbursement 
instructions for this Account and will immediately notify Prime Trust of any unauthorized transactions. 

e. Account Holder acknowledges and agrees that the custody of digital assets is generally subject to a high 
degree of risk, including without limitation, the risk of loss due to the blockchain or smart contract 
defects as well as forks and other events outside of the Custodian’s control. Such Custodial Property is 
not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or by any Prime Trust insurance policies and 
so you are advised to directly obtain, at your sole cost and expense, any separate insurance policies you 
desire for such Custodial Property. Account Holder agrees that transfer requests, as well as sale and 
purchase orders, for digital assets may be delayed due to security protocols, time-zone differences, 
communication technology delays or fails, and/or enhanced internal compliance reviews. Accordingly, 
Prime Trust shall not be liable for any losses or damages, including without limitation direct, indirect, 
consequential, special, exemplary or otherwise, resulting from delays in processing such transactions.   

f. All instructions for the purchase and sale of securities and/or digital assets shall be executed through 
one or more broker-dealers or exchanges selected by either you or your Agents, or by Prime Trust, as 
an accommodation (and not in any capacity as a broker-dealer) and Prime Trust is hereby authorized to 
debit your account for any fees associated with such transaction(s) and remit those to the executing 
party.  

 
3. SCHEDULE OF FEES: 
The Custodian shall receive reasonable compensation in accordance with its usual Schedule of Fees then in 
effect at the time of service. The fees and charges initially connected with this Account may include: 

 Account Fees: As detailed on Prime Trust’s current fee schedule, which may change from time to 
time and is published on www.primetrust.com. Changes to the fee schedule shall not affect any 
charges for prior periods and will only be effective as of the date the changes were published.  

 Statement Fee: $0.00 – there are no fees for electronically delivered and available statements 
 Third-Party Fees – in the event that we are charged any fees by a third party in performing services 

on your behalf (e.g. transfer agent fees, legal fees, accounting fees, tax preparation fees, notary 
fees, exchange fees, brokerage fees, bank fees, blockchain settlement fees, etc.) then you agree to 
reimburse us for such reasonable charges at cost plus 25% (excluding broker-dealer commissions), 
and that no prior approval is required from you in incurring such expense.  
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You agree to pay all fees and expenses associated with your Account.  Prime Trust is hereby authorized, at 
its option, in its sole discretion, to electronically debit the Account for payment of fees and expenses, 
including charging any linked credit or debit card, pulling funds from any linked bank account, or 
liquidating any of the Custodial Property without prior notice or liability. Unpaid fees are subject to interest 
at a rate of 1.50% per month on the outstanding balance and may be applied as a first lien on any Custodial 
Property. Prime Trust reserves the right to make changes to its fees for custodial services in its sole and 
absolute discretion.  
 
4. ASSETS AND CUSTODY: 

a. Custodial Property which Prime Trust will generally agree to accept and hold on Account Holder’s 
behalf includes: United States Dollars (“USD”), foreign currencies at the sole discretion of Prime 
Trust, title to real estate, certain digital assets, private equity and debt securities issued pursuant to 
laws and regulations of the United States, as well as equity and debt securities which are listed on 
any US exchange or alternative trading system (e.g. OTC, NASDAQ, NYSE, AMEX, etc.). 
Securities which have been issued pursuant to regulations of countries other than the US or which 
are listed on non-US trading systems may be acceptable for custody on a case by case basis. 
Physical assets such as cash, art, coins, and rare books are generally not accepted for custody at 
Prime Trust. Acceptance and custody of digital assets such as cryptocurrency and other tokens are 
subject to the sole discretion of Prime Trust.  

b. USD in the Custodial Account are hereby directed by Account Holder to be invested in Prime 
Trust’s “Secure Cash Sweep”, as available, other than as needed for immediate funds availability. 
Interest paid from the Secure Cash Sweep BT will be credited to your Account.   

c. During the term of this Agreement, Custodian is responsible for safekeeping only Custodial 
Property which is delivered into its possession and control by the Account Holder or its Agents. 
Custodian may for convenience take and hold title to Custodial Property or any part thereof in its 
own name or in the name of its nominee (commonly known as “street name”), with Account Holder 
ownership of Custodial Property segregated on its books and records. 

d. Custodian shall keep accurate records of segregation of customer accounts to show all receipts, 
disbursements, and other transactions involving the Account. All such records shall be held 
indefinitely by Custodian.  

e. Custodian shall collect and hold all funds when Custodial Property may mature, be redeemed or 
sold. Custodian shall hold the proceeds of such transaction(s) until receipt of written or electronic 
(via our systems) disbursement instructions from Account Holder. 

f.     Custodian shall process any purchase, sale, exchange, investment, disbursement or reinvestment of 
Custodial Property under this Agreement that Account Holder or its Agents may at any time direct, 
provided that sufficient unencumbered, cleared assets are available for such transaction.  

g.  Funds received in any currency other than USD may, at your direction or as needed to fulfill 
investment directions or pay fees, be converted to USD at exchange rates set at Prime Trusts 
discretion. 

h. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Prime Trust is authorized to collect into custody 
all property delivered to Custodian at the time of execution of this Agreement, as well as all 
property which is hereafter purchased for your Account or which may hereafter to be delivered to 
Custodian for your Account pursuant to this Agreement, together with the income, including but 
not limited to interest, dividends, proceeds of sale and all other monies due and collectable 
attributable to the investment of the Custodial Property.  

i. Custodian is authorized, in its sole discretion, to comply with orders issued or entered by any court 
with respect to the Custodial Property held hereunder, without determination by Custodian of such 
court’s jurisdiction in the matter. If any portion of the Custodial Property held hereunder is at any 
time attached, garnished or levied upon under any court order, or in case the payment, assignment, 
transfer, conveyance or delivery of any such property shall be stayed or enjoined by any court order, 
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or in case any order, judgment or decree shall be made or entered by any court affecting such 
property or any part thereof, then and in any such event, Custodian is authorized, in its sole 
discretion, to rely upon and comply with any such order, writ, judgment or decree which it is 
advised by legal counsel selected by it is binding upon it without the need for appeal or other action, 
and if Custodian complies with any such order, writ, judgment or decree, it shall not be liable to 
any of the parties hereto or to any other person or entity by reason of such compliance even though 
such order, writ, judgment or decree may be subsequently reversed, modified, annulled, set aside 
or vacated.  

j. Custodian does not warrant or guarantee that any buy or sell order by Account Holder will be 
executed at the best posted price or timely executed. Account Holder acknowledges and agrees that 
(i) Custodian does not have access to every market or exchange which a particular product or 
financial instrument may be traded and Custodian makes no representation regarding the best price 
execution of any instructions, (ii) other orders may trade ahead of Account Holder’s order and 
exhaust available volume at a posted price, (iii) exchanges, market makers or other types of sellers 
or purchasers may fail to honor posted or otherwise agreed-upon prices, (iv) exchanges may re-
route customer orders out of automated execution systems for manual handling (in which case, 
execution may be substantially delayed), (iv) system delays by exchanges or third-parties executing 
instructions may prevent Account Holders order from being executed, may cause a delay in 
execution or not to be executed at the best posted price or at all, and, (v) Custodian may not 
promptly or in a timely manner execute Customers order(s) due to internal delays, and Custodian 
makes no representation that its custody services are in any way suitable for active trading or any 
activity requiring prompt or exact execution. The Account is not a brokerage account.  Transactions 
may be subject to additional fees and charges by both Custodian and any third-party service 
providers or exchanges.  

 
5. ACCOUNT ACCESS AND COMMUNICATIONS: 
a. Custodian shall provide you and your Agent(s) with access to your Account via our website at 

www.primetrust.com, via the “Banq” mobile app, and/or via API’s that third-parties can write into (e.g. 
exchanges, broker-dealers, funding portals, trading platforms, investment advisors, registered transfer 
agents, banks, consumer and industrial financial application providers, etc.).  

b. Your Agent(s) shall be provided with access to the Account as chosen by you using the tools and 
settings provided to you for your Account, which may include Account information such as current and 
historic statements, transaction history, current asset positions, and account types and beneficiaries. It 
may, depending upon the settings and permissions you choose for your particular Agents, include the 
ability to instruct Prime Trust to take action with respect to the Custodial Property and Account, 
including without limitation to invest, sell, receive, deliver or transfer Custodial Property. Any actions 
undertaken by any of your Agents are deemed to be those of the Account Holder directly, and you agree 
to maintain the security of your login credentials and passwords, as well as Agent access lists and 
associated permissions, so only your authorized persons have access to your Account. Prime Trust shall 
also be entitled to rely and act upon any instructions, notices, confirmations or orders received from 
your Agent(s) as if such communication was received directly from the Account Holder without any 
required further review or approval. Account Holder is solely responsible for monitoring and 
supervising the actions of your Agents with respect to the Account and Custodial Property.  

c. Statements of assets, along with a ledger of receipts and disbursements of Custodial Property shall be 
available online at www.primetrust.com, in your Account, as well as via the websites and/or 
applications of third-party API integrators that you select and use. 

d. Custodian shall be under no obligation to forward any proxies, financial statements or other literature 
received by it in connection with or relating to Custodial Property held under this agreement. Custodian 
shall be under no obligation to take any action with regard to proxies, stock dividends, warrants, rights 
to subscribe, plans of reorganization or recapitalization, or plans for exchange of securities. 
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e. Account Holder agrees that Custodian may contact you for any reason. No such contact will be deemed 
unsolicited. Custodian may contact Account Holder at any address, telephone number (including 
cellular numbers) and email addresses as Account Holder may provide from time to time. Custodian 
may use any means of communication, including but not limited to, postal mail, email, telephone, or 
other technology to reach Account Holder. 

f. ELECTRONIC STATEMENTS ELECTION: 
Account Holder agrees that Prime Trust will make statements available in electronic form only. 
Account Holder further agrees that you can and will log onto its Account at www.primetrust.com or on 
the websites or applications of its selected third-party API integrators at your discretion to view current 
or historic statements, as well as transaction history, assets and cash balances. Account Holder 
understands and agrees that under no circumstances may you request to have statements printed and 
mailed to you. If Account Holder desires printed statements, then you agree to log onto your Account 
at www.primetrust.com (or on the websites or applications of your selected third-party API integrators) 
and print them yourself. 

 
6. TERM AND TERMINATION, MODIFICATION: 
a. This Agreement is effective as of the date set forth below and shall continue in force until terminated 

as provided herein.  
b. This Agreement may be terminated by either party at any time upon 30 days written notice to the other 

party (with email being an agreed upon method of such notice), provided, however, Prime Trust may 
immediately terminate this Agreement without notice or liability in the event that (i) Prime Trust 
becomes aware or has reason to believe that Account Holder may be engaged in illegal activity, or (ii) 
termination is deemed appropriate by Prime Trust to comply with its legal or regulatory obligations. 

c. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by the Custodian, or with the written agreement 
from the Custodian. Such amendments or modifications shall be effective on the 30th day after the 
Account Holder receives notice of such revision electronically via the email address shown on the 
records of Prime Trust.  

d. If this Agreement is terminated by either party then Custodian shall deliver the Custodial Property to 
Account Holder as soon as practicable or, at Account Holder’s request to a successor custodian. 
Account Holder acknowledges that Custodial Property held in Custodian’s name or nominee may 
require a reasonable amount of time to be transferred. Upon delivery of Custodial Property, Custodian’s 
responsibility under this Agreement ceases. 

e. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this agreement shall terminate immediately upon the 
occurrence of any of the following events: 

i. Upon death of the Account Holder, the Custodian shall continue to hold Custodial Property until such 
time the Custodian receives instructions from Account Holder’s executor, trustee or administrator 
pursuant to the probate process, as applicable, and has received advice of its legal counsel to transfer 
such assets (which costs shall be borne by the Account Holder). In the event that no beneficiaries claim 
this Account then the assets may be preserved in the Account for so long as possible, until a beneficiary 
makes itself known or as may be subject to “unclaimed property” regulations as promulgated by state 
and federal regulators (at which time assets on Account may be transferred or liquidated and proceeds 
forwarded to such authorities as required by law or regulation).  

ii. Filing of a petition in bankruptcy (by the Account Holders or by a creditor of the Account Holders). If 
this Agreement terminates due to the filing of a petition in bankruptcy, termination or dissolution of 
Account Holder, Custodian shall deliver the Custodial Property to the Court appointed representative 
for Account Holder. If no representative has been appointed by the Court, Custodian may deliver the 
Custodial Property to the person it deems to be an agent of the Account Holder and such delivery will 
release Custodian from any further responsibility for said Custodial Property. 
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iii. The legal incompetency of Account Holder, unless there is in existence a valid durable power of 
attorney or trust agreement authorizing another to succeed or act for Account Holder with respect to 
this agreement. 

iv. Prime Trust becomes aware of or suspects that the Account Holder or any of its Agents are engaged in 
any criminal activity, material violation of the law or material breach of the terms of this Agreement. 

 
7. TERMS OF USE, PRIVACY POLICY: 
 Except as set forth in this Agreement, Account Holder agrees to be bound by the Prime Trust’s most 

current, then in effect Terms of Use and Privacy Policy, as available via links at the bottom of the 
www.primetrust.com website. You represent that you have reviewed such policies and in using our 
services hereby agree to be bound by them. In the event of any conflict between any terms or 
provisions of the website Terms of Use or Privacy Policy and the terms and provisions of this 
Agreement, the applicable terms and provisions of this Agreement shall control.   

 
8. DISCLAIMER: 
 EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, PRIME TRUST MAKES NO 

REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED 
(EITHER IN FACT OR BY OPERATION OF LAW). PRIME TRUST EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS 
ANY AND ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A 
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, QUALITY, ACCURACY, TITLE, AND NON-INFRINGEMENT. 
PRIME TRUST DOES NOT WARRANT AGAINST INTERFERENCE WITH THE USE OF THE 
SERVICES OR AGAINST INFRINGEMENT. PRIME TRUST DOES NOT WARRANT THAT 
THE SERVICES OR SOFTWARE ARE ERROR-FREE OR THAT OPERATION OR DATA WILL 
BE SECURE OR UNINTERRUPTED. PRIME TRUST EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY AND 
ALL LIABILITY ARISING OUT OF THE FLOW OF DATA AND DELAYS ON THE INTERNET, 
INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO FAILURE TO SEND OR RECEIVE ANY ELECTRONIC 
COMMUNICATIONS (e.g. EMAIL). ACCOUNT HOLDER DOES NOT HAVE THE RIGHT TO 
MAKE OR PASS ON ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY ON BEHALF OF PRIME 
TRUST TO ANY THIRD PARTY. ACCOUNT HOLDER’S ACCESS TO AND USE OF THE 
SERVICES ARE AT ACCOUNT HOLDER’S OWN RISK. ACCOUNT HOLDER 
UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT THE SERVICES ARE PROVIDED TO IT ON AN “AS 
IS” AND “AS AVAILABLE” BASIS. PRIME TRUST EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS LIABILITY TO 
ACCOUNT HOLDER FOR ANY DAMAGES RESULTING FROM ACCOUNT HOLDER’S 
RELIANCE ON OR USE OF THE SERVICES.  

 
9. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; INDEMNIFICATION: 
1. Disclaimer of Liability and Consequential Damages. 
 CUSTODIAN SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY ACTION TAKEN OR OMITTED BY IT IN 

GOOD FAITH UNLESS AS A RESULT OF ITS GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL 
MISCONDUCT, IN EACH CASE AS DETERMINED BY A COURT OF COMPETENT 
JURISDICTION, AND ITS SOLE RESPONSIBILITY SHALL BE FOR THE HOLDING AND 
DISBURSEMENT OF THE CUSTODIAL PROPERTY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS 
OF THIS AGREEMENT, SHALL HAVE NO IMPLIED DUTIES OR OBLIGATIONS AND SHALL 
NOT BE CHARGED WITH KNOWLEDGE OR NOTICE OF ANY FACT OR CIRCUMSTANCE 
NOT SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH HEREIN, ACCOUNT HOLDER HEREBY 
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES, NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY 
CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT, PRIME TRUST WILL NOT, UNDER ANY 
CIRCUMSTANCES, BE LIABLE TO ACCOUNT HOLDER FOR CONSEQUENTIAL, 
INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO 
ANY INVESTMENT OR TRANSACTION OCCURRING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, 
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INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OF BUSINESS, EVEN IF 
PRIME TRUST HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE LIKELIHOOD OF SUCH LOSS OR DAMAGE 
AND REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION. THIS INCLUDES ANY LOSSES OR 
PROBLEMS OF ANY TYPE RESULTING FROM INCIDENTS OUTSIDE OF OUR DIRECT 
CONTROL, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ERRORS, HACKS, THEFT OR ACTIONS OF 
ISSUERS, TRANSFER AGENTS, SMART CONTRACTS, BLOCKCHAINS AND 
INTERMEDIARIES OF ALL TYPES. 

2. Cap on Liability. 
 ACCOUNT HOLDER HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES UNDER NO 

CIRCUMSTANCES WILL PRIME TRUST‘S TOTAL LIABILITY OF ANY AND ALL KINDS 
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED 
TO WARRANTY CLAIMS), REGARDLESS OF THE FORM AND REGARDLESS OF 
WHETHER ANY ACTION OR CLAIM IS BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE, 
EXCEED THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF FEES PAID, IF ANY, BY ACCOUNT HOLDER TO PRIME 
TRUST UNDER THIS AGREEMENT DURING THE TWELVE (12) MONTH PERIOD PRIOR 
TO THE OCCURRENCE OF THE EVENT GIVING RISE TO SUCH LIABILITY.  

3. General Indemnification. 
 Account Holder hereby agrees to indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Prime Trust and its 

officers, directors, members, shareholders, employees, agents, partners, vendors, successors and 
assigns from and against any and all third party claims, demands, obligations, losses, liabilities, 
damages, regulatory investigations, recoveries and deficiencies (including interest, penalties and 
reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses), which Prime Trust may suffer as a result of: (a) any 
breach of or material inaccuracy in the representations and warranties, or breach, non-fulfillment or 
default in the performance of any of the conditions, covenants and agreements, of Account Holder 
contained in this Agreement or in any certificate or document delivered by Account Holder or its 
agents pursuant to any of the provisions of this Agreement, or (b) any obligation which is expressly 
the responsibility of Account Holder under this Agreement, or (c) any other cost, claim or liability 
arising out of or relating to operation or use of the license granted hereunder, or, (d) any breach, action 
or regulatory investigation arising from Account Holder’s failure to comply with any state blue sky 
laws or other securities laws any applicable laws, and/or arising out of any alleged misrepresentations, 
misstatements or omissions of material fact in the Account Holders’ offering memoranda, general 
solicitation, advertisements and/or other offering documents. Account Holder is required to 
immediately defend Prime Trust including the immediate payment of all attorney fees, costs and 
expenses, upon commencement of any regulatory investigation arising or relating to Account Holder’s 
offering and/or items in this Section 9.3(a) through (d) above. Any amount due under the aforesaid 
indemnity will be due and payable by Account Holder within thirty (30) days after demand thereof. 
The indemnity obligations of Account Holder hereunder shall survive any termination of this 
Agreement and the resignation or removal of Custodian hereunder.  

4. Limitation on Prime Trust’s Duty to Litigate.  
 Without limiting the foregoing, Prime Trust shall not be under any obligation to defend any legal 

action or engage in any legal proceedings with respect to the Account or with respect to any property 
held in the Account unless Prime Trust is indemnified to Prime Trust’s satisfaction. Whenever Prime 
Trust deems it reasonably necessary, Prime Trust is authorized and empowered to consult with its 
counsel in reference to the Account and to retain counsel and appear in any action, suit or proceeding 
affecting the Account or any of the property of the Account. All fees and expenses so incurred shall 
be for the Account and shall be charged to the Account.  

5. Third Party Claims.  
i.  Account Holder agrees to bear sole responsibility for the prosecution or defense, including the 

employment of legal counsel, of any and all legal actions or suits involving the Account, which may 
arise or become necessary for the protection of the investments in that Account, including any actions 
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lodged against the Custodian. Account Holder also agrees to bear sole responsibility for enforcing 
any judgments rendered in favor of the Account, including judgments rendered in the name of Prime 
Trust as Custodian of the Account. 

ii. Account Holder agrees to be responsible for any and all collection actions, including contracting with 
a collection agency or institutional legal action, and bringing any other suits or actions which may 
become necessary to protect the rights of the Account. Account Holder understands that any legal 
filings made on behalf of this Investment are to be made on behalf of beneficial owners for whom 
Prime Trust acts as custodian. Account Holder agrees not to institute legal action on behalf of the 
Account without Custodian’s written consent to litigate and that Account Holder shall prosecute any 
legal action. Account Holder agrees that any such legal action will be carried out in a manner that 
does not cause Custodian to incur any costs or legal exposure.  

6.      Custodian may consult legal counsel selected by it in the event of any dispute or question as to the 
construction of any of the provisions hereof or its duties hereunder, or relating to any dispute involving 
any disbursements or services contemplated herein, and shall incur no liability and shall be fully 
indemnified by you from any liability whatsoever in acting in accordance with the advice of such 
counsel. Account Holder shall promptly pay, upon demand, the reasonable fees and expenses of any 
such counsel and fees may be deducted from Customer’s account, including the liquidation of assets 
if needed in order to make cash available to settle such costs. 

 
10. NOTICES: 
 All notices permitted or required by this Agreement will be via electronic mail (“email”), and will be 

deemed to have been delivered and received upon sending via any SMTP delivery service chosen by 
Prime Trust. Notices shall be delivered to the addresses on record which, if to Prime Trust shall be to 
support@primetrust.com and if to Account Holder shall be to the email address on file in your 
Account.  

 
11. SEVERABILITY: 
 If any provision of this Agreement is for any reason found to be ineffective, unenforceable, or illegal 

by any court having jurisdiction, such condition will not affect the validity or enforceability of any of 
the remaining portions hereof.  

  
12. NO LEGAL, TAX OR ACCOUNTING ADVICE: 
 Account Holder agrees without reservation that Prime Trust is NOT providing any legal, tax or 

accounting advice in any way, nor on any matter, regardless of the tone or content of any 
communication (oral, written or otherwise). Account Holder shall rely solely on its own legal, tax, 
accounting and other professional advisors for any such advice and on all matters.  

 
13. NO INVESTMENT ADVICE OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 Account Holder agrees that Prime Trust is not providing any investment advice, nor do we make any 

recommendations regarding any securities or other assets to Account Holder. Account Holder agrees 
that it will not construe any communications from Prime Trust or any person associated with Prime 
Trust, whether written or oral, to be legal, investment, due diligence, valuation or accounting advice 
and agrees to only and exclusively rely on the advice of Account Holder’ s attorneys, accountants and 
other professional advisors, including any Agents, investment advisers or registered broker-dealers 
acting on your behalf.  

 
14. ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS NOTICE AND CONSENT: 
 Each of Account Holder and Prime Trust hereby agree that all current and future notices, 

confirmations and other communications regarding this Agreement specifically, and future 
communications in general between the parties, may be made by email, sent to the email address of 
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record as set forth in the Notices section above or as otherwise from time to time changed or updated 
and disclosed to the other party, without necessity of confirmation of receipt, delivery or reading, and 
such form of electronic communication is sufficient for all matters regarding the relationship between 
the parties. If any such electronically-sent communication fails to be received for any reason, 
including but not limited to such communications being diverted to the recipients’ spam filters by the 
recipients email service provider, or due to a recipients’ change of address, or due to technology issues 
by the recipients’ service provider, the parties agree that the burden of such failure to receive is on the 
recipient and not the sender, and that the sender is under no obligation to resend communications via 
any other means, including but not limited to postal service or overnight courier, and that such 
communications shall for all purposes, including legal and regulatory, be deemed to have been 
delivered and received. No physical, paper documents will be sent to Account Holder, and if Account 
Holder desire physical documents then it agrees to be satisfied by directly and personally printing, at 
Account Holder’s own expense, either the electronically-sent communication(s) or the electronically 
available communications by logging onto Account Holder’s Account at www.primetrust.com and 
then maintaining such physical records in any manner or form that Account Holder desire. Account 
Holder’s Consent is Hereby Given: By signing this Agreement electronically, Account Holder 
explicitly agrees to this Agreement and to receive documents electronically, including a copy of this 
signed Agreement as well as ongoing disclosures, communications and notices.  

 
15. ASSIGNMENT: 
 No party may transfer or assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement without the prior 

written consent of the other parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, without the consent of the other 
parties, any party may transfer or assign its rights and obligations hereunder in whole or in part (a) 
pursuant to any merger, consolidation or otherwise by operation of law, and (b) to the successors and 
assigns of all or substantially all of the assets of such assigning party, provided such entity shall be 
bound by the terms hereof. This Agreement will be binding upon and will inure to the benefit of the 
proper successors and assigns.  

 
16. BINDING ARBITRATION, APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE, ATTORNEYS FEES: 
 This Agreement is governed by and will be interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Nevada without regard to principles of conflict of laws. Any claim or dispute arising under 
this Agreement may only be brought in arbitration, with venue in Clark County, Nevada, pursuant to 
the rules of the American Arbitration Association. Account Holder and Prime Trust each consent to 
this method of dispute resolution, as well as jurisdiction, and consent to this being a convenient forum 
for any such claim or dispute and waives any right it may have to object to either the method or 
jurisdiction for such claim or dispute. In the event of any dispute among the parties, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to recover damages plus reasonable costs and attorney’s fees and the decision 
of the arbitrator shall be final, binding and enforceable in any court.  

 
17. COUNTERPARTS, FACSIMILE, EMAIL, SIGNATURES: 
 This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original and all 

of which, taken together, will constitute one and the same instrument, binding on each signatory 
thereto. This Agreement may be executed by signatures, electronically or otherwise, delivered by 
facsimile or email, and a copy hereof that is properly executed and delivered by a party will be binding 
upon that party to the same extent as an original executed version hereof.  

 
18. FORCE MAJEURE: 
 No party will be liable for any default or delay in performance of any of its obligations under this 

Agreement if such default or delay is caused, directly or indirectly, by fire, flood, earthquake or other 
acts of God; labor disputes, strikes or lockouts; wars, rebellions or revolutions; riots or civil disorder; 
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accidents or unavoidable casualties; interruptions in transportation or communications facilities or 
delays in transit or communication; supply shortages or the failure of any person to perform any 
commitment to such party related to this Agreement; or any other cause, whether similar or dissimilar 
to those expressly enumerated in this Section, beyond such party’s reasonable control.  

 
19. INTERPRETATION: 
 Each party to this Agreement has been represented by or had adequate time to obtain the advice and 

input of independent legal counsel with respect to this Agreement and has contributed equally to the 
drafting of this Agreement. Therefore, this Agreement shall not be construed against either party as 
the drafting party. All pronouns and any variation thereof will be deemed to refer to the masculine 
and feminine, and to the singular or plural as the identity of the person or persons may require for 
proper interpretation of this Agreement. And it is the express will of all parties that this Agreement is 
written in English and uses the font styles and sizes contained herein.  

 
20. CAPTIONS: 
 The section headings in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience of reference and shall be 

given no effect in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.  
 
21. ENTIRE AGREEMENT, AMENDMENTS: 
 This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the parties concerning the subject matter hereof, 

and supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous communications, representations or agreements 
between the parties, whether oral or written, regarding the subject matter of this Agreement, and may 
not be modified or amended, except by a written instrument executed after the effective date of this 
Agreement by the party sought to be charged by the amendment or modification. 

 
22. CAPACITY: 
  Account Holder hereby represents that the signer(s) of this Agreement are over the age of 18 and have 

all proper authority to enter into the Agreement. Furthermore, if Account Holder is an entity (e.g. 
corporation, trust, partnership, etc. and not an individual) then the entity is in good standing in its 
state, region or country of formation; which Account Holder agrees to produce evidence of such 
authority and good standing if requested by Custodian. Account Holder agrees to provide Prime Trust 
with any additional information required to open the Account, including beneficial owners and other 
customer information. Account Holder represents that the information provided is complete and 
accurate and shall immediately notify Prime Trust of any changes.  

 
23. SERVICES NOT EXCLUSIVE:  
 Nothing in this Agreement shall limit or restrict the Custodian from providing services to other parties 

that are similar or identical to some or all of the services provided hereunder. 
 
24. INVALIDITY:  
 Any provision of this Agreement which may be determined by competent authority to be prohibited 

or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 
prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such 
prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such 
provision in any other jurisdiction. In such case, the parties shall in good faith modify or substitute 
such provision consistent with the original intent of the parties. 

  
25. SUBSTITUTE IRS FORM W-9 

Under penalties of Perjury, Account Holder certifies that: (1) The tax identification number 
provided to Prime Trust by Account Holder, if Account Holder is a US person, is the correct taxpayer 
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identification number and (2) Account Holder is not subject to backup withholding because: (a) 
Account Holder is exempt from backup withholding, or, (b) Account Holder has not been notified by 
the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that it is subject to backup withholding. Account Holder agrees to 
immediately inform Prime Trust in writing if it has been, or at any time in the future is notified by the 
IRS that Account Holder is subject to backup withholding. Account Holders acknowledge that failing 
to provide accurate information may result in civil penalties.  
  

 
 
 

Agreed as of __________________ by and between: 
 
ACCOUNT NAME: 
 
SIGNATURE: 
TITLE, if any: 
 
 
PRIME TRUST, LLC 
 
 
By:_________________________________  
Name: Scott Purcell 
Title: Chief Trust Officer 
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED 
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY OPERATING AGREEMENT 

of 
GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 

This SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
OPERATING AGREEMENT (as amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to 
time, this “Agreement”) of Grove Biomedical LLC, a New York limited liability company (the 
“Company”), is made and entered into as of the 15th day of December, 2020, by and among GNV 
and each Person admitted as a Member in accordance with this Agreement and having executed a 
Joinder Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (for Class B Members, as defined 
below) or Exhibit B (for Class CF Members, as defined below) (each, a “Member”). 

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Company was formed by the filing of the Articles of Organization of the 
Company (the “Articles”) in the office of the Secretary of State of the State of New York on April 
24, 2020 pursuant to the provisions of the New York Limited Liability Company Law (as amended 
from time to time, the “Act”) and the execution of that certain Limited Liability Company 
Operating Agreement of the Company dated as of April 28, 2020 (the “Original Agreement”);  

WHEREAS, Grove North Ventures, LLC (“GNV”), being the only Member of the 
Company, amended and restated the Original Agreement in its entirety and approved the Amended 
and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company as of May 25, 2020 (the 
“First Amended and Restated Agreement”; and 

WHEREAS, GNV desires to amend and restate the First Amended and Restated 
Agreement in its entirety with this Agreement, which shall supersede any and all other agreements 
providing for the governance of the Company.  

AGREEMENT: 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree to amend and restate the Prior Agreement 
in its entirety as follows: 

ARTICLE I.
DEFINITIONS 

The following terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Additional Member” means any Person who acquires an Interest in the Company pursuant 
to the terms of this Agreement, other than the parties hereto. 

“Adjusted Capital Account Deficit” means, with respect to a Member, the deficit balance, 
if any, in its Capital Account maintained for book (but not tax) purposes at the end of the relevant 
fiscal year, after giving effect to the following adjustments: 
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(i) credit to such Capital Account any amounts which the Member is obligated 
to restore or is deemed to be obligated to restore pursuant to the penultimate sentences of 
Treasury Regulation Sections 1.704-2(g)(1) and 1.704-2(i)(5); and 

(ii) debit to such Capital Account the items described in Treasury Regulation 
Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(5) and 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6). 

The foregoing definition of Adjusted Capital Account Deficit is intended to comply with 
the provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) and shall be interpreted 
consistently therewith. 

“Affiliate” means with respect to any Member (i) any party owning a beneficial interest in 
a Member, (ii) any spouse, parent, sibling and lineal descendant of a Member or a party described 
in (i) above, (iii) any trust for the benefit of a party described in (i) or (ii) above, (iv) any 
corporation, partnership or other entity directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under 
common control with such Member or a party described in (i) or (ii) above, or (v) any officer, 
director or trustee of any corporation, partnership or other entity directly or indirectly controlling, 
controlled by or under common control with such Member or a party described in (i) or (ii) above.  
For purposes hereof, the terms “control”, “controlling” or “controlled by” mean the direct or 
indirect ownership of more than 50% of the voting or beneficial interest in such entity. 

“Assumed Tax Rate” means the highest marginal combined federal, state and local income 
tax rates in effect at the relevant time to an individual who is a resident of New York City, New 
York, calculated on the assumption that state and local income taxes are fully deductible for federal 
income tax purposes. 

“C-Corp Conversion” is defined in Section 5.11. 

“Capital Account” means the accounts maintained for each Member as set forth in 
Section 4.6. 

“Capital Contribution” means any contribution to the capital of the Company in cash or 
property by a Member, or Members, as the case may be pursuant to the provisions of Section 4.1 
or 4.3 of this Agreement. 

“Capital Transaction” means the sale, exchange, or other disposition of all or a substantial 
part of the Company’s assets in one or a series of related transactions.  For purposes of this 
definition, the phrase “other disposition” includes a taking of all or substantially all of a property 
by eminent domain or the damage or destruction of all or substantially all of such property or any 
transaction not in the ordinary course of business which results in the Company’s receipt of cash 
or other consideration including condemnations, recoveries of damage awards and insurance 
proceeds.  Capital Transactions shall also encompass any mergers, consolidations, or conversions 
of the Company, or transfers of Units (including in a Drag-Along Sale) pursuant to which the 
Company or the Members are to receive cash or property. 

“Class A Member” means a Person admitted to the Company as a Class A Member and 
who is identified as such on Schedule A hereto and/or in the books and records of the Company. 
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“Class A Units” means Membership Units of the Company representing Units issued to a 
Class A Member. 

“Class B Member” means a Person admitted to the Company as a Class B Member and 
who is identified as such on Schedule A hereto and/or in the books and records of the Company.  
Any Person being admitted as a Class B Member shall execute and deliver a joinder agreement, 
substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto. 

“Class B Units” means non-voting Membership Units of the Company representing 
“profits interests” as described in Section 4.7 issued to a Class B Member. 

“Class CF Member” means a Person admitted to the Company as a Class CF Member 
through the Class CF Investor Portal and who is identified as such on Schedule A hereto and/or in 
the books and records of the Company. Any Person being admitted as a Class B Member shall 
execute and deliver a joinder agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit B attached hereto. 

“Class CF Investor Portal” means OpenDeal Portal LLC, a registered securities 
crowdfunding portal CRD#283874 (d/b/a Republic), or a qualified successor. 

 “Class CF Units” means non-voting Membership Units of the Company representing Units 
issued to a Class CF Member, which are being offered pursuant to Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities 
Act and Regulation CF. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

“Company Minimum Gain” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation Sections 
1.704-2(b)(2) and 1.704-2(d). 

“Company Property” means all real, personal and mixed properties, cash, assets, interests 
and rights of any type owned by the Company (directly or indirectly).  All assets acquired with 
Company funds or in exchange for Company Property shall be Company Property. 

“Control Person” means any Person with the power, directly or indirectly, to direct or cause 
the direction of the management and policies of a Member, whether through the ownership of 
voting interests, by contract or otherwise. 

“Corporation” is defined in Section 5.11. 

“Designee” is defined in 7.4(a). 

“Drag-Along Member” is defined in Section 7.3(a). 

“Dragging Members” is defined in Section 7.3(a). 

“Drag-Along Sale”  is defined in Section 7.3(a). 

“Drag-Along Notice” is defined in Section 7.3(b). 
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“Fair Market Value of Company Property” means, as of any point in time, the net fair 
market value of all Company Property as determined by the a Majority-in-Interest of the Class A 
Members. 

“Gain from a Capital Transaction” means the gain recognized by the Company attributable 
to a Capital Transaction, determined in accordance with the method of accounting used by the 
Company for federal income tax purposes.  In the event there is a revaluation of Company Property 
and the Capital Accounts are adjusted pursuant to Section 4.6(c), Gain from a Capital Transaction 
shall be computed by reference to the “book items” and not the corresponding “tax items.” 

“Grant Agreement” means a Class B Unit grant agreement between the Company and an 
employee, consultant or service provider of the Company, in a form customary and reasonable to 
the Company, which grants Class B Units to such employee, consultant or service provider and 
sets forth certain terms concerning the acquisition, holding, forfeiture, and disposition of Class B 
Units. 

“Initial Capital Contribution” means, with respect to a Member, the initial Capital 
Contribution of such Member set forth opposite the name of such Member on Schedule A annexed 
hereto as in effect on the date hereof or otherwise reflected in the books and records of the 
Company. 

“Interest” means, with respect to a Member, the entire interest of such Member in the 
Company, including without limitation, its Capital Account, Percentage Interest, Membership 
Units and any and all other benefits to which such Member may be entitled under this Agreement 
and the Act. The Interests of the Members are sometimes herein expressed in terms of Membership 
Units. 

“IRS” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. 

“Loss from a Capital Transaction” means the loss recognized by the Company attributable 
to a Capital Transaction, determined in accordance with the method of accounting used by the 
Company for federal income tax purposes.  In the event there is a revaluation of Company Property 
and the Capital Accounts are adjusted pursuant to Section 4.6(c), Loss from a Capital Transaction 
shall be computed by reference to the “book items” and not the corresponding “tax items”. 

“Majority-in-Interest of the Class A Members” means those Class A Members collectively 
holding a majority of the Class A Units.  

“Manager” means GNV or its successor appointed pursuant to Section 5.1(a) of this 
Agreement. 

“Member” means each of the parties that have executed this Agreement and each of the 
parties that may hereafter become Additional or Substitute Members pursuant to this Agreement. 

“Member Nonrecourse Debt” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 
1.704-2(b)(4) for “partner nonrecourse debt.” 
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“Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain” has the meaning set forth in Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.704-2 for “partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain.” 

“Member Nonrecourse Deductions” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation 
Sections 1.704-2(i)(1) and 1.704-2(i)(2).  

“Members Account” means the Capital Account maintained for each Member. 

“Membership Units” shall mean any unitized ownership rights in the Company, indicated 
by the right to receive cash or other distributions declared by the Manager, and having voting rights 
(if any) in the governance of the Company now existing or hereafter created in accordance with 
this Agreement. As of the date hereof, the Membership Units consist of Class A Units, Class B 
Units, and Class CF Units.  

“Net Cash Flow” means the gross receipts and other miscellaneous revenue derived from 
Company operations (including Net Proceeds) less all cash operating expenses of the Company 
including, without limitation, (i) debt service on any Company loans, (ii) taxes and other fees 
incurred in connection with the operation of the Company, and (iii) increases, if any, in reserves 
established by the Manager from time to time for working capital and other purposes. 

“Net Proceeds” means the net proceeds available to the Company from a Capital 
Transaction after deducting all costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith (including 
brokerage fees and commissions). 

“Net Profit” and “Net Loss” means the net income (including income exempt from tax) 
and net loss (including expenditures that can neither be capitalized nor deducted), respectively, of 
the Company, determined in accordance with the method of accounting used by the Company for 
federal income tax purposes, excluding any Gain or Loss from a Capital Transaction. 

“Nonrecourse Deductions” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-
2(b)(1). 

“Offer” is defined in 7.4(a). 

“Offered Units” is defined in 7.4(a). 

“Percentage Interest” means, with respect to a Member, the percentage interest set forth 
opposite the name of such Member on Schedule A attached hereto or otherwise in the books and 
records of the Company, as such may be amended from time to time to reflect the admission of 
new Members or to reflect adjustments made pursuant to this Agreement or other agreements to 
which the Company and a Member is a party. A Member’s Percentage Interest, at any time, shall 
be equal to the quotient of the Membership Units held by such Member divided by the total number 
of issued and outstanding Membership Units. 

“Permitted Transferee” means, in connection with a Transfer of any Interest, any member 
of a Member’s immediate family, or a trust, corporation, limited liability company or partnership 
controlled by a Member or members of a Member’s immediate family, or another Person 
controlling, controlled by or under common control with a Member.  
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“Person” shall mean any individual, estate, corporation, trust, joint venture, partnership or 
limited liability company of every kind and nature, and any other individual or entity in its own or 
any representative capacity. 

“Regulation CF” means Regulation Crowdfunding promulgated under the Securities Act. 

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  

“Selling Member” is defined in 7.4(a). 

“Substitute Member” shall mean a transferee pursuant to Article VII of all the rights and 
powers of the Member for whom the transferee is substituted and is subject to the restrictions and 
liabilities of such Member under this Agreement and the Act. 

“Transfer” shall mean, with respect to all or any part of a Member’s Interest, the  pledge, 
sale, assignment, transfer or other disposition, whether voluntarily, involuntarily or by operation 
of law, and whether by inter vivos or testamentary transfer, of such Member’s Interest. 

“Unrecovered Capital Contribution” shall mean, with respect to each Member, the amount 
of any Capital Contribution by such Member to the Company reduced by the aggregate amount of 
distributions theretofore received by such Member pursuant to Section 6.3(a) and Section 6.3(b). 

“Value” means, with respect to any asset, the asset’s adjusted basis for federal income tax 
purposes, except as follows: 

1.2 the Value of any asset contributed by a Member to the Company is the fair market 
value of such asset as determined at the time of contribution; 

1.3 the Value of any Company asset distributed to a Member shall be adjusted to equal 
the fair market value of such asset on the date of distribution as determined in good faith by the 
Manager; 

1.4 the Values of all of the assets of the Company shall be adjusted to equal their 
respective fair market values, as determined by the Manager, as of the following times: 

in connection with a contribution of money or other property (other than a 
de minimis amount) to the Company by a new or existing Member as consideration for an interest 
in the Company; 

in connection with the liquidation of the Company or a distribution of 
money or other property (other than a de minimis amount) by the Company to a Member as 
consideration for an interest in the Company; or 

in connection with the grant of an interest in the Company (other than a de 
minimis interest) as consideration for the provision of services to or for the benefit of the Company 
by an existing Member acting in a membership capacity, or by a new Member acting in a 
membership capacity or in anticipation of becoming a Member. 
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If the Value of a Company asset has been determined or adjusted pursuant to clause 
(a) or (c) above, such Value shall thereafter be adjusted by the depreciation, amortization or cost 
recovery deductions, if any, taken into account with respect to such asset for purposes of 
computing Net Profits and Net Losses and any Gain or Loss from a Capital Transaction.   

ARTICLE II.
ORGANIZATION AND TERM 

2.1 Formation. 

The Company was formed on April 24, 2020 under the name of “Grove 
Biomedical LLC” for the purpose and scope set forth herein.  Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, 
the formation of the Company was effective upon the filing of the Articles. 

In order to maintain the Company as a limited liability company under the 
laws of the State of New York, the Company shall from time to time take appropriate action, 
including the preparation and filing of such amendments to the Articles and such other assumed 
name certificates, documents, instruments and publications as may be required by law, including, 
without limitation, action to reflect: 

(i) a change in the Company name; 

(ii) a correction of defectively or erroneously executed Articles; or 

(iii) a correction of false or erroneous statements in the Articles or the desire of 
the Members to make a change in any statement therein in order that it shall 
accurately represent the agreement among the Members. 

2.2 Term.  The term of the Company commenced upon the filing of the Articles and 
shall continue in full force and effect until the happening of an event described in Section 8.1 
hereof. 

2.3 Registered Agent.  The registered agent for the service of process and the registered 
office shall be that Person and location reflected in the Articles.  In the event such registered agent 
ceases to act as such for any reason or the address for the registered agent changes, the Manager 
shall promptly designate a replacement for such registered agent or file a notice of change of 
address, as the case may be. 

2.4 Principal Place of Business.  The principal place of business of the Company shall 
be 59 E. Ridge Road, Waccabuc, NY 10597.  At any time, the Company may change the location 
of its principal place of business and may establish additional offices. 

2.5 Other Instruments.  Each Member hereby agrees to execute and deliver to the 
Company within ten (10) days after receipt of a written request therefor, such other and further 
documents and instruments, statements of interest and holdings, designations, powers of attorney 
and other instruments and to take such other action as the Company reasonably deems necessary, 
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useful or appropriate to comply with any laws, rules or regulations as may be necessary to enable 
the Company to fulfill its responsibilities under this Agreement. 

2.6 Scope of Members’ Authority.  Unless otherwise expressly provided in this 
Agreement, no Member shall have any authority to act for, or assume any obligations or 
responsibility on behalf of, the Company or any other Member.  The management of the Company 
shall be reserved to the Manager pursuant to the delegation of duties as specifically provided herein.  
Nothing contained herein shall constitute the Members as partners with one another in any matter 
(other than for federal income tax purposes) or render any of them liable for the debts or obligations 
of any other Member. 

2.7 Benefit or “B” Status.  It is the intention of the Company to seek and maintain the 
status of a benefit, or “B”, corporation.  The Manager in its sole discretion shall be authorized to 
take any actions it deems necessary in furtherance of the foregoing. 

ARTICLE III.
PURPOSE AND POWERS OF THE COMPANY 

3.1 Purposes.  The purpose of the Company’s business is to (a) engage in any lawful 
act or activity for which limited liability companies may be formed under the Act, (b) create a 
material positive impact on society and the environment, taken as a whole, from the business and 
operations of the Company and (c) any and all activities necessary or incidental to the foregoing.  
In furtherance of its purposes, but subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the Company shall 
have the power and is authorized to engage in any and all acts and things in furtherance of, or 
incidental or appurtenant to, such purposes. 

3.2 Powers of the Company.  In furtherance of the purpose of the Company as set forth 
in Section 3.1, the Company shall have the power and authority to take in its name all actions 
necessary, useful or appropriate in the Manager’s sole discretion to accomplish its purpose and 
take all actions necessary, useful or appropriate in connection therewith. 

ARTICLE IV.
MEMBER’S CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND INTERESTS 

4.1 Capital Contributions.  Each Member has a Capital Account balance as of the date 
hereof and has made such Capital Contributions as set forth in the books and records of the 
Company.  The Initial Capital Contribution of each Class CF Member also may be set forth in the 
records maintained by the Class CF Portal. 

4.2 Interests; Membership Units.  A Member’s Interest in the Company shall be 
represented by the Membership Units held by such Member. Currently, the Membership Units of 
the Company consist of Class A Units, Class B Units and Class CF Units and has heretofore 
received the Percentage Interest described for that Member on Schedule A and/or in the books and 
records of the Company.  

4.3 Additional Contributions.  No Member shall be required to make any additional 
Capital Contributions to the capital of the Company.  Without limiting the foregoing, no Member 
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shall be required to contribute to the capital of the Company to restore a deficit in the Member’s 
Capital Account existing at any time.   

4.4 Withdrawals and Interest.  No Member shall have the right to withdraw from the 
Company or receive any return or interest on any portion of its Capital Contribution except as 
otherwise provided herein. 

4.5 Return of Capital.  No Member shall be entitled to the return of all or any part of 
its Capital Contribution except in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

4.6 Capital Accounts.  The Company shall determine and maintain Capital Accounts 
for each Member throughout the full term of the Company in accordance with the provisions of 
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv), as such regulation may be amended from time to 
time.  To the extent not inconsistent with such rules, the following shall apply: 

The Capital Account of each Member shall be credited with (1) an amount 
equal to such Member’s cash contributions and (2) such Member’s share of the Company’s Net 
Profits (or items thereof) and Gain from a Capital Transaction.  The Capital Account of each 
Member shall be debited by (1) the amount of cash distributions to such Member and the agreed 
fair market value of property distributed to such Member (net of liabilities assumed by such 
Member and liabilities to which such distributed property is subject) and (2) such Member’s share 
of the Company’s Net Losses (or items thereof) and Loss from a Capital Transaction. 

Upon the Transfer of an Interest in the Company after the date of this 
Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Capital Account of the transferor 
Member (or the applicable portion thereof) shall become the Capital Account of the transferee.  

Capital Accounts shall be adjusted in accordance with Section 1.704-
1(b)(2)(iv)(f) of the Treasury Regulations to reflect any adjustment to the Value of the assets of 
the Company described in clause (iii) of the definition of Value in Article I hereof.  

4.7 Compensatory Issuance of Profits Interest Class B Units. 

Pursuant to, and upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement 
and any applicable Grant Agreement, the Company is authorized to issue, from time to time, Class 
B Units, all of which are intended to qualify as “profits interests,” as such term is used by Rev. 
Proc. 93-27, 1993-2 C.B. 343 and Rev. Proc. 2001-43, 2001-2 C.B. 191, as equity compensation 
for services provided to, or to be provided to, the Company by the Company’s employees, 
managers, consultants, independent contractors, and/or advisors.  To that end, the Company and 
each Member agree that it is the intention of the Members that allocations and distributions to each 
holder of a Class B Unit be limited to the extent necessary so that such Class B Units so qualify, 
and this Agreement shall be interpreted consistently therewith. In accordance with Rev. Proc. 
2001-43, the Company shall treat a Member holding a profits interest as the owner of such profits 
interest from the date it is granted, and shall file its IRS Form 1065, and issue appropriate Schedule 
K-1s to such Member, allocating to such Member its distributive share of all items of income, gain, 
loss, deduction and credit associated with such profits interest.  Each Member holding a profits 
interest agrees to take into account such distributive share in computing its U.S. federal income 
tax liability for the entire period during which it holds such profits interest.  The Company shall 
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not claim a deduction (as wages, compensation or otherwise) for the fair market value of any 
profits interests issued to a Member.  The provisions of this Section 4.7(a) shall apply regardless 
of whether or not a Member holding a profits interest files an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of 
the Code. 

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and notwithstanding 
Sections 6.1 and 6.2, a Class B Unit shall not be allocated any Net Profit arising prior to the date 
of issuance of such Class B Unit (whether such Net Profit is actually recognized or results from a 
revaluation of assets prior to the issuance of such Class B Unit pursuant to Treasury Regulation 
Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f) or (q)) and shall not receive any distributions relating to such Net 
Profit. In addition, notwithstanding Sections 6.1 and 6.2, a Class B Unit shall be allocated Gain 
from a Capital Transaction only to the extent such Gain is attributable to the excess, if any, of the 
Fair Market Value of Company Property at the time such Gain is realized over the Fair Market 
Value of Company Property as of the date of issuance of that Class B Unit (the “Appreciation”).  
A holder of a Class B Unit shall share in the Company’s Gain from a Capital Transaction to the 
extent of his, her or its proportionate share of the Appreciation, based on his, her or its Percentage 
Interest in accordance with Section 6.1.  Any allocations and distributions of Net Profit and Gain 
from a Capital Transaction that would otherwise be made to a Member but for the preceding 
provisions of this Section 4.7(b) shall be made to the holders of any previously issued Membership 
Units in proportion to their Percentage Interests as provided in Article VI; provided, however, that 
all allocations to a Member whose interest is a “profits interest” shall be limited as provided in this 
Section 4.7(b) with regard to any Net Profit and Gain from a Capital Transaction attributable to a 
period prior to such other Member’s receipt of its interest.  The Manager may in its reasonable 
judgment adjust the allocations under Section 6.1 and the distributions under Section 6.3 to reflect 
the intent of and limitations set forth in this Section 4.7(b). 

In connection with the issuance of each Class B Unit pursuant to this Section 
4.7, the Manager shall amend Schedule A hereto and/or the books and records of the Company to 
provide for such Class B Unit and the then applicable Fair Market Value of Company Property. 

4.8 Rights and Restrictions Regarding Class B Units.   

Upon any Capital Transaction, any unvested Class B Units allocable to any 
Member who then remains in the continuous employ of the Company through consummation of 
such event shall vest in full upon such consummation. 

Upon termination of a Class B Member’s employment (or service 
engagement) with the Company, the Company shall have the option to purchase (after giving effect 
to all forfeitures and cancellations thereof) all or a portion of the Class B Units (that have not been 
forfeited or canceled) of such Class B Member that have vested (and his or her Permitted 
Transferees) pursuant to the terms of Section 7.5 (to the extent consistent with any applicable Grant 
Agreement) and any unvested Class B Units allocable to any such Member shall be forfeited in 
their entirety and cancelled; provided, however, such option to purchase may be waived by the 
Manager in its sole discretion on behalf of the Company as to any individual Class B Member. 

4.9 Liability.  No Member shall be liable under a judgment, decree or order of a court, 
or in any other manner for a debt, obligation or liability of the Company.  Additionally, no Member 
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shall be required to lend any funds to the Company or to pay any contributions, assessments or 
payments to the Company except the Initial Contributions. 

ARTICLE V.
RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE MANAGER AND THE MEMBERS 

5.1 Management. 

The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by the Manager. 
All decisions concerning the business and affairs of the Company shall be made by the Manager. 
The Manager may not be removed by the Members unless and until the Manager resigns or sells, 
transfers or otherwise disposes of all of its Interest in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
The Manager is hereby authorized to make all management decisions of the Company on behalf 
of the Members, including, but not limited to, the actions described in Section 5.1(b). The Manager 
may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of the meetings of the Members and the 
management of the Company as are not inconsistent with this Agreement and the Act. Only the 
Manager, and no other Member, may act on behalf of, and have the authority to bind, the Company. 
The Manager may delegate some or all of such authority to one or more Persons (including a 
Member) as provided for herein. In the event that the Manager resigns or is removed as provided 
hereinabove, a Majority-in-Interest of the Class A Members shall appoint a new Manager. The 
Manager shall devote so much of its time to the business of the Company as it deems necessary. 
Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, the affirmative vote or consent of those Class A 
Members representing a Majority-in-Interest of the Class A Members shall be necessary and 
sufficient to approve any action under this Agreement requiring the consent or approval of the 
Class A Members. 

Without limiting the generality of Section 5.1(a), the Manager shall have 
the power and authority on behalf of the Company: 

(i) to execute contracts and guaranties and incur liabilities and other 
obligations in the ordinary course of the Company’s business; 

(ii) to employ accountants, legal counsel, managing agents or other experts to 
perform services for the Company and to compensate them from the 
Company funds; 

(iii) to institute, prosecute and defend against any judicial or administrative 
proceeding in the Company's name; 

(iv) to open bank accounts in the name of the Company;  

(v) to invest and reinvest the Company's funds, including the lending of money, 
and receive and hold property as security for repayment; 

(vi) to pay and reimburse the Manager or any other Person for all expenses 
incurred in connection with the conduct of the Company's business, the 
establishment of Company offices, and the exercise of the powers of the 
Company; 
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(vii) to acquire additional property and assets on behalf of the Company; 

(viii) to borrow money from banks, other lending institutions, the Members or 
otherwise; 

(ix) to hypothecate, encumber, mortgage and grant security interests in any of 
the Company Property; 

(x) to employ, compensate, or otherwise engage any Person, Member or an 
Affiliate of any Member;  

(xi) to approve Transfers not otherwise permitted under Article VII hereof; 

(xii) to create and issue additional Interests or Membership Units and to amend 
Schedule A to reflect the issuance thereof; provided, however, that any such 
issuances shall ratably dilute all Member Percentage Interests;  

(xiii) to participate in partnerships, joint ventures, limited liability companies, 
corporations or other associations of any kind with any Person or Persons; 
and  

(xiv) to do and perform all other acts as may be necessary or appropriate to the 
conduct of the Company's business. 

Without limiting any of the foregoing provisions contained in Section 5.1(b), 
no action may be taken by or on behalf of the Company in connection with any of the following 
matters without the approval of a Majority-in-Interest of the Class A Members: 

(i) confession of a judgment against the Company; 

(ii) any act in contravention of this Agreement; 

(iii) distribution of any amounts to the Members, except as set forth in Section 
6.3 hereof; 

(iv) dissolution of the Company; 

(v) the sale, exchange, conversion or other disposition or Transfer of all or 
substantially all the assets of the Company; 

(vi) consent to any merger, consolidation or other business combination 
involving the Company; and 

(vii) approval of any loans by the Company to a Member. 

In discharging its duties as the Manager and in considering the best interests 
of the Company, the Manager shall consider the effects of any action or inaction on: 

(i) the Members; 
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(ii) the employees and work force of the Company, its subsidiaries and its 
suppliers; 

(iii) the interests of the Company’s customers as beneficiaries of the purpose of 
the Company to have a material positive impact on society and the 
environment; 

(iv) community and societal factors, including those of each community in 
which offices or facilities of the Company, its subsidiaries or its suppliers 
are located; 

(v) the local and global environment; 

(vi) the short-term and long-term interests of the Company, including benefits 
that may accrue to the Company from its long-term plans and the possibility 
that these interests may be best served by the continued independence of the 
Company; and 

(vii) the ability of the Company to create a material positive impact on society 
and the environment, taken as a whole. 

In discharging its duties, and in determining what is in the best interests of 
the Company and the Members, the Manager shall not be required to regard any interest, or the 
interests of any particular group affected by an action or inaction, including the Members, as a 
dominant or controlling interest or factor.  The Manager shall not be personally liable for monetary 
damages for: 

(i) any action or inaction in the course of performing the duties of the Manager 
under this Section 5.1(e) if the Manager was not interested with respect to 
the action or inaction; or 

(ii) failure of the Company to create a material positive impact on society and 
the environment, taken as a whole. 

 The Manager does not have a duty to any person other than the Members 
in their capacity as a Member with respect to the purpose of the Company or the obligations set 
forth in this Section 5.1, and nothing in this Section 5.1, express or implied, is intended to create 
or shall create or grant any right in or for any person other than the Members or any cause of action 
by or for any person other than the Members or the Company. 

Notwithstanding anything set forth herein, the Manager is entitled to rely 
on the provisions regarding “best interests” set forth above in enforcing its rights hereunder and 
under state law, and such reliance shall not, absent another breach, be construed as a breach of the 
Manager’s duty of care, even in the context of a Capital Transaction where, as a result of weighing 
the interests set forth in Section 5.1(d)(i)-(vii) above, the Manager determines to accept an offer, 
between two competing offers, with a lower purchase price.
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The Manager, in making a business judgment in good faith, fulfills the duty 
under this Section 5.1 if the Manager: 

(i) is not interested in the subject of the business judgment; 

(ii) is informed with respect to the subject of the business judgment to the extent 
the director reasonably believes to be appropriate under the circumstances; 
and 

(iii) rationally believes that the business judgment is in the best interests of the 
Company.

5.2 No Management Powers of the Members.  The Members in such capacity shall 
have no voice or participation in the management of the Company business, and no power to bind 
the Company or to act on behalf of the Company in any manner whatsoever, except as specifically 
provided in this Agreement or by applicable law.   

5.3 Officers; Agents.  The Manager may delegate its day-to-day operational authority 
to certain executive and non-executive officers (which persons may be given further delegation 
authority) pursuant to a resolution of the Manager (which resolution(s) shall be reduced to writing 
as soon as practicable after the adoption thereof).  The Manager may also appoint successor 
officers or other officers of the Company, which may include one or more vice presidents, a 
secretary and one or more assistant secretaries.  Compensation (including all benefits) of all 
officers and key employees, whether or not appointed pursuant to this Section 5.3, shall be 
determined by the Manager, and any modifications to such compensation shall be subject to 
approval by the Manager.  Any number of offices may be held by the same person.  The Manager 
may choose such other agents to act on behalf of the Company as the Manager shall deem 
necessary in its sole discretion.  The officers of the Company shall hold their offices for such terms 
and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time 
by the Manager. 

5.4 Fees and Reimbursement of Expenses. The Manager may designate and receive 
stated compensation for itself acting as the Manager of the Company, or designate and pay such 
compensation to any other Person to whom the duties of the Manager may be delegated pursuant 
to the authority of the Manager hereunder.  All costs and expenses actually incurred in connection 
with the organization of the Company and the ongoing operation or management of the business 
of the Company shall be borne by the Company.  The Company shall reimburse the Manager for 
all out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Manager in connection with the organization 
and business of the Company. 

5.5 Meetings.  Meetings of the Members shall not be held unless the Manager, in its 
sole discretion, decides to call a meeting of the Members for any purpose.  

5.6 Bank Accounts.  The Company shall establish and maintain accounts in financial 
institutions (including, without limitation, national or state banks, trust companies or savings and 
loan institutions) in such amounts as the Manager may deem necessary from time to time.  The 
funds of the Company shall be deposited in such accounts and shall not be commingled with the 
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funds of any Member or any Affiliate thereof.  Company checks may be signed by any individual 
authorized by the Manager to sign checks on behalf of the Company. 

5.7 Indemnification of Manager, Officers, Employees and Agents. 

Each Person who was or is made a party or is threatened to be made a party 
to or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative 
or investigative (herein a “proceeding”) by reason of the fact that he, she or it, is or was a Manager 
or an officer of the Company, or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a manager, 
director, officer, employee or agent of another limited liability company or of a corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including a service with respect to an employee 
benefit plan (hereinafter a “Covered Person”), whether the basis of such a proceeding is alleged 
action in an official capacity as a Manager, officer, employee or agent or in any other capacity 
while serving as a Manager, officer, employee or agent, shall be indemnified and held harmless by 
the Company to the fullest extent authorized by the Act (including indemnification for negligence, 
gross negligence and breach of fiduciary duty to the extent so authorized), as the Act exists or may 
hereafter be amended (but, in the case of any such amendment, only to the extent that such 
amendment permits the Company to provide broader indemnification rights than such law 
permitted the Company to provide prior to such amendment), against all expense, liability and loss 
(including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, excise taxes, or penalties and amounts paid in 
settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by such indemnitee in connection therewith 
(collectively “Losses”). 

The right to indemnification conferred in this Section 5.7 shall include the 
right to be paid by the Company the expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in defending 
any proceeding in advance of its final disposition. The rights of indemnification in paragraphs (a) 
and (b) of this Section 5.7 shall be contract rights and such rights shall continue as to a Covered 
Person who has ceased to be a Manager, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit 
of the Covered Person’s heirs, executors and administrators. 

The rights to indemnification and to the advancement of expenses conferred 
in this Section 5.7 shall not be exclusive of any other right that any Person may have or hereafter 
acquire under any statute, agreement, vote of the Members or otherwise.  

The Company may maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and 
any Covered Person against any Losses, whether or not the Company would have the power to 
indemnify such person against such Losses under the Act.  

The Company’s obligation, if any, to indemnify or advance expenses to any 
Covered Person is intended to be secondary to any such obligation of, and shall be reduced by any 
amount such Covered Person may collect as indemnification or advancement from, any Person 
(other than the Company) or such Person’s insurance providers, as applicable, that is legally or 
contractually obligated to make indemnification payments (or equivalent payments pursuant to an 
insurance policy or similar arrangement) to such Covered Person. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary in this Agreement, the Company may in the judgment of the Manager pay any obligations 
or liabilities arising out of this Section 5.7 as a secondary indemnitor at any time prior to any 
primary indemnitor making any payments any such primary indemnitor owes, it being understood 
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that any such payment by the Company shall not constitute a waiver of any right of contribution 
or subrogation to which the Company is entitled (including against any primary indemnitor) or 
relieve any other indemnitor from any indemnity obligations. Neither a Manager nor the Company 
shall be required to seek indemnification or contribution from any other sources with respect to 
any amounts paid by the Company in accordance with this Section 5.7.  

The Company may grant rights to indemnification and to advancement of 
expenses to any employee or agent of the Company to the fullest extent of the provisions of this 
Section 5.7 with respect to the indemnification and advancement of expenses of the Covered 
Person.  

5.8 Reliance on Authority of Manager.  Any Person dealing with the Company may 
rely on the authority of the Manager without inquiry into the provisions of this Agreement or 
compliance herewith, regardless of whether that action actually is taken in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

5.9 Confidentiality.  Each Member shall keep confidential and shall not disclose or 
divulge any information regarding the Company or its business (including, but not limited to, its 
business plans, financial projections, financial results, intellectual property or other proprietary 
information).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this confidentiality obligation shall not apply to the 
extent (i) such Member is required to disclose such information by law or legal process after such 
Member has given prompt notice to the Manager and has requested and pursued confidential 
treatment to the extent reasonably possible, or (ii) such information is or becomes generally 
available to the public through no fault of such Member or such Member’s Affiliates. 

5.10 Other Business.  Any Member, Manager, director, officer, or employee of the 
Company, or advisor, agent or representative of the Company who is, was or will be affiliated with 
any Member or any Affiliate thereof, may engage in or possess an interest in other business 
opportunities or ventures (unconnected with the Company) of every kind and description, 
independently or with others, similar or dissimilar to the business of the Company, and the 
Company shall have no rights by virtue of this Agreement in and to such independent opportunities 
or venture, even if competitive with the business of the Company, and the pursuit of and such 
opportunities or ventures by any such Person shall not be deemed wrongful or improper. No such 
Person shall be obligated to present any particular investment opportunity or venture to the 
Company even if such opportunity or venture is of a character that, if presented to the Company, 
could be taken by the Company, and any such Person shall have the right to take for its own account 
(individually, as a partner or fiduciary, or otherwise) or to recommend to others any such particular 
investment opportunity or venture.  

5.11 C-Corp Conversion. Upon the approval of the Manager of a plan to incorporate the 
Company (a “C-Corp Conversion”), the Company shall incorporate or otherwise become a 
corporation (the “Corporation”) in any fashion determined by the Manager and, thereupon the 
Members shall become shareholders of the Corporation. A Member shall not have any veto power 
or other voting power with respect to the C-Corp Conversion as provided in this Section ___, and 
each Member shall take all actions necessary or desirable in connection with the consummation of 
the C-Corp Conversion. The Company shall pay all of the organizational, legal and accounting 
expenses and filing fees incurred in connection with the C-Corp Conversion. In connection with 
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the C-Corp Conversion, the Manager shall endeavor to maintain the relative rights and preferences 
of the Membership Units having economic terms reasonably similar to the current terms of each 
class of Membership Units, as determined by the Manager.  No approval of the Members shall be 
required in connection with the consummation of the C-Corp Conversion. Each Member agrees to 
execute and deliver such additional documents, instruments, conveyances and assurances and take 
such further actions as may be required to carry out the provisions of this Section ___ and give 
effect to the C-Corp Conversion.  

ARTICLE VI.
ALLOCATIONS AND DISTRIBUTIONS 

6.1 Allocations of Profits and Losses and Gain or Loss from a Capital Transaction. 

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement and subject to Section 4.7, 
at the end of each fiscal year, and after adjusting for all Capital Contributions and distributions 
made during a fiscal year, Net Profits and Net Losses and any Gain or Loss from a Capital 
Transaction (and, if necessary, individual items of gross profit or loss) shall be allocated to the 
Capital Accounts of the Members (including the Manager) in a manner such that, after such 
allocations have been made, the balance of each Member’s Capital Account shall, to the extent 
possible, be equal to an amount that would be distributed to such Member if (a) the Company were 
to sell the assets of the Company for their Values, (b) all Company liabilities were satisfied (limited 
with respect to each nonrecourse liability to the Values of the assets securing such liability), (c) 
and the Company were to distribute the proceeds of sale pursuant to Section 8.2, minus the sum of 
(1) such Member’s share of Company Minimum Gain or Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum 
Gain, and (2) the amount, if any, that such Member is obligated (or deemed obligated) to contribute, 
in its capacity as a Member, to the Company; computed immediately prior to the hypothetical sale 
of assets. The Manager may, in its sole and absolute discretion, make such other assumptions 
(whether or not consistent with the above assumptions) as it deems necessary or appropriate in 
order to effectuate the intended economic sharing arrangement of the Members as reflected in 
Section 8.2. 

Special Allocations.  

(i) Minimum Gain Chargeback.  Except as otherwise provided in Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.704-2(f), notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 
VI, if there is a net decrease in Company Minimum Gain during any fiscal year, 
each Member and transferee shall be specially allocated Net Profits (or, if necessary, 
items of income and gain) for such fiscal year (and, if necessary, subsequent fiscal 
years) in an amount equal to such Member’s and transferee’s share of the net 
decrease in Company Minimum Gain, determined in accordance with Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.704-2(g).  Allocations pursuant to the previous sentence shall 
be made in proportion to the respective amounts required to be allocated to each 
Member and transferee pursuant thereto.  The Net Profits (or items of income or 
gain) to be so allocated shall be determined in accordance with Treasury Regulation 
Sections 1.704-2(f)(6) and 1.704-2(j)(2).  This Section 6.1(b)(i) is intended to 
comply with the minimum gain chargeback requirement in Treasury Regulation 
Section 1.704-2(f) and shall be interpreted consistently therewith. 
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(ii) Member Minimum Gain Chargeback.  Except as otherwise provided in 
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(4), notwithstanding any other provision of 
this Article VI, if there is a net decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum 
Gain attributable to a Member Nonrecourse Debt during any fiscal year, each 
Member and transferee who has a share of the Member Nonrecourse Debt 
Minimum Gain attributable to such Member Nonrecourse Debt, determined in 
accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(5), shall be specially 
allocated Net Profits (or, if necessary, items of income and gain) for such fiscal 
year (and, if necessary, subsequent fiscal years) in an amount equal to such 
Member’s and transferee’s share of the net decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt 
Minimum Gain attributable to such Member Nonrecourse Debt, determined in 
accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(4).  Allocations pursuant 
to the previous sentence shall be made in proportion to the respective amounts 
required to be allocated to each Member pursuant thereto.  The Net Profit (or items 
of income or gain) to be so allocated shall be determined in accordance with 
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(4) and 1.704-2(j)(2).  This Section 6.1(b)(ii) 
is intended to comply with the minimum gain chargeback requirement in Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(4) and shall be interpreted consistently therewith. 

(iii) Qualified Income Offset.  In the event that in any fiscal year a Member 
and/or transferee unexpectedly receives any adjustments, allocations or 
distributions described in Treasury Regulation Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), 
1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(5) or 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6) so as to cause or create an 
Adjusted Capital Account Deficit, Net Profits (or, if necessary, items of income and 
gain) shall be specially allocated to the Member and/or transferee in such fiscal year 
(and subsequent fiscal years, if necessary) in an amount and manner sufficient to 
eliminate, to the extent required by the Treasury Regulations, such Adjusted Capital 
Account Deficit of the Member as quickly as reasonably possible. 

(iv) Gross Income Allocation.  In the event that any Member and/or transferee 
has a deficit balance in its Capital Account at the end of any fiscal year of the 
Company which is in excess of the sum of (i) the amount that such Member and/or 
transferee is obligated to restore pursuant to any provision of this Agreement and 
(ii) the amount that such Member and/or transferee is deemed to be obligated to 
restore pursuant to the penultimate sentences of Treasury Regulation Sections 
1.704-2(g)(1) and 1.704-2(i)(5), such Member and/or transferee shall be specially 
allocated Net Profits (or items of income and gain) in the amount of such excess as 
quickly as possible. 

(v) Nonrecourse Deductions.  Nonrecourse Deductions for any fiscal year shall 
be specially allocated among the Members and/or transferees, pro rata in proportion 
to their Percentage Interests. 

(vi) Member Nonrecourse Deductions.  Any Member Nonrecourse Deductions 
for any fiscal year shall be specially allocated to the Member who bears the 
economic risk of loss with respect to the Member Nonrecourse Debt to which such 
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Member Nonrecourse Deductions are attributable in accordance with Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(1). 

(vii) Regulatory Allocations.  The allocations set forth in Sections 6.1(b)(i)-
6.1(b)(vi) hereof (the “Regulatory Allocations”) are intended to comply with 
certain requirements of the Treasury Regulations.  It is the intent of the Members 
that, to the extent possible, all Regulatory Allocations shall be offset either with 
other Regulatory Allocations or with special allocations of other items of Company 
income, gain, loss, or deduction pursuant to this Section 6.1(b).  Therefore, 
notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement (other than the Regulatory 
Allocations), the Manager shall make such offsetting special allocations of 
Company income, gain, loss or deduction in whatever manner it determines 
appropriate so that, after such offsetting allocations are made, each Member’s 
and/or transferee’s Capital Account balance is, to the extent possible, equal to the 
Capital Account balance such Member would have had if the Regulatory 
Allocations were not part of the Agreement and all Company items were allocated 
pursuant to Section 6.1(a) hereof. 

Allocation of Income and Loss for Income Tax Purposes. 

(i) The income, deductions, gains, losses, and credits of the Company shall be 
allocated for federal, state, and local income tax purposes by the Manager among 
the Persons who were Members during the relevant taxable year.  For the purpose 
of determining the income, loss, or any other items allocable to any period during 
the relevant taxable year of the Company, such items shall be determined by the 
Manager using any method permitted by Code Section 706 and the Treasury 
Regulations thereunder.  The Manager shall make all allocations taking into 
account the Members’ Capital Accounts on the first day of the taxable year, 
additional Capital Contributions made during the year, and distributive shares of  
Net Profits, Net Losses, any Gain or Loss from a Capital Transaction and special 
allocations for such year, any entry of new Members, any distributions by the 
Company and the difference between income for tax purposes and profitability for 
Company purposes, so as to have the tax allocations follow the allocations made 
for “book purposes” under this Article as closely as reasonably possible; provided, 
that no such allocation by the Manager shall discriminate unfairly against any 
Member. 

(ii) Further, in accordance with Code Section 704(c) and the Treasury 
Regulations thereunder, income, gain, loss, and deduction with respect to any 
property contributed to the Company shall, solely for tax purposes, be allocated 
among the Members so as to take account of any variation between the adjusted 
basis of such property to the Company for federal income tax purposes and the fair 
market value of such property credited to the Capital Account of the contributing 
Member.  In the event that the fair market value of Company Property varies from 
the Company’s adjusted tax basis at the time of admission of a new Member, 
withdrawal of a Member, or any additional Capital Contributions, subsequent tax 
allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction with respect to such asset shall take 
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account of any variation between the adjusted basis of such asset for federal income 
tax purposes and such fair market value in the same manner as under Code Section 
704(c) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The Manager may make such 
modifications to this Agreement as may be required to comply with Section 704(c) 
and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  Any elections or other decisions relating 
to such allocations shall be made by the Manager in any manner that reasonably 
reflects the purposes and intention of this Agreement.  Allocations pursuant to this 
section are solely for purposes of federal, state, and local taxes and shall not affect, 
or in any way be taken into account in computing, any Member’s Capital Account 
or share of Net Profits, Net Losses, Gain or Loss from a Capital Transaction, 
distributions, or other items pursuant to any provision of this Agreement. 

6.2 Code Section 83 Safe Harbor Election. 

By executing this Agreement, each Member authorizes and directs the 
Company to elect to have the “Safe Harbor” described in the proposed Revenue Procedure set 
forth in IRS Notice 2005-43 (the “Notice”) apply to any Class B Unit in the Company transferred 
to a service provider by the Company on or after the effective date of such Revenue Procedure in 
connection with services provided to the Company.  For purposes of making such Safe Harbor 
election, the Manager shall designate itself as the Member “who has responsibility for federal 
income tax reporting” by the Company and, accordingly, execution of such Safe Harbor election 
by such Manager shall constitute execution of a “Safe Harbor Election” in accordance with the 
Notice.  On or after the effective date of such Revenue Procedure, the Company and each Member 
hereby agrees to comply with all requirements of the Safe Harbor described in the Notice, 
including, without limitation, the requirement that each Member shall prepare and file all federal 
income tax returns reporting the income tax effects of each such Class B Unit issued by the 
Company in a manner consistent with the requirements of the Notice. 

The Company and any Member may pursue any and all rights and remedies 
it may have to enforce the obligations of the Company and the Members (as applicable) under this 
Section 6.2, including, without limitation, seeking specific performance and/or immediate 
injunctive or other equitable relief from any court of competent jurisdiction (without the necessity 
of showing actual money damages, or posting any bond or other security) in order to enforce or 
prevent any violation of the provisions of this Section 6.2.  A Member’s obligations to comply 
with the requirements of this Section 6.2 shall survive such Member’s ceasing to be a Member of 
the Company or the termination, dissolution, liquidation, and winding up of the Company, and, 
for purposes of this Section 6.2, the Company shall be treated as continuing in existence. 

Each Member authorizes the Manager to amend this Section 6.2(c) to the 
extent necessary to achieve substantially the same tax treatment with respect to any interest in the 
Company transferred to a service provider by the Company in connection with services provided 
to the Company as set forth in Section 4 of the Notice (e.g., to reflect changes from the rules set 
forth in the Notice in subsequent IRS guidance), provided that such amendment is not materially 
adverse to any Member (as compared with the after-tax consequences that would result if the 
provisions of the Notice applied to all interests in the Company transferred to a service provider 
by the Company in connection with services provided to the Company). 
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6.3 Distributions. 

Subject to Section 4.7, Net Cash Flow, excluding any Net Proceeds, of the 
Company shall be distributed to the Members in the following order of priority at such times and 
in such amounts as the Manager shall determine: 

(i) to creditors of the Company, including Members who are creditors, to the 
extent permitted by law, in satisfaction of the liabilities of the Company (whether 
by payment or the making of reasonable provision for payment thereof);  

(ii) to the Class A Members, in proportion to their Unrecovered Capital 
Contributions, if any, until the Unrecovered Capital Contributions of the Class A 
Members have been reduced to zero; and 

(iii) the balance, if any, to the Members in accordance with their respective 
Percentage Interests. 

Subject to Section 4.7, Net Proceeds of the Company shall be distributed to 
the Members in the following order of priority at such times and in such amounts as the Manager 
shall determine: 

(i) to creditors of the Company, including Members who are creditors, to the 
extent permitted by law, in satisfaction of the liabilities of the Company (whether 
by payment or the making of reasonable provision for payment thereof);  

(ii) to the Class A Members, in proportion to its Unrecovered Capital 
Contributions, if any, until the Unrecovered Capital Contributions of the Class A 
Members have been reduced to zero; and 

(iii) the balance, if any, to the Members in accordance with their respective 
Percentage Interests. 

6.4 Tax Distributions. Notwithstanding the order of priority of distributions set forth in 
Section 6.3, the Manager shall, for each taxable year, cause the Company to distribute to each of 
the Members in an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (A) the product of (x) the cumulative 
amount of taxable income that has been allocated to such Member for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes for all prior taxable years, reduced by the cumulative amount of all taxable losses (if any) 
that have been allocated to such Member for U.S. federal income tax purposes for all prior taxable 
years and (y) the Assumed Tax Rate, over (B) all previous distributions to such Member pursuant 
to Section 6.3 and this Section 6.4; provided, however, that no such distribution shall be made to 
the extent that the Manager determines, in its sole discretion, that funds are not reasonably 
available for such distribution by virtue of applicable law, contractual obligation or current or 
future needs of the Company.  Such distribution to each Member shall be made no later than the 
first day of the fourth month following the end of the taxable year of the Company with respect to 
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which such distribution is made.  Distributions made pursuant to this Section 6.4 shall be applied 
against amounts otherwise distributable to the Members pursuant to Section 6.3. 

6.5 Limitation Upon Distributions.  No distribution shall be declared and paid if, after 
the distribution is made the sum of the Company’s total assets would be less than the sum of its 
total liabilities. 

6.6 Withholding.  The Company is hereby authorized to, and shall, comply with any 
and all withholding obligations to which it is subject.  In the event the Company is required to 
deduct and withhold, pursuant to the Code or any other federal, state or local law, rule or regulation 
which is currently in effect or which may be promulgated hereafter, any amount from an actual 
distribution to a Member, the amount so deducted and withheld from such distribution shall, for 
all purposes of this Agreement, be treated as a distribution to such Member of the same type as the 
distribution giving rise to the obligation.  In the event such law requires the Company to pay or 
withhold any amount on behalf of a Member (including any federal, state or local taxes) measured 
by a Member’s distributive share of the Company’s Net Profit, gain or any other Company item, 
other than any amount required to be deducted and withheld from actual distributions to a Member, 
then the payment or withholding of any such amount shall be considered a loan (a “Tax Loan”) by 
the Company to such Member (the “Borrowing Member”).  The Borrowing Member shall repay 
any such Tax Loan within thirty (30) days after the Company delivers a written demand therefor, 
together with interest at an annual rate equal to two percent (2%) per annum in excess of the rate 
announced from time to time in the Wall Street Journal as the “prime rate” from the date such loan 
was made until the date of the repayment thereof.  In addition to any other rights of the Company 
to enforce its entitlement to receive payment of the Tax Loan, plus any accrued interest thereon, 
the Company may deduct from any distribution to be made to a Borrowing Member an amount 
not greater than the outstanding balance of any Tax Loan, plus any accrued interest thereon, as a 
payment in total or partial satisfaction thereof. 

ARTICLE VII.
TRANSFER OF INTEREST 

7.1 Compliance with Securities Laws.  No Membership Units have been registered 
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or under any applicable state 
securities laws.  A Member may not Transfer all or any part of such Member’s Membership Units, 
except upon compliance with the applicable federal and state securities laws and otherwise subject 
to the other provisions of this Agreement.  The Company shall have no obligation to register any 
Membership Units under the Securities Act or under any applicable state securities laws, or to 
make any exemption therefrom available to any Member. 

7.2 Restrictions on Transferability.   

Except as expressly permitted by the terms and provisions of this Article 
VII, no Member may Transfer all or any part of such Member’s Membership Units without the 
consent of the Manager, which consent may be given or withheld in the sole discretion of the 
Manager, and any attempt to do so shall be null and void.  Further, unless otherwise provided 
herein, any Transfer shall not give the transferee the right to be admitted as a Substitute Member.  
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No Transfer of any Membership Units shall relieve the transferring Member of any liability to the 
Company or the other Member that arose prior to the Transfer.   

A Member may Transfer the Membership Units of such Member without 
the consent of the Manager (i) to a Permitted Transferee or (ii) to a transferee following full 
compliance with the provisions of Sections 7.3, 7.4 or 7.5  hereof.  

Each Transfer permitted by this Article VII shall not become effective 
unless and until the transferee executes and delivers to the Company a counterpart to this 
Agreement, agreeing to be treated in the same manner as the transferring Member.  Upon such 
Transfer and such execution and delivery, the transferee shall be admitted as a Substitute Member. 

7.3 Drag Along Rights 

A Majority-in-Interest of the Class A Members (the “Dragging Members”) 
may require all other Members (the “Drag-Along Members” or “Drag-Along Member”, as the case 
may be) to transfer their Membership Units in a transaction which constitutes a bona fide sale and 
assignment (a “Drag-Along Sale”) of all of the Membership Units of the Company to any third 
party that is not a Permitted Transferee. 

To exercise such right, the Dragging Members shall send (or shall cause the 
Manager to send) a written notice (the “Drag-Along Notice”) to each Drag-Along Member, setting 
forth the consideration to be paid by the third party purchaser and the other terms and conditions 
of such transaction.  Each Drag-Along Member shall be required to consummate the Drag-Along 
Sale for the amount of consideration and under the terms and conditions set forth in the Drag-
Along Notice, as adjusted for pre-existing differences in the rights and privileges among the classes 
of Membership Units.  At the consummation of the purchase of such Membership Units by the 
third party purchaser, the Drag-Along Members shall deliver to the Manager duly executed 
instruments of transfer for their Membership Units.  If one or more of the Drag-Along Members 
fails to deliver such instrument of transfer to the Manager, the Manager shall cause the books and 
records of the Company to show that such Membership Units are bound by the provisions of this 
Section 7.3 and that such Membership Units shall be transferred only to the third party purchaser.  
In the event one or more of the Drag-Along Members fails to deliver the duly executed instruments 
of transfer to the Manager as required herein, then the Manager may execute any documents as 
shall be required for the purpose of transferring any Membership Units on the books and records 
of the Company, including but not limited to, an instrument of transfer as required by this Section 
7.3 and the Manager is hereby deemed appointed an attorney-in-fact of each such Drag-Along 
Member for the purpose of effectuating the requirements of this Section 7.3. 

Promptly, but in no event later than five (5) days after the consummation of 
the sale of the Membership Units of the Dragging Members and the Drag-Along Members 
pursuant to this Section 7.3, the Manager shall remit to the Drag-Along Members the applicable 
sales price for their Membership Units sold pursuant hereto (net of all costs and expenses incurred 
in connection with the sale). 
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7.4 Right of First Refusal.   

Except in connection with a proposed transfer under Section 7.3 or 7.5 
hereof, in the event that any Member (a “Selling Member”) receives a bona fide offer (an “Offer”) 
from any Person, including another Member, to acquire all or any portion of the Selling Member's 
Membership Units (the “Offered Units”), which Offer the Selling Member is willing to accept, the 
Selling Member may not sell, transfer, exchange or assign the Offered Units without first giving 
the Class A Members a right of first refusal to acquire the Offered Units in accordance with the 
provisions of this Section 7.4. Each Class A Member may assign its right of first refusal for all or 
any portion of the Offered Units to any third party (the “Designee”). Upon receipt of an Offer, the 
Selling Member shall deliver a copy of the Offer (which Offer must set forth the consideration to 
be paid by the third party purchaser and the other terms and conditions of such transaction) to each 
Class A Member and/or its Designee.  

Within thirty (30) days following receipt of the Offer, each Class A Member 
shall have the right to purchase its pro rata share of the Offered Units and, in the case of the 
Designee, such portion of the Offered Units purchaseable by the assigning Class A Member, on 
the same terms and conditions as set forth in the Offer by delivering written acceptance to the 
Selling Member.  Upon exercise of the right to purchase by a Designee who is not a Member, such 
Designee shall, at the time of purchase, execute and deliver to the Company a joinder agreement, 
substantially in the form of Exhibit A or Exhibit B, as applicable, attached hereto. 

In the event any Class A Member and/or its Designee does not exercise its 
right to acquire their pro rata share of the Offered Units, then those Class A Members that exercised 
their right shall have the second right to acquire their pro rata share of any remaining Offered Units. 
This process shall continue expeditiously so long as any Class A Member desires to purchase any 
remaining Offered Units until all Offered Units are acquired or until the Class A Members elect 
not to purchase any further Offered Units. In the event that any Offered Units remain  (i.e. not 
acquired by a Class A Member) after the operation of the foregoing process, the Selling Member 
shall be free to sell the remaining Offered Units to the third party purchaser set forth in the Offer 
upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Offer within the time period set forth in the Offer.  
In the event the transaction is not completed within thirty (30) days and on the same terms and 
conditions as set forth in the Offer, each Class A Member shall again have a right of first refusal 
to acquire or assign such Membership Units in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7.4.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the obligations of a Selling Member in this 
Section 7.4 shall not apply to any Offer or sale by a Class A Member. 

7.5 Repurchase Rights.   

Upon (i) the death of any Member or Control Person of a Member or (ii) 
the termination of employment or consultancy with the Company or with the Manager of any Class 
B Member (each such event, a “Repurchase Event”), the Company, in addition to any other rights 
it may have under the original grant agreement or instrument, shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to purchase all or any portion of the Class B Units held by such Class B Member, his 
estate or any trustee, receiver, conservator or other Permitted Transferee of such Member’s Class 
B Units, as applicable, in each case, as has not executed a joinder agreement, substantially in the 
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form attached as Exhibit A to this Agreement, and been duly admitted as a Member by the Manager 
(any of the foregoing Persons being referred to herein as an “Offering Member”); provided, 
however, that the foregoing purchase right may be waived by the Manager in its sole discretion on 
behalf of the Company as to any individual Class B Member.  If the Company determines to 
exercise the foregoing purchase right, it shall provide written notice to the Offering Member of the 
Company’s election to purchase such Interest, which notice may be delivered at any time within 
ninety (90) days following the applicable Repurchase Event.  If the Company determines to 
purchase such Class B Units in accordance with this Section 7.5(a), then the Offering Member 
shall be obligated to sell such Interest in accordance with Section 7.5(b) below. 

Closing.   

(i) Closing Date. The closing (the “Closing”) of the purchase of any Class B 
Units purchased pursuant to Section 7.5(a) hereof shall take place not later than 
thirty (30) days after the Company’s election to purchase such Class B Units and 
shall be held at the principal office of the Company unless otherwise mutually 
agreed.  

(ii) Purchase Price. The purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) for any Class B 
Units purchased pursuant to Section 7.5(a) shall be the fair market value of such 
Class B Units as of the date of the applicable Repurchase Event, as determined by 
the Manager in good faith.  The determination by such firm shall be final and 
binding on all parties. The Company shall bear the costs of any such valuation. If 
the Company and the applicable Offering Member are unable to agree on an 
independent appraiser, upon the request of either the Company or the applicable 
Offering Member, the Company and such Offering Member may each select an 
appraiser having not less than ten (10) years of relevant experience and thereafter 
the two selected appraisers shall jointly select an independent appraiser meeting the 
criteria set forth in this Section 7.5(b)(ii) to make such determination.  

(iii) Payment of Purchase Price.  In full redemption of the Class B Units to be 
purchased pursuant to Section 7.5(a), the Company shall pay the Purchase Price, at 
the Company’s election either (i) 100% at the Closing by certified or bank cashier’s 
check in cash or (ii) as follows:(x) at least twenty percent (20%) of the Purchase 
Price by certified or bank cashier’s check at the Closing and (y) the balance of the 
Purchase Price by the issuance of a promissory note to the applicable Offering 
Member in an amount equal to the remainder of the Purchase Price, which note 
shall have a term of three (3) years, bear interest at the rate per annum equal to 1% 
plus the “Prime Rate” as reported on the date of the Closing in The Wall Street 
Journal and be payable in equal quarterly installments.  The Company’s obligation 
to make the quarterly installments shall be evidenced by a promissory note prepared 
by the Company’s counsel, which shall be in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to the parties. 

(iv) No Rights as Member. The Offering Member shall have no rights or 
obligations as a Member of the Company from and after the Closing, other than 
with respect to payment for the purchased Units.  Further, the Capital Account with 
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respect to the Units of the Offering Member shall not be allocated Net Profits or 
Net Losses following a Repurchase Event until such Units is transferred to a 
Member duly admitted by the Manager.   

(v) Other Documents. Each Offering Member agrees to execute such 
documents as may be reasonably requested by the Company (or its counsel) in order 
to carry out the intent of the provisions of this Section 7.5. 

ARTICLE VIII.
DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION 

8.1 Dissolution.  The Company shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of any of the 
following events: 

the determination of the a Majority-in-Interest of the Class A Members;  

the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution under the Act; or 

upon the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company. 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the bankruptcy, death, dissolution, 
expulsion, incapacity or withdrawal of a Member shall not result in the dissolution of the Company. 

8.2 Distribution of Assets Upon Dissolution.  In settling accounts after dissolution, the 
liabilities of the Company shall be entitled to payment in the following order: 

first, to the payment of the expenses of liquidation;  

then, to the setting up of any reserves which the Manager deems necessary 
or desirable for any contingent or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Company; and 

thereafter, to the Members in accordance with Section 6.3(b). 

8.3 Winding Up.  Except as provided by law, upon dissolution, each Member shall look 
solely to the assets of the Company for the return of its Capital Contribution.  If the Company 
Property remaining after the payment or discharge of the debts and liabilities of the Company is 
insufficient to return the Capital Contribution of each Member, such Member shall have no 
recourse against any other Member.  The winding up of the affairs of the Company and the 
distribution of its assets shall be conducted exclusively by the Manager, who is hereby authorized 
to take all actions necessary to accomplish such distribution including, without limitation, selling 
any Company assets the Manager deems necessary or appropriate to sell. 

8.4 Articles of Dissolution.  When all debts, liabilities and obligations have been paid 
and discharged or adequate provisions have been made therefor and all of the remaining property 
and assets have been distributed to the Members, and the winding up of the affairs of the Company 
is complete, the Company shall file Articles of Dissolution with the Secretary of State of the State 
of New York. 
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ARTICLE IX.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, BOOK RECORDS, TAX RETURNS, ETC. 

9.1 Books of Account.   

The Manager, at the expense of the Company, shall maintain, at the 
principal office of the Company, complete books of account, in which there shall be entered, fully 
and accurately, every transaction of the Company and shall include the following: 

(i) A current list of the full name and last known business address of each 
Member and the Manager; 

(ii) A copy of the Articles and this Agreement and all amendments thereto; 

(iii) Copies of the Company’s federal, state, and local income tax returns and 
reports, if any, for the three (3) most recent years; and 

(iv) Copies of any financial statements of the Company for the three (3) most 
recent years.   

Any Member (other than a Class CF Member) shall have the right, from 
time to time (but not more than annually), at its own expense, to cause its accountants and 
representatives to inspect and copy the records referred to in paragraphs (i) through (iv) above, as 
well as such other information regarding the affairs of the Company as, in the reasonable 
determination of the Manager, is just and reasonable.  The Company, upon not less than five (5) 
business days’ written notice, shall make such records available for such inspection at reasonable 
hours during business days.  Any Member exercising its right of inspection shall reimburse the 
Company for its reasonable costs and expenses, if any, incurred in connection therewith. 

The fiscal year of the Company shall be the calendar year.  The books of 
account of the Company shall be kept on a tax accounting basis applied in a consistent manner.  
All determinations by the Manager with respect to the treatment of any item or its allocation for 
federal, state, or local tax purposes, or with respect to making or not making any elections for tax 
purposes, shall be binding upon all of the Members. 

9.2 Financial Statements and Reports.  The Manager shall at the expense of the 
Company cause to be prepared and furnished to the Members (other than a Class CF Member, 
within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year, unaudited financial statements of the 
Company, including a balance sheet, statement of operations, and a statement of cash flow for the 
fiscal year then-ended.  

9.3 Class CF Member Information Rights. Any Class CF Member shall have the right, 
from time to time (but not more than annually) and as otherwise required by the Act, at its own 
expense, to inspect and copy the records referred to in Section 9.1(a)(i) through 9.1(a)(iv) above, 
as well as such other information regarding the affairs of the Company as, in the reasonable 
determination of the Manager, is just and reasonable. The Company, upon not less than twenty 
(20) business days’ written notice, shall make such records available for such inspection at 
reasonable hours during business days.  Any Member exercising its right of inspection shall 
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reimburse the Company for its reasonable costs and expenses, if any, incurred in connection 
therewith. 

9.4 Tax Returns.  The Manager shall, at the expense of the Company, cause the 
preparation and timely filing of all tax returns required to be filed by the Company pursuant to the 
Code and any relevant state and local law.  Copies of such returns, or pertinent information 
therefrom, including the applicable Schedule K-1, shall be furnished to each Member within a 
reasonable period of time after the end of the Company’s taxable year at the expense of the 
Company.  Upon the written request of a Class A Member or a Class B Member and at such 
Member’s expense, the Company shall provide to such Member a complete copy of the Company’s 
federal income tax return for the immediately preceding taxable year. 

9.5 Election under Section 754 of the Code and Other Elections.  In the event of any 
transaction described in Section 743(b) of the Code and permitted by the provisions of this 
Agreement, the Company may, in the sole discretion of the Manager, and upon the timely written 
request of the person succeeding to an Interest in such transaction, make the election provided for 
in Section 754 of the Code or a similar provision enacted in lieu thereof, to adjust the basis of the 
Company Property.  The Member requesting said election shall pay all costs and expenses incurred 
by the Company in connection therewith.  The Company may also make any other election that 
the Manager may deem appropriate and in the best interests of the Members.   

9.5 Tax Matters Member; Partnership Representative.   

GNV, or any successor appointed pursuant to Section 5.1(a) of this 
Agreement, shall act as (a) the “tax matters partner” of the Company, as provided in Section 6231 
of the Code (as in effect prior to the repeal of such section and other related sections pursuant to 
the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 (the “Existing Code”)) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder 
(the “Tax Matters Member”) and (b) the “partnership representative” of the Company (the 
“Membership Representative”) for purposes of Section 6223 of the Code (as in effect following 
the effective date of its amendment by Section 1101 of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 (the 
“Amended Code”)”), in each case, to manage administrative tax proceedings conducted at the 
Company level by the IRS with respect to Company matters. Each Member hereby approves of 
such designation, agrees and acknowledges that GNV may engage such professional advisors as it 
may deem appropriate in carrying out its duties as Tax Matters Member and the Membership 
Representative, and agrees to execute such documents as may reasonably be necessary or 
appropriate to evidence such approval.  GNV shall (i) keep the Members reasonably informed of 
all material administrative and judicial proceedings relating to the Company and (ii) consult with 
the Members in good faith prior to the settlement of any such proceeding.  If requested by any 
Member, the Membership Representative shall make the election described in Amended Code 
Section 6226(a)(1); provided such election does not have a material disproportionate effect on any 
Member.  Subject to the foregoing, GNV shall have the power and perform the obligations required 
of a tax matters partner and a partnership representative to the extent and in the manner provided 
by applicable Code sections and Treasury Regulations. Without limiting the foregoing, GNV shall 
have the right to defend against any proposed adjustment by all appropriate proceedings, and 
consistent with Existing Code Sections 6221 through 6233, each Member shall allow any proposed 
adjustment with respect to any “partnership item” (as defined in Existing Code Section 6231(a)(3)) 
to be handled by the Tax Matters Member; provided, however, that any settlement, adjustment or 
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compromise with respect to any Member, which does not affect all Members proportionately, shall 
require the written consent of all of the Members. 

The Company shall reimburse the Tax Matters Member and the 
Membership Representative for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Tax Matters 
Member and the Membership Representative, as applicable, including reasonable fees of any 
professionals or attorneys, in carrying out its duties as Tax Matters Member and the Membership 
Representative, as applicable. 

The provisions of this Section 9.5 shall survive the termination of any 
Member’s interest in the Company, the termination of this Agreement and the termination of the 
Company and shall remain binding on each Member for the period of time necessary to resolve 
with the IRS all federal income tax matters relating to the Company. 

ARTICLE X.
MISCELLANEOUS 

10.1 Notices.  Any notice, demand, election or other communication (hereinafter called 
a “notice”) that, under the terms of this Agreement or under any statute, must be or may be given 
by the parties hereto shall be in writing and shall be given by mailing the same by certified or 
registered mail, return receipt requested, postage-prepaid, addressed or by reputable overnight 
courier to such parties’ address as set forth on Schedule A hereto and with respect to any notice 
above, with a copy to: 

Pryor Cashman, LLP 
7 Times Square 
New York, New York 10036 
Attention:  Edward C. Normandin, Esq. 
Email:  enormandin@pryorcashman.com

All copies of notices to be sent to any party hereunder shall be sent in the same manner as 
required for notices.  Either party may designate, by notice in writing to the other, a new or other 
address to which notices shall thereafter be given.  Any notice given hereunder (other than a notice 
of a new address or additional address for notice purposes) shall be deemed given when received 
as hereinabove provided.  Any notice of a new or additional address for notice purposes shall be 
deemed given on the date upon which the same is received by the addressee thereof. 

10.2 Complete Agreement.  This Agreement fully sets forth all of the agreements and 
understandings of the parties with respect to the Company and supersedes any prior agreements of 
the parties.  There are no representations, agreements, arrangements or understandings, oral or 
written, among the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement which are not expressly 
set forth herein. 

10.3 Amendments.  Except as otherwise provided herein, amendments or modifications 
shall be made to this Agreement upon the written consent of, or a resolution adopted by, the Class 
A Members. Without limiting the foregoing, the Manager may, without the consent of any other 
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Members, amend any provision of this Agreement and execute, swear to, acknowledge, deliver, 
file and record whatever documents may be required in connection therewith to reflect: 

a change in the location of the principal place of business of the Company, 
or a change in the registered office or the registered agent of the Company; 

the admission of a new Member or Substitute Member into the Company or 
termination of any Member’s Interest in the Company in accordance with this Agreement; 

a change that is (i) of an inconsequential nature and does not adversely 
affect any Member in any material respect; (ii) necessary or desirable to satisfy any requirements, 
conditions or guidelines contained in any opinion, directive, order, ruling or regulation of any 
federal or state agency or contained in any federal or state statute applicable to the Company and 
the compliance with which the Manager deems to be in the best interest of the Company and the 
Members; or (iii) necessary or desirable so that the method of tax allocations will comply with 
applicable provisions of the Code, the Treasury Regulations or rulings of the IRS; or 

a change in Schedule A or the books and records of the Company to reflect 
any change in the Percentage Interests, Membership Units or Capital Contributions that occurs in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

10.4 Severability.  This Agreement is intended to be performed in accordance with, and 
only to the extent permitted by, the applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of the 
jurisdictions in which the Company engages in business.  If any provision of this Agreement, or 
the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall, for any reason and to any extent, be 
held to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such 
provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected, but rather shall be enforced to 
the full extent permitted by law. 

10.5 Ratification.  Each person who becomes a Member in the Company after the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement shall, by becoming a Member, be deemed thereby to 
ratify and agree to all prior actions taken by the Company and the Manager. 

10.6 Binding upon Successors.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto 
and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, and shall inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and 
permitted assigns.  This Agreement shall become effective upon its execution and delivery by the 
Members. 

10.7 Rights of Third Parties.  None of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
construed as having been made for the benefit of any creditor of either the Company or any of the 
Members, nor shall any of such provisions be enforceable (except as otherwise required by law) 
by any person not a party hereto. 

10.8 Governing Law.  Irrespective of the place of execution or performance, the validity 
and construction of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York. Any 
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disputes arising out of this Agreement shall be adjudicated in a federal or state court of competent 
jurisdiction sitting in the County of Westchester in the State of New York. 

10.9 Captions.  The captions, headings and titles contained in this Agreement are solely 
for convenience of reference and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement or of any 
provision hereof. 

10.10 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall together constitute one instrument. 

10.11 Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Members.  Each Member 
represents and warrants as of the date hereof to each of the other Members and the Company as 
follows: 

Such Member has the legal capacity and all right, power and authority to 
enter into this Agreement and will at all times have the full power and authority to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement; and 

This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by such 
Member, and this Agreement constitutes such Member’s valid and binding obligation, enforceable 
in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, 
moratorium or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, or equitable principles, whether 
applied in a proceeding in equity or law.  

10.12 Tense and Gender of Words.  All terms and words used in this Agreement, 
regardless of the tense or gender in which they are used, shall be deemed to include each other 
tense and gender unless the context requires otherwise. 

10.13 Separate Legal Counsel.  Each Member acknowledges that he, she, or it has been 
advised to obtain separate legal counsel to review this Agreement and advise him, her or it 
regarding the consequences and legal effect of the same. Pryor Cashman LLP has prepared this 
Agreement as counsel for the Company and is not acting as counsel for any Member.  

[Signature page follows] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and acknowledged this 
Agreement as of the date first above written. 

COMPANY: 

GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 
By: Grove North Ventures, LLC, its Manager 

By: __/s/ Joseph Rosenberg_____________ 
Name: Joseph Rosenberg 
Title:  Managing Member 

MEMBERS: 

GROVE NORTH VENTURES, LLC 

By:  ___/s/ Joseph Rosenberg____________ 
Name: Joseph Rosenberg  
Title: Managing Member 
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EXHIBIT A 

JOINDER TO 
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

OPERATING AGREEMENT OF 
GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 

FOR CLASS B UNITS 

THIS JOINDER (this “Joinder”), dated as of ____________ _____, 20__, to that 
certain Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Grove 
Biomedical LLC, a New York limited liability company (the “Company”), dated as of December 
__, 2020 (as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Operating 
Agreement”), is made by and between the Company and _______________________ (“New 
Member”).  Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set 
forth in the Operating Agreement. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a [Grant Agreement] dated as of ____________ __, 20__ 
and subject to New Member’s execution of this Joinder, New Member has acquired certain Class 
B Units of the Company (the “Membership Interest”); and 

WHEREAS, as a condition to the issuance of the Membership Interest, New 
Member is required to become a party to the Operating Agreement, and New Member agrees to 
do so in accordance with the terms hereof. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein 
and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. Agreement to be Bound.  New Member hereby agrees that upon execution 
and delivery of this Joinder by New Member and the Company, New Member shall become a party 
to the Operating Agreement and shall be fully bound by, and subject to, all of the covenants, terms 
and conditions of the Operating Agreement as though an original party thereto and shall be 
admitted as a Class B Member for all purposes thereof on the date hereof. 

2. Successors and Assigns.  This Joinder shall bind and inure to the benefit of, 
and be enforceable by, the Company and New Member and their respective successors and assigns. 

3. Counterparts.  This Joinder may be executed in any number of counterparts 
(including by electronic copy), each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall 
constitute one and the same agreement. 

4. Governing Law.  The Operating Agreement, including this Joinder, shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Joinder as 
of the date first above written. 

GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 
By: Grove North Ventures, LLC, its Manager 

By: ________________________ 
Name: Joseph Rosenberg 
Title: Managing Member 

NEW MEMBER: 

For individuals only: 

________________________________ 
            (sign name above) 

 ________________________________ 
            (print name above) 

For entities only: 

_________________________________ 
       (print entity name above) 

By: _________________________________ 
                    (sign name of officer above) 

Name: _______________________________ 
Title:   _______________________________ 

                        (print name and title of officer above) 

For entities and individuals: 

Address:  ____________________________ 
____________________________________ 
Email Address: _______________________ 

A copy of all notices to the above-named New Member shall be sent to: 

Name:  ______________________________ 
Address: _____________________________ 
_____________________________________ 
Email Address: ________________________ 
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EXHIBIT B 

JOINDER TO 
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

OPERATING AGREEMENT OF 
GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 

FOR CLASS CF UNITS 

THIS JOINDER (this “Joinder”), dated as of ____________ _____, 20__, to that 
certain Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Grove 
Biomedical LLC, a New York limited liability company (the “Company”), dated as of December 
__, 2020 (as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Operating 
Agreement”), is made by and between the Company and _______________________ (“New 
Member”).  Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set 
forth in the Operating Agreement. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated as of ____________ __, 
20__ and subject to New Member’s execution of this Joinder, New Member has acquired certain 
Class CF Units of the Company (the “Membership Interest”); and 

WHEREAS, as a condition to the issuance of the Membership Interest, New 
Member is required to become a party to the Operating Agreement, and New Member agrees to 
do so in accordance with the terms hereof. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein 
and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. Agreement to be Bound.  New Member hereby agrees that upon execution 
and delivery of this Joinder by New Member and the Company, New Member shall become a party 
to the Operating Agreement and shall be fully bound by, and subject to, all of the covenants, terms 
and conditions of the Operating Agreement as though an original party thereto and shall be 
admitted as a Class CF Member for all purposes thereof on the date hereof. 

2. Successors and Assigns.  This Joinder shall bind and inure to the benefit of, 
and be enforceable by, the Company and New Member and their respective successors and assigns. 

3. Counterparts.  This Joinder may be executed in any number of counterparts 
(including by electronic copy), each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall 
constitute one and the same agreement. 

4. Governing Law.  The Operating Agreement, including this Joinder, shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Joinder as 
of the date first above written. 

GROVE BIOMEDICAL LLC 
By: Grove North Ventures, LLC, its Manager 

By: _______________________________ 
Name: Joseph Rosenberg 
Title: Managing Member 

NEW MEMBER: 

For individuals only: 

________________________________ 
            (sign name above) 

 ________________________________ 
            (print name above) 

For entities only: 

_________________________________ 
       (print entity name above) 

By: _________________________________ 
                    (sign name of officer above) 

Name: _______________________________ 
Title:   _______________________________ 

                        (print name and title of officer above) 

For entities and individuals: 

Address:  ____________________________ 
____________________________________ 
Email Address: _______________________ 

A copy of all notices to the above-named New Member shall be sent to: 

Name:  ______________________________ 
Address: _____________________________ 
_____________________________________ 

Email Address: 
________________________



SCHEDULE A

FULLY DILUTED CAP TABLE - AUTHORIZED
Total dilutive capital 
raised $1,845,000

Cost
Outstanding 

Units
Outstanding 
Ownership FD Units FD Ownership

Class A

Grove North 
Ventures LLC (Joe 
and Kim Rosenberg) $275,000 794,084 91.92% 794,084 73.83%
Reserved for  
Noteholder 1 
Convertible Note
Reserved for 
Noteholder 1 
warrants
Reserved for 
Noteholder 2 
convertible note
Reserved for 
Noteholder 2 
warrants
Reserved for 
Noteholder 3 
onvertible note
Reserved for 
Noteholder 4 
convertible note
Reserved for 
Noteholder 5 
convertible note
Class B
Founding team 69,809 8.08% 199,224 18.52%
Reserved for option 
pool 82,192 7.64%
Class CF
Reserved up to 
190,730 units

Total 863,893 100.00% 1,075,500 86.40%

$ Raised $275,000 

Founding

1



SCHEDULE A

Total dilutive capital 
raised (continued)

Cost
Outstanding 

Units
Outstanding 
Ownership FD Units FD Ownership

Class A

Grove North 
Ventures LLC (Joe 
and Kim Rosenberg) 794,084 66.52% 794,084 55.75%
Reserved for  
Noteholder 1 
Convertible Note 37,959 3.18% 37,959 2.66%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 1 
warrants 0.00% 18,980 1.33%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 2 
convertible note 63,265 5.30% 63,265 4.44%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 2 
warrants
Reserved for 
Noteholder 3 
onvertible note 12,653 1.06% 12,653 0.89%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 4 
convertible note 12,653 1.06% 12,653 0.89%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 5 
convertible note 12,653 1.06% 12,653 0.89%
Class B
Founding team 69,809 5.85% 199,224 13.99%
Reserved for option 
pool 82,192 5.77%
Class CF
Reserved up to 
190,730 units $1,070,000 190,731 15.98% 190,731 13.39%

Total $1,070,000 1,193,806.84 100.00% 1,424,393 100.00%

Price/Unit $5.61 
$ Raised $1,070,000 
Pre-Money $6,500,000 
Post-Money $7,570,000 

RegCF

2



SCHEDULE A

Total dilutive capital 
raised (continued)

Cost
Outstanding 

Units
Outstanding 
Ownership FD Units FD Ownership

Class A

Grove North 
Ventures LLC (Joe 
and Kim Rosenberg) 794,084 79.16% 794,084 64.37%
Reserved for  
Noteholder 1 
Convertible Note $150,000 37,959 3.78% 37,959 3.08%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 1 
warrants 18,980 1.54%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 2 
convertible note $250,000 63,265 6.31% 63,265 5.13%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 2 
warrants
Reserved for 
Noteholder 3 
onvertible note $50,000 12,653 1.26% 12,653 1.03%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 4 
convertible note $50,000 12,653 1.26% 12,653 1.03%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 5 
convertible note $50,000 12,653 1.26% 12,653 1.03%
Class B
Founding team 69,809 6.96% 199,224 16.15%
Reserved for option 
pool 82,192 6.66%
Class CF
Reserved up to 
190,730 units

Total $550,000 1,003,076 100.00% 1,233,663 100.00%

Price/Unit $3.95 
$ Raised $550,000 
Pre-Money $4,250,000 
Post-Money $4,800,000 

Seed
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SCHEDULE A

Total dilutive capital 
raised (continued)

Cost
Outstanding 

Units
Outstanding 
Ownership FD Units FD Ownership

Class A

Grove North 
Ventures LLC (Joe 
and Kim Rosenberg) 794,084 64.73% 794,084 55.20%
Reserved for  
Noteholder 1 
Convertible Note 37,959 3.09% 37,959 2.64%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 1 
warrants $75,000 18,979 1.55% 18,979 1.32%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 2 
convertible note 63,265 5.16% 63,265 4.40%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 2 
warrants $50,000 13,006 1.06% 13,006 0.90%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 3 
onvertible note 13,006 1.06% 13,006 0.90%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 4 
convertible note 13,006 1.06% 13,006 0.90%
Reserved for 
Noteholder 5 
convertible note 13,006 1.06% 13,006 0.90%
Class B
Founding team 69,809 5.69% 199,224 13.85%
Reserved for option 
pool 82,192 5.71%
Class CF
Reserved up to 
190,730 units 190,731 15.55% 190,731 13.26%

Total $125,000 1,226,851.25 100.00% 1,438,458 100.00%

Price/Unit $3.95 

Warrants

4


